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1. Chair’s Foreword
I am pleased to present the 2019/20
annual report and accounts for NHS
Walsall Clinical Commissioning Group
(CCG). This report provides an overview of
what we have achieved in the last 12
months and highlights how we have built
upon our strengths and addressed
challenges to ensure high quality services
that are continuously improving.
Reflecting on our seventh year as a
clinically led and locality driven
organisation, we have worked passionately
and steadfastly towards our vision of
“Improving the health and wellbeing of
people in Walsall”.
We have also put in place plans to improve
the areas which have challenged us this year; our urgent care services continue to
face an increasing demand and we have not met all of our ambitions set out in the
Transforming Care Programme to improve the lives of people living with learning
disabilities and/or autism.
To develop our urgent care improvement plans, we are working closely with partners
across the Black Country and West Birmingham to set out how we can work
collaboratively to address issues and outline our collective commitment to delivering
on all urgent and emergency care indicators. In addition to this, a system-wide
restoration and recovery plan is being established to address the impact that
Coronavirus has had on our services.
We will continue to improve the quality of care for people with learning disabilities
and/or Autism by ensuring there is community capacity to reduce inappropriate
hospital admissions and length of stay. Alongside this, we will work with partners to
create a sustainable market of provision with appropriately trained and supported
staff to give the best possible care to those living with learning disabilities and/or
Autism, their families and carers.
In July 2019, we retained our rating of ‘Good’ by NHS England (NHSE). Our system
leadership came to the fore during a year in which Dudley, Sandwell and West
Birmingham, Walsall and Wolverhampton CCGs came under one Accountable
Officer and a single management team from the 1 April 2020. Increasingly, we are
working together as CCGs across the Black Country and West Birmingham area to
deliver the benefits of collaboration and wider partnership whilst retaining the local
focus to improve the health and services of the people of Walsall.
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In addressing the need to deliver integrated health and care services, we have made
great strides through the Walsall Together Partnership, helping us to understand
what our vibrant and diverse communities need across Walsall. This year, Walsall
Together have strengthened its partnership working with general practice,
establishing GP-led multi-disciplinary team meetings in partnership with Walsall’s
seven Primary Care Networks (PCNs).
Throughout this year, we have continued to develop creative methods of listening,
engaging and involving patients and the public that have ensured that their insights
and experiences have influenced our commissioning decisions.
We have successfully engaged patients and the public in the development of a
Primary Care Strategy across the Black Country and West Birmingham, and in the
development of a new community service model for adults with learning disabilities.
For a full list of all involvement activities undertaken please, visit our CCG Website
and our dedicated Get Involved webpages
The end of 2019/20 was of course, dominated locally, nationally and internationally
by the Coronavirus Pandemic. As a local GP, I am seeing first-hand the impact that
this is having and I would like to thank our health and care workforce in Walsall who
are all working tirelessly to care for their patients. Walsall Together played an
important part in co-ordinating our local response to the virus, along with our GPs
and system partners. Looking forwards, the relationships and new approaches to
collaborative working that have been established through Walsall Together will
support our whole system to meet the challenge of delivering services in new ways
as we recover and rebuild during 2020/21.
As we move into the 2020/21 financial year, we face new and exciting times as a
CCG where integration and collaboration is central to making the best use of our
resources and patients have ever-greater opportunities to take an active role in their
health and wellbeing. We remain committed to doing our very best for local people
and look forward to working with you throughout 2020 and beyond.

Dr Anand Rischie
Chair

5

1.1 Our Values
Respect and value people
Individuals are at the core of what we do.

Listen to local people
We are committed to involving patients, clinicians and communities in
the design and improvement of their services.

Clinical leadership
We recognise and embrace the need for clinical leadership in service
planning and redesign to ensure highest levels of quality and efficiency.

Clear accountability and transparency
We value feedback and a clear sense of personal accountability and
responsibility.

Innovation
We will make best use of all new technology, particularly striving to be at
the forefront of innovation in exploitation of information technology.

Prevention
We will prevent poor health starting early with families, children and
young people.

Partnership
We will work closely with our partners in health, local authority and
voluntary sectors to ensure a holistic approach to promoting health and
equality in the community.
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2. Performance Report
2.1 Performance Overview
The purpose of this section of the Annual Report is to provide information on NHS
Walsall CCG’s activities in 2019/20. You will find details of our main priorities,
performance against these and the principal risks that we faced along with a
statement from our Accountable Officer, Mr Paul Maubach with his reflections on
2019/20 and the year ahead.

2.1.1 About Us
NHS Walsall CCG is responsible for planning and buying healthcare services for
287,644 people.
The CCG is a clinically led organisation, which means that local GPs use their
knowledge and personal experiences to plan, buy and monitor local NHS services.
All of our GPs use their experience and knowledge to influence and shape the
decisions the CCG makes, with some more heavily involved as members of the
Governing Body.
GP practice members elect the CCG Chair. Governing Body members include GPs,
lay members, a secondary care consultant and CCG executive officers. The
Governing Body holds the CCG to account, and the senior management team who
manage the day-to-day running of the organisation.
As a membership organisation, the CCG represents local GPs who work at 52 local
practices across Walsall. The CCG has a total budget of £475 million.

2.1.2 Our Priorities
Each year the CCG sets out a plan to tackle areas of priority. Walsall CCG’s
Operational Plan for 2019/20 was developed in the context of the NHS Long Term
Plan and the 2019/20 national planning guidance.
In January 2019, NHS England (NHSE) published its Long Term Plan (LTP), which
set out a vision for the NHS over the next ten years. Supported by £20.5 billion
additional investment in real terms by 2023/24, the plan builds on new models of
care, which have been tested and refreshed as part of the NHS Five Year Forward
View and Next Steps on the NHS Five Year Forward View.
The key service priorities set out in the LTP are:


Boosting ‘out-of-hospital’ care and dissolving boundaries between primary and
community care
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Reducing pressure on emergency hospital services



Giving people more control over their health and providing more personalised
care where appropriate



Mainstreaming digitally enabled primary and outpatient care across the NHS



A nationwide shift to Integrated Care Systems (ICSs) with a focus on
population health.

The LTP priorities will be delivered locally and nationally by:


Doing things differently - giving people more control over their own health
and care. Encouraging collaboration between GPs, their teams and
community services, as PCNs. Increasing the focus on Integrated Care
Systems (ICSs) to plan and deliver services that meet the needs of
communities.



Preventing illness and tackling health inequalities – increasing NHS
contributions to tackling causes of ill health.



Backing our workforce – increasing the NHS workforce, training and
recruiting more professionals, including clinicians, providing more routes into
the NHS and improving retention by making the NHS a better place to work.



Making better use of data and digital technology – providing more
convenient access to services and health information for patients. For
example with the new NHS App as a digital ‘front door’, providing better
access to digital tools and patient records for staff, and improvements to the
planning and delivery of services based on the analysis of patient and
population data.



Getting the most out of taxpayers’ investment in the NHS – working with
clinicians to reduce duplication and make better use of the NHS’s combined
buying power to reduce costs.

For Walsall CCG, this means focusing on maintaining work currently underway. As
well as supporting planned transitions to an Integrated Care System (ICS) for the
Black County and West Birmingham Sustainability and Transformation Partnership
(BCWB STP). We will also continue to implement plans for the Walsall Integrated
Care Partnership (ICP) – Walsall Together.
This focus will enable us to align the CCG to the ICS as it develops, delivering the
local, regional and national priorities set out in the NHS LTP.
Walsall CCG has identified five local priority areas:


Children, Young People and Families



Maternity Services



Medicines Optimisation



Commissioning for Quality and Safety



Governance and Delivery.
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2.1.3 Performance Overview from the Accountable
Officer
My role as Accountable Officer for Walsall
CCG is to ensure that the organisation fulfils
its duty to exercise its functions effectively,
efficiently and economically, thus ensuring
improvement in the quality of services and
the health of the local population whilst
maintaining value for money.
Walsall CCG receives £1,653 (for 2019/20)
for each person registered with a Walsall GP
practice and we use those funds to plan and
buy health services to meet the needs of
local people.
This tremendous privilege and responsibility
gives us, as custodians of public money, a role, which the wider Governing Body and
I take very seriously. This report sets out for you the context in which we strive to
achieve the best possible services to have a positive impact on people’s lives, health
and wellbeing.
Since December 2019, I have been the Accountable Officer for the four CCGs, which
cover the Black Country and West Birmingham. A role, which I feel, incredibly
privileged to hold. My thanks go to Dr Helen Hibbs and Mr Andy Williams for the
work they have done in Wolverhampton, Sandwell and West Birmingham to improve
the health of local people.
The Black Country and West Birmingham is relatively unique in having four
outstanding/good CCGs and we have a great track record for delivering excellent
place based leadership and ensuring local people get high quality care, when they
need it most. Within the first few months of this role, I have been struck by the
similarities across the four CCGs. We share many common values; have similar
pressures in our main providers in terms of workforce shortages; we all face the
challenge and opportunity of disruptive new technologies; and our populations
experience similar issues in relation to healthy life expectancy.
Whilst life expectancy is increasing, the healthy years of life for people living in the
Black Country and West Birmingham is decreasing. This means that there are more
years where people live with the burden of ill health but where the system of health
and care has increasing demands placed on it as a result. The number of
qualifications people achieve on leaving school, childhood and adult obesity levels
and employment levels represent some of the top predictors of healthy life
expectancy for the Walsall population.
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These top predictors are all areas, which require us to work with partners to address
them. Moving forwards, the role of our CCG in collaborating with other partners is key
to us tackling the main challenges that our population face.
Walsall CCG’s financial position is generally positive and provides a good foundation
on which to go forward. We have met all our financial targets for 2019/20. However,
the organisation is not complacent and is mindful of the challenges and risks ahead.
The CCG remains focussed on operating within our means to provide safe, efficient
and appropriate health care services for our local population whilst investing in new
areas of transformation. The ambition set out in the NHS LTP and the Strategic Plan
for the Black Country and West Birmingham Sustainability and Transformation
Partnership will see us increase investment in mental health and out of hospital care
along with investing in new digital technologies.
It is these new technologies that hold the key to many improvements in care, along
with the experience of those using services and working for them. The principles for
digitally enabled care, which we strive for, include:


Empowerment: People will access and contribute to their health and care
records through technology.



Infrastructure: Enabling access to required information to support decisions
from anywhere – supporting place-based working.



Integration: Standards and principles are necessary for our systems to work
together and to break down boundaries between organisations.



Intelligence: Supporting decision making and identifying best practice models
leading to improved patient care.

A great example of this is the news that The Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust
(RWT) have launched a partnership with Artificial Intelligence (AI) specialists,
Babylon. The 10-year partnership will see them develop a new healthcare delivery
model of ‘Digital-First Integrated Care’. Patients will have increased control over their
own health, faster treatment, fewer trips to hospital, treatment from their own homes
and greater access to their own data.
This type of AI will help us to tackle the biggest issue facing our health service
moving forwards; too few staff to deal with the demand placed on services. Through
new digital solutions our staff will be freed up for patients who have the most urgent
and complex issues. These new technologies will also avoid duplication, improve
information sharing, and give people more choice and control over their own health.
This year, Walsall CCG has benefited from £1.5m of a £6.6m fund that is being
invested across the Black Country and West Birmingham to develop digital solutions.
The investment will be used to digitalise historic patient records, freeing up valuable
health estate. It will also support the development of a new NHS app to act as a
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‘front door’ to other health apps and provide a single point of access for people to
book appointments online, have an online consultation and get health advice.
In July 2019, Walsall CCG was evaluated as ‘Good’ by our regulators, NHS England.
This rating was in recognition of the CCG’s strengthened leadership and governance
and for improving quality and safety across the local health and care system. Future
areas to focus on are:


Strengthening collaboration across the Black Country and West Birmingham
Sustainability and Transformation Partnership (STP).



Ensuring personalisation and shared decision making across contracts and
providers is embedded across the CCG

In last year’s review, we were asked to look at collaboration with other CCGs with
renewed vigour and this is something on which we have made significant progress
during 2019/20. As part of this, we have:


A single Accountable Officer for the four CCGs in the Black Country and West
Birmingham.



Strengthened our collaboration with system partners through both the
Sustainability and Transformation Partnership (STP) and the Black Country
Joint Commissioning Committee (JCC).



Worked together across the Black Country to combine our commissioning
resources to plan for improvements in Learning Disability Services, including
launching a new community model, which supports people to be cared for in
the community.

During 2019/20, we have made many significant improvements in the way health
and care services support the people of Walsall. These include:


A single point of access to co-ordinate rapid access to community services for
patients who may otherwise have been admitted to hospital.



Working with partners across the Black Country to implement personalised
care, including expanding the use of Personal Health Budgets and providing
health coaching training to front line staff in primary care and maternity
services.



Opening a Mental Health Crisis Café and securing national funding to
enhance the local crisis and home treatment service and establish a crisis
helpline.



Supporting more people receiving long-term mental health in-patient care to
move into community-based services.



The establishment of seven PCNs in Walsall led by local GPs. Enabling
greater provision of proactive, personalised, coordinated and more integrated
health and social care.
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This year has provided similar challenges to previous years and like many other
systems, we continue to face some key areas of risk. In 2018, the CCG had
moderate assurance for our cyber security systems and this was identified as a
concern to our controls. An action plan was successfully implemented which
addressed the areas of concern and in April 2020, an internal audit gave the CCG
significant assurance. As a system, we recognised the importance of working
together on cyber security and established a cyber-security subgroup reporting into
the BCWB STP Digital Board. Through this subgroup, we also plan to provide and
receive assurance to and from our local government and third sector partners on
their cyber resilience.
We continue to feel the impact of the rising demand for urgent and emergency care
in both primary and secondary care services. Whilst we have made significant
improvements to the percentage of patients transferred to hospital in an ambulance,
the rise in demand sees the number of people using urgent and emergency care
services increasing.
Through our partnership with Walsall Council, we have been able to maintain
significantly reduced levels of delayed transfers of care (DTOC) out of hospital, with
16.8% less patients being delayed in going home compared to 2018/19 (February,
YTD). We are however, seeing delays for patients in our hospital who live outside of
the Black Country and West Birmingham. This a priority area for us to address to
ensure that those people get the independence they deserve and so that there are
beds available for those who need them.
Walsall Healthcare NHS Trust (WHT) had their Care Quality Commission (CQC)
inspection in February and March 2019. The Trust received an overall rating of
‘Requires Improvement’ with ‘Outstanding’ for Caring. Examples of outstanding
practice were seen in urgent and emergency care, medicine and Community Sexual
Health Services. In response, the Trust have drafted an action plan that will address
the identified regulation actions to provide assurance to the public, CQC, the CCG
and partners. The CCG have oversight of the CQC action plan through Clinical
Quality Review meetings.
Dudley and Walsall Mental Health Partnership NHS Trust (DWMH) were rated as
‘Good’ across all five domains when inspected by the CQC in January 2020. Staff
treated patients with “kindness, respect, compassion and empathy” according to the
latest report.
St Giles Hospice also received their CQC rating in January 2020 and
achieved ‘Outstanding’ overall. They were highlighted as good for providing safe and
effective care and outstanding for caring, responsive and well led.
Across the Black Country and West Birmingham, we are part of a multimillion-pound
scheme, which will be used to support the improvements to services and provide
futuristic fit-for-purpose facilities. The scheme will better support the coordination of
care, patient safety and health outcomes of local people. For Walsall this includes
costs associated with the new Town Centre GP premises development, due to be
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completed by 2/8/22 and option appraisals for making the best use of GP premises
across Walsall.
We recognise that our performance associated with providing access to services for
adult anxiety disorders and depression continues to be below the expected standard
and we have taken action to improve service capacity. During 2019/20, our ambition
was for 19.75% people to access Improving Access to Psychological Therapies
services (IAPT) and we achieved 13.2% (January, YTD). We have agreed recovery
plans with our mental health provider and have already seen improvements during
quarter four of this year, with January recording the highest number of patients
referred during 2019/20 so far.
We also remain focused on securing improvements for 62-day and 2-week wait
cancer standards. These continue to be the most challenging cancer standards to
achieve for the CCG, STP and nationally. Similar to the national picture, CCG and
STP performance has been adversely affected by a combination of factors including,
insufficient diagnostic capacity, shortage of medical workforce in key areas (such as
urology and breast) and increased referrals. The BCWB STP Cancer Board’s plan
sets out how we can work collaboratively to address these issues and outlines our
collective commitment to delivering on all key indicators in accordance with the
National Cancer Strategy.
We have invested in community support for people with Learning Disabilities (LD)
and focussed our efforts on ensuring that those people in hospital beds are
supported to move to the least restrictive setting possible and ultimately be able to
live in the community. Our improved community services include:


Early intervention to minimise the development of challenging behaviours



Crisis prevention to provide the right kind of support to prevent and reduce
instances of crisis by responding effectively to stabilise an individual’s
situation



Ensuring effective discharge to avoid repeat hospital admissions.

However, we are still facing some challenges with admissions, particularly for people
with Autism. We will continue to improve the quality of care for people with LD and/or
Autism by ensuring there is community capacity to reduce inappropriate hospital
admissions and length of stay. Alongside this, we will work with partners to create a
sustainable market of provision with appropriately trained and supported staff to give
the best possible care to those living with LD and/or Autism, their families and
carers.
Recently, I have had the opportunity to speak to people with Autism about their
experience of using health services in the Black Country and West Birmingham and I
am quite clear that we need to improve things. Moving forwards, we will work with
local people, their families and carers who have a lived experience, to ensure that
we work together with partners to create a system of care that is suitably adjusted to
support people living with Autism.
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Primary care continues to face issues with rising demand and workforce challenges.
Across Walsall, there have been no mergers or closures during the year.
The demand and issues facing both urgent care and our primary care services
highlight the importance of prioritising the integration of services in Walsall to coordinate care and manage population health. I believe the solutions to a growing frail
elderly population with multiple co-morbidities, rest with the development of our new
model of care for Walsall. The integration of services and multi-disciplinary team
working is designed to support people to better manage their own health and
wellbeing, providing the care and support that people need in their own home, thus
reducing demands on the rest of the system.
This year has seen the further development of Walsall’s ICP - Walsall Together. The
Partnership is now formally established through an alliance agreement and monthly
meetings of a Walsall Together Board that includes representation from Walsall
Healthcare NHS Trust, Dudley & Walsall Mental Health Partnership NHS Trust, GPs,
Walsall Council, One Walsall and Walsall Housing Group. Walsall Healthcare NHS
Trust, who have recruited an Executive Director role to lead the partnership and a
Non-Executive Director role to chair the Walsall Together Board, hosts the
Partnership.
Through Walsall Together, we have established integrated health and adult social
care teams in each of our localities, working alongside our seven PCNs. Weekly GPled multi-disciplinary team meetings are also in place across the PCNs, where
professionals work together to co-ordinate care for people in the community with the
most complex health and care needs.
If we are to achieve a balanced system of care, in addition to the new model of care
in each place across the Black Country and West Birmingham, we also need a
successful local hospital that is effective at delivering high quality diagnosis,
treatment and intervention services. Examples of collaboration in the delivery of
hospital services across the STP include the establishment of the Black Country
Pathology Service, development of the Local Maternity Services network and joint
working between cancer services teams to tackle long waiting times that were
developing in the 2-week wait breast cancer pathway. Over the next 12 months, we
expect these hospitals to work closer together to find sustainable solutions for
delivering high quality care to people in Walsall and the wider Black Country and
West Birmingham.
I would like to thank our Clinical leadership, CCG staff and Governing Body
members, and the rest of our membership, for their contributions to everything that
we have achieved this year. I would also similarly like to thank our system partners
and providers, Walsall Council, the voluntary sector, and the NHS, both in Walsall
and across the wider Black Country and West Birmingham system.
The NHS is all about our people, both our staff and our public, and it is only through
working together that we are best able to make the improvements in the care and
health outcomes that our staff aspire to and that our local people deserve.
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This year we have made real progress towards, boosting “out-of-hospital care” and
dissolving the historic divide between primary and community health services. We
have moved to a new level of collaboration and continue to build upon existing
relationships with our neighbouring CCGs. Despite the challenges, we have
maintained a focus on our overarching vision of achieving health and wellbeing
improvements for the people of Walsall,
At the time of writing this report, we are preparing and responding to the challenges
that Covid-19 (Coronavirus) is giving to our health and social care system. It is at
times like this when our public are thankful for the fantastic service that our NHS
provides and I am proud of the commitment, dedication and skill of our workforce.
Thank you to everyone involved.

Paul Maubach
Accountable Officer
24 June 2020
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2.1.4 Black Country and West Birmingham
Healthier Futures Partnership
Statement from Jonathan Fellows, Independent Chair, Black Country and West
Birmingham Healthier Futures Partnership
In total, around 1.5 million people live in the five places of Wolverhampton, Walsall,
Dudley, Sandwell and West Birmingham. There are a number of challenges for our
local populations, including healthy life expectancy being lower than the national
average by more than six years, higher numbers of people with mental health
problems, high levels of infant mortality, plus high levels of child and adult obesity
and many people living with multiple long term health conditions.
The Healthier Futures Partnership, previously known as the Black Country and West
Birmingham STP, is the collaboration between 18 organisations across local
authorities, NHS bodies and the voluntary and community sectors that has been
established to address these challenges.
The aim of the Healthier Futures Partnership is to:


improve the health of our population by reducing inequalities in health
outcomes and improving the quality of and access to services



attract more people to work in health and care in our region through new ways
of working, better career opportunities, support and the ability to balance work
and home lives



work together to build a sustainable health system that delivers safe,
accessible care and support in the right locations, in order to get the greatest
value from the money we spend.

There is much work to do in order to achieve our aims. However, progress has
started, with closer collaboration already leading to stroke services having being
reconfigured, pathology services consolidated to improve efficiency and turnaround
times, advances made in personalised care arrangements and a new perinatal
mental health community service.
This year, we have worked together to establish priorities for how health and care
services in our local areas will be improved over the next five years. Services need
to be designed and delivered for the benefit of the people who live and work within
the Black Country and West Birmingham. As part of this, we engaged with patients
and the public and took account of feedback from staff, GPs, Health and Wellbeing
Boards and governing bodies, as well as from all of the organisations in our
partnership.
Other key highlights include:
 The development of our clinical strategy covering twelve priority areas, a
primary care strategy focusing on GP and general practice nurse recruitment
and retention and also a digital enabling strategy.
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The pilot of a rapid cancer diagnostic centre in Dudley from January 2020 with
the aim of rolling this out across the partnership.
A local maternity and neonatal system plan that has already resulted in a
reduction in smoking rates during pregnancy, and the implementation of
shared care record across individual maternity units, one of the first nationally.
Secured funding for a digital app that will increase access to health and care
services and offer our population alternative pathways via mobile phones,
tablets and PCs.

Another development was the creation of our Healthier Futures website, giving us an
online presence to update people on our aims, projects, achievements and
challenges www.healthierfutures.co.uk.
I would like to thank all health and care colleagues throughout our system of care, for
their commitment, dedication and hard work during the past year. I would also like to
say a special thank you to Dr Helen Hibbs MBE, who will retire in April, having been
the partnership lead for the past two years. Helen has made an invaluable
contribution to the progress and success of the partnership and on behalf of
everyone across the partnership, I would like to wish her all the best for the future.
I would also like to recognise all of the hard work and effort of Sandwell and West
Birmingham NHS Trust, who reached an agreement on the completion of the
Midland Metropolitan Hospital. The hospital is due to open in 2022 and is key to the
transformation of care in the local communities and to the redevelopment and
regeneration of the surrounding area.
Our partnership exists to benefit local people, and through our continued
collaboration and working together, I am confident we can deliver truly integrated
health and care services of which everyone in the Black Country and West
Birmingham can be justifiably proud.

Jonathan Fellows
Independent Chair
Black Country and West Birmingham Healthier Futures Partnership

2.1.5 The Joint Commissioning Committee
The Black Country and West Birmingham Joint Commissioning Committee (the ‘Joint
Commissioning Committee’) was established in accordance with paragraph 5.12
of NHS Dudley CCG constitution, paragraph 6.5.4 of NHS Wolverhampton CCG
constitution, paragraph 6.8 of NHS Sandwell & West Birmingham CCG constitution
and paragraph 5.10.4 of NHS Walsall CCG constitution.
The purpose of the Joint Commissioning Committee is to establish a single
commissioning view in line with the STP arrangements for key services across the
Black Country and West Birmingham.
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Individual CCGs remain accountable for meeting their statutory duties. Each CCG
has nominated its representative members and the Joint Commissioning Committee
will have delegated authority from each CCG to make binding decisions.
The responsibilities of the Joint Commissioning Committee are to:


make binding decisions on those matters delegated to the Joint
Commissioning Committee on behalf of the CCG



make recommendations to the four CCGs on the scope of services that should
be commissioned at a Black Country and West Birmingham system level



organise, on behalf of the four CCGs, the joint commissioning of Specialised
Services across the Black Country and West Birmingham with NHS England



oversee the commissioning of acute and mental health services that have
been established as being within the scope of services commissioned at
system level, which will include:
- Mapping financial risks across the system.
- Identifying Clinical priorities for transformation.



establish and manage a transformation programme to support the
development of a single commissioning view for the Black Country and West
Birmingham



develop an Organisational Development plan across the four CCGs to identify
the immediate benefits from shared working and to support the
implementation of the transformation plan



to make recommendations for the deployment of resources to support the
implementation of the Transformation Programme.

The Joint Commissioning Committee has spent a great deal of time and energy over
the past year ensuring that we are focused on the quality and performance of key
areas across the Black Country and West Birmingham, particularly Urgent and
Emergency Care, Cancer, Mental Health and Learning Disabilities, and work
undertaken around the Transforming Care Partnership.

2.1.6 The CCG Transition Board
A single Accountable Officer for the Black Country and West Birmingham CCGs was
appointed in October 2019. A Transition Board made up of lay members, Chairs and
officers of the four Governing Bodies oversaw the process of the appointment.
Following the successful appointment of a single Accountable Officer, the Transition
Board for the Black Country and West Birmingham CCGs supported the
consideration of the wider Executive appointments to the roles of Deputy
Accountable Officer and Human Resource Director, in advance of the full executive
structure in April 2020.
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Following a recruitment process, two Deputy Accountable Officers were appointed.
Rachael Ellis, formerly the Chief Officer of Transformation at Sandwell and West
Birmingham CCG, and Matthew Hartland, formerly Chief Finance Officer at Dudley
CCG and Walsall CCG were appointed with effect from December 2019.
Following an internal process Alice McGee formerly Director of Human Resources
and Organisational Development at Sandwell and West Birmingham CCG was
appointed as Human Resources Director.
The next step towards the Single Management Team included recruitment to the
other senior management posts, as agreed by Governing Bodies in January 2020.
These appointments were in post from 1 April 2020, allowing the four CCG’s to begin
the new financial year with a single management team
There are currently three main transition work streams reporting to the Transition
Board:


HR and management of change process



Listening exercise in relation to merger or collaborative commissioning



Governance to support the organisations to move to a single commissioning
voice.

The Transition Board makes recommendations for a way forward to streamline and
change the way in which the four CCGs work together at system level and at ‘place’
whilst allowing room to innovate and develop ideas. The Transition Board is also
overseeing the new governance structure to ensure the delivery of statutory duties,
oversight and assurance by the Governing Bodies, such as reducing health
inequalities, system oversight, financial sustainability and delivery at place to give an
opportunity to deliver something substantially different.
Two listening exercises involving staff, Governing Body members, lay members and
other stakeholders and partners recognised that place is as important as system and
that relationships developed since the advent of the CCGs should not be lost or
diluted. Clinical leaders wanted the opportunity to influence at all levels as the single
commissioning voice develops into the next phase of integrated care system and
partnerships. It is these principles that the Transition Board will use to make
recommendations to the Governing Bodies on future CCG commissioning
arrangements.

2.1.7 The Challenges
Clearly, at the point of writing this report, the greatest risk to the achievement of our
objectives is the impact of responding to the public health emergency caused by
Covid-19. As CCG resources shift to support the health and social care system
response to the crisis, this will inevitably, impact on the achievement of other
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priorities. The CCG continues to assess risks but, in common with the rest of the
system, our focus will remain on dealing with the crisis as the number one priority.
The summary below sets out the challenges we have managed during 2019/20.
Walsall is one of four towns in the Black Country, which is in the West Midlands
Region. The population is 287,644 and we are coterminous with Walsall Council. Our
town has great contrasts, with significant deprivation in the west of the borough and
relative affluence in the east. Differences in deprivation levels and lifestyles
(smoking, excessive consumption of alcohol, etc.) lead to poorer health outcomes for
our communities in the west. This leads to high levels of infant mortality and lower
adult life expectancy.
These challenges are shared with our partners in the other Black Country and West
Birmingham CCGs where we see:


Higher numbers of people experiencing mental health problems



Adult and child obesity



High infant mortality



Dementia, respiratory disease, cardiovascular disease and diabetes



Substance misuse admissions.

We have an ageing population, with more people living with long-term conditions.
Life expectancy and healthy life expectancy are also not improving.
Financial challenges
The CCG’s financial plan for 2019/20 and future years was constructed to deliver a
sustainable NHS in Walsall and to contribute towards the wider STP financial
sustainability. The delivery of a financially sound health economy is not without its
challenges and this has proved to be the case in 2019/20, however the CCG met all
of its financial performance targets, delivering an in year break even position as
required by NHS England.
See the accounts section (note 2) of this report, detailing how the CCG met all of its
financial performance targets.
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Performance against Key Finance Indicators
NHS CCGs have a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as
amended). Walsall CCGs performance against these financial duties during 2019-20
were as follows:
2019-20

2019-20

Target

Actual

Duty
Achieved

STATUTORY DUTIES:
Expenditure not to exceed income
£474,753k £474,747k
Capital resource use does not exceed the
amount specified in Directions
Revenue resource use does not exceed
the amount specified in Directions

£72k

£71k

£470,027k £470,022k

YES

YES
YES

Capital resource use on specified
matter(s) does not exceed the amount
specified in Directions

0

0

N/A

Revenue resource use on specified
matter(s) does not exceed the amount
specified in Directions

0

0

N/A

£6,275k

£5,985k

YES

Better Payment Practice Code – NHS

95.0%

95.9%

YES

Better Payment Practice Code – Non NHS

95.0%

98.91%

YES

Efficiency of cash – closing bank balance
to be no greater than 1.25% of monthly
drawdown

1.25%

Achieved

YES

£14,805k

£14,805k

YES

Revenue administration resource use
does not exceed the amount specified in
Directions
NON STATUTORY DUTIES:

QIPP programme (Quality, Innovation,
Productivity and Prevention
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As set out in the 2019/20 planning guidance, CCG’s were required to invest in the
second year of the Five Year Forward View Transformation priorities to the extent
that risks did not arise or were effectively mitigated through other means.
To achieve this a Quality, Innovation, Productivity and Prevention (QIPP) programme
was developed to provide real cash releasing savings as well as delivering
improvements in productivity, outcomes and quality. The value of the internal QIPP
programme was £14.8m in 2019/20. The focus of the initiatives in 2019/20 has been
the continuation and expansion of successful schemes from prior years, admission
avoidance, outpatient transformation, more effective hospital discharges and
optimising the use of medicines. The CCG has also begun to transform repeat
prescribing by implementing a pilot scheme for a repeat prescribing hub, which can
expand to more patients if the pilot demonstrates positive improvements following a
successful review.
In delivering an in year break even position, the CCG had a resource limit of
£470.0m and net expenditure of £470.0m. This is detailed in the accounts section of
this report (notes 3, 4 and 5).
The chart below shows how the £470.0m was spent.
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In the 2019/20 financial year, Walsall CCG spent £470.0m on providing NHS
Healthcare to 287,644 patients on behalf of our 52 GP practices at an average cost
of £1,653 per patient.
In summary, the CCG met its financial objectives over the last twelve months but we
have had to manage a number of key risks, the main ones being increasing financial
instability in the provider sector nationally; increasing demand; and pressures of a
challenging efficiency programme, including the Better Care Fund (BCF). Effective
management of CCG resources supported the CCG to meet its financial objectives
despite the number of risks.
Moving forwards, financial plans have been constructed to make sure the CCG
meets its duties but we intend to manage our finances in a way that allows us to
invest in the services outlined in our strategic plan over the next five years, allowing
us to fully deliver place-based care in Walsall.
Total expenditure has increased from £362.8m in 2013/14 to £470.0m in 2019/20.
Delegated Primary Care commissioning responsibility transferred to the CCG from
NHS England in 2016/17, which accounted for a significant increase of £36m in that
year. Mental Health Expenditure was separated into Mental and Health and Learning
Disabilities in 2017/18.
CCG Running Costs expenditure has reduced in line with the strategy set by NHS
England (see the table overleaf).
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CCG Running Costs Expenditure
2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

2017/18

2018/19

2019/20

Acute Contracts
187,386

195,672

205,050

204,618

213,591

231,691

6,575

5,507

5,787

5,920

5,816

5,985

28,609

29,044

30,309

30,600

30,569

32,201

-

-

36,313

39,732

39,283

40,293

12,585

2,393

2,060

5,170

5,583

3,282

-

-

-

5,048

6,020

7,321

44,455

46,393

47,925

37,226

38,956

42,795

20,726

21,150

21,991

25,267

24,697

28,453

57,967

61,885

61,036

61,012

60,321

64,310

4,548

12,965

13,669

12,397

14,150

13,691

362,850

375,008

420,019

426,990

438,985

470,022

CCG Running Costs
Community Contracts
Delegated Primary
Care
Health Infrastructure
Learning Difficulties
Mental Health
Non Acute Contracts
Primary Care
Commissioning
Specific Programmes

Total
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The Chart below provides a visual analysis of the increase in the level of expenditure in the key service areas since the CCG inception
in 2013/14.
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Quality challenges
There have been a number of quality challenges during the year. The CCG have
continued to support Walsall Healthcare NHS Trust, which were placed in ‘special
measures’ in February 2016 following a CQC rating of ‘Inadequate’. The latest CQC
inspection was published in July 2019, which highlighted a number of improvements,
receiving a rating of ‘requires improvement. The report highlighted 59 areas of
improvement, which included maternity services and urgent and emergency care.
The Trust monitor all quality improvement initiatives, including CQC actions through
the Patient Care Improvement Plans (PCIP), supported by the Quality Academy at
the Trust and monitored at Trust Board level.
Within Walsall, the children’s commissioner has dedicated time to focus on and
support individual cases and packages of care along with support from the Black
Country Case Manager where relevant. There are multi-agency panels held within
the borough to increase focus on individual cases. These include an external
placement panel, a complex care and short-breaks panel and our risk stratification
that has CCG attendance to ensure assurance and oversight is given around
individual case management. The CCG hold locally a risk stratification to understand
the keys risks of our individual cases and ensure transparency in reporting. The
Commissioner works with the Black Country Transforming Care Partnership (TCP)
Board around our most complex cases in order to escalate and report any risks
when needed. Regular commissioner led multi-disciplinary team meetings are held
in order to ensure robust process and management of cases with Walsall.
NHS England’s ‘Safeguarding Children, Young People and Adults at Risk in the
NHS: Safeguarding Accountability and Assurance Framework’ details
the safeguarding responsibilities and requirements on CCGs to have appropriate
safeguarding arrangements in place including obtaining assurances from the
providers they commission services from. The CCG Governing Body is ultimately
responsible for ensuring the CCG meets its legal responsibilities for the safeguarding
of Children and Adults through the Care Act (2014) and Working Together to
Safeguard Children Statutory Guidance (2018). Authority for safeguarding is
delegated to the Executive Board Lead for Safeguarding, who are supported in their
role by the CCG Designated Nurses and Named GP.
Designated Nurses are subject experts in safeguarding across the health economy,
providing strategic and operational advice, guidance and expertise within the CCG,
across Provider Trusts and agencies. Roles and competencies for Designated
Nurses and Named Doctors are specified in the NHSE Safeguarding Accountability
Framework and respective Intercollegiate Documents. The Designated Nurses report
directly to the Executive Lead for Safeguarding, and provide quarterly reports to the
Integrated Assurance Committee.
The CCG has a Safeguarding Assurance Framework and appropriate policies and
procedures in place relating to safeguarding arrangements in line with statutory
guidance, including the safe recruitment of staff, a whistleblowing policy and
safeguarding training and supervision policies.
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The CCG recruited a Designated Nurse for looked after children in 2019. This post is
in place until September 2020. A vacancy remains for a Designated Doctor for
safeguarding children.
All the Designated Nurses contribute to multi-agency safeguarding arrangements and
work to ensure that the voice of health and the voice of children is paramount.
In May 2019, an independent review of the serious incident process and wider
governance arrangements in Maternity Services was undertaken at Walsall
Healthcare NHS Trust. The general findings in relation to the culture of Maternity
Services were broadly positive. Areas of improvement were identified and are being
addressed through a maternity-wide action plan, which is monitored through Clinical
Quality Review meetings.

2.2 Performance Analysis
A key part of our work is to ensure the services we commission meet the needs of
local people as well as national quality and safety standards. To provide assurance
to our residents and regulator that these requirements are being achieved locally, we
monitor our performance against a range of measures published within the NHS
Constitution core rights and pledges. This covers a number of pledges on how long
patients need to wait to be seen and to receive treatment.
The CCG Board is responsible for discharging the duties of its constitution, which
includes monitoring and scrutinising the performance of our service providers. The
Board receives a performance report at its bi-monthly public meetings. Formal
committees of the Board scrutinise in more detail how our health providers are
delivering contracted services; these are the Integrated Assurance, Primary Care,
and Commissioning Committees.
The CCG also holds monthly contract review meetings with each of our main
providers, to review their performance and to gain assurance where issues arise that
robust action is being taken. Where continued underperformance is experienced, the
CCG has ensured that all contractual mechanisms are being appropriately utilised to
ensure rapid improvements are made in these areas. In addition, triangulation
meetings are held between the relevant CCG teams to discuss these issues in detail
to ensure the CCG speaks with one voice and has a consistent approach in dealing
with our providers. Through these arrangements we continue to work hard with our
local providers to deliver these standards.
Our performance in 2019/20 against the requirements of the NHS Constitution is
summarised in Table 1 overleaf.
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Table 1 Walsall CCG Performance 2019/20 - NHS Constitutional Standards
Indicator Short Name

Year
Latest
End
Performance
Target

Period

NHS Constitution – Rights and Pledges
18 weeks Referral to Treatment –Patients on
incomplete or non-emergency pathways
Diagnostic tests waiting times
A&E 4-hour waits (Walsall Healthcare NHS
Trust only)
Cancer 2-week waits – urgent referral
Cancer 2-week waits – breast symptomatic
Cancer 31-day waits – first treatment
Cancer 31-day waits – surgery
Cancer 31-day waits – drugs
Cancer 31-day waits – radiotherapy
Cancer 62-day waits – first treatment
Cancer 62-day waits – screening service
Ambulance calls – Category 1 average
response time
Ambulance calls – Respond to 90% of
Category 1 calls in 15 mins
Ambulance calls – Category 2 average
response time
Ambulance calls – Respond to 90% of
Category 2 calls in 40 mins
Ambulance calls – Respond to 90% of
Category 3 calls in 120 mins
Ambulance calls – Respond to 90% of
Category 4 calls in 180 mins
NHS Constitution Support Measures
Mixed Sex Accommodation Breaches
Cancelled Operations (not offered alternative
date within 28 days)
Mental Health CPA 7-day follow up
The number of Referral to Treatment
incomplete pathways greater than 52 weeks
Patients who have waited over 12 hours in
A&E from decision to admit to admission
Urgent operations cancelled for non-clinical
reasons for a second time
Ambulance handover delays of over 30
minutes (WHNHST)
Ambulance handover delays of over 60
minutes (WHNHST)

>92%

R 86.82%

Mar YTD

<1%

R 4.57%

Mar

>95%

R 81.8%

Mar YTD

>93%
>93%
>96%
>94%
>98%
>94%
>85%
>90%
<7
mins
<15
mins
<18
mins
<40
mins
<120
mins
<180
mins

R 85.0%
R 57.5%
A 94.5%
A 93.2%
G 99.5%
A 92.9%
R 73.9%
A 85.6%
A 7 mins 08
secs
G 12 mins 38
secs
G 14 mins 46
secs
G 27 mins 39
secs
G 113 mins
44 secs
G 156 mins
15 secs

Mar YTD
Mar YTD
Mar YTD
Mar YTD
Mar YTD
Mar YTD
Mar YTD
Mar YTD

0

R6

Feb YTD

0

R6

Mar YTD

>95%

G 95.7%

Dec YTD

0

G0

Mar YTD

0

R4

Mar YTD

0

G0

Mar YTD

0

R 2,121

Mar YTD

0

R 312

Mar YTD

Mar
Mar
Mar
Mar
Mar
Mar
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In addition to the NHS Constitution requirements, there are a number of priority
mental health areas with national targets which all CCGs report against. Walsall
CCG has worked closely with providers throughout the year to achieve high levels of
service against these targets. Performance under these measures is summarised in
Table 2 below.
Table 2 Walsall CCG Performance 2018/19 - NHS Planning Round
Indicator Short Name

Year
End
Target

Latest
Performan
ce

Period

>66.7
%

G 66.8%

Mar

>19.7
%

R 14.57%

Feb YTD
(YTD
target
17.92%)

>50%

G 50.7%

Feb YTD

>75%

G 97.7%

Feb YTD

>95%

G 99.4%

Feb YTD

>56%

G 85.7%

Nov YTD

>34%

A 23.5%

Dec YTD
(YTD
target
25.3%)

>95%

R 85.7%

Mar YTD

100%

G 100%

Mar YTD

NHS National Planning Round
% dementia diagnosis rate
Improving access to psychological therapies
(IAPT) – access levels
The proportion of people who complete IAPT
treatment who are moving to recovery
The proportion of people that wait 6 weeks or
less to enter IAPT treatment
The proportion of people that wait 18 weeks or
less to enter IAPT treatment
Psychosis treated with a NICE approved care
package within two weeks of referral
Improve access rate to Children and Young
People's Mental Health services (CYPMH)
Waiting times for routine referrals to CYP eating
disorder services within 4 weeks
Waiting times for urgent referrals to CYP eating
disorder services within 1 weeks

We recognise that where we have underachieved, we need to do more to ensure our
residents receive the highest quality of care possible and this will remain a key focus
for us during 2020/21.
It has been a challenging year to achieve these targets due to a range of factors
which include increasing demand, increased patient acuity and financial pressures.
Although of little comfort, this challenge has been seen nationally with the NHS also
unable to achieve many of these targets. Whilst we recognise that for these reasons
we were unable to achieve these targets through the year, despite our ongoing
commitment and resolve to do so, this situation was further compounded by the
impact of the corona virus pandemic during Q4 with the NHS first declaring a Level 4
National Incident on 30 January. This was the first phase of the NHS’s preparation
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and response to Covid19 and, as the potential gravity of this situation became clear
in mid-march the NHS instructed providers to create greater inpatient and critical
care capacity to treat these patients. This involved reorganisation of hospital facilities
and redeployment of existing staff and a national agreement to delay admissions for
people who need planned operations to ensure that beds – particularly intensive
care beds – were available. Whilst this created the required capacity it unfortunately
reduced the ability of our providers to continue providing routine healthcare during
this period and inevitably led to performance further deteriorating across many of
these national targets.
It is clear from this assessment that due to local challenges and also the pandemic
there remains a number of ongoing challenges facing the CCG under the core NHS
Constitution and planning round measures in delivering the required standards
particularly in; 18 weeks’ referral to treatment, urgent care, cancer and IAPT access.
Actions underway to address these issues are summarised below.
Improvement Actions
In line with national NHS guidance, the BCWB STP has moved to the second phase
of its response to the pandemic by developing a restoration and recovery plan
covering the whole of the Black Country and West Birmingham. This plan fully
addresses national NHS requirements and supports the regional aims of:


No patients or staff will catch Coronavirus in our healthcare premises



Patients and staff have confidence to use our facilities



There will be a safe restart for services



The public know services are restored and can be accessed in a safe way



Services are restored to support regional aims of addressing unwarranted
variation and health inequalities

This plan’s ambition remains for all essential and urgent services, including cancer,
to be operational by 15 June, alongside routine elective surgery when clinically
appropriate. Where this is not envisaged, further work is being undertaken to
consider how this may be achieved and recommendations made to accelerate
recovery. Work is also underway by undertaking demand and capacity modelling to
forecast predicted recovery dates, which will allow the delivery of the recovery plan
to be effectively monitored by service, place and Trust though 2020/21.
NHS Oversight Framework
In August 2019, NHS England and Improvement (NHSEI) published the NHS
Oversight Framework, which replaced the CCG Improvement and Assessment
Framework (CCGIAF). The new framework outlines the move to system working,
with the framework revised to reflect that NHSEI will be assessing CCGs and
providers more consistently.
The framework summarises how the new approach to oversight will be applied
during 2019/20 and the work that will be done during 2019/20 for a new integrated
approach from 2020/21.
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An annual assessment for CCGs in England remained a legal requirement during
2019/20. The assessment considers the CCG’s performance in each of the indicator
areas during the year, including financial management and a qualitative assessment
of the leadership of the CCG.
Under this regime, the CCG was successful in maintaining its rating of ‘good’ in
2018/19. This was maintained by the CCG sustaining its ‘in year’ financial
performance and its quality of leadership scores remaining Green.
The improvements the CCG has secured in its financial performance and the quality
of leadership since the inception of the CCGIAF is summarised in the table below:
Reporting
period

In year
financial
performance

Quality of CCG
leadership

(Green star,
(Green star,
green, amber,
green, amber, red which is
red which is
the lowest)
the lowest)

Conflict of
interest –
probity and
corporate
governance

Overall
Assessment
rating

2018/19

Green

Green

Fully
compliant

Good

2017/18

Green

Green

Fully
compliant

Good

2016/17

Amber

Amber

Fully
compliant

Requires
Improvement

2015/16

Red

Red

Fully
compliant

Inadequate

The 2019/20 end of year assessment is expected to be published in July 2020 by
NHS England. Results will be published on the CCGs website.
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2.3 Sustainability Report
As an organisation, funded by taxpayers, we have an obligation to work in a way that
has a positive effect on the communities for which we commission and procure
healthcare services.
Sustainability means spending public money well, the smart and efficient use of
natural resources and building healthy, resilient communities. By making the most of
our social, environmental and economic assets we can improve health both in the
immediate and long term even in the context of rising cost of natural resources.
Spending money well and considering the social and environmental impacts is
enshrined in the Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012.
The CCG acknowledges this responsibility to our patients, local communities and the
environment by working hard to minimise our footprint. The CCG also recognises the
importance of embedding sustainability within our business and continues to develop
sustainability initiatives as part of agile working arrangements, touch screens in our
meetings rooms and large screens in our offices for messages and communication.

2.3 Improving Quality
Walsall CCG places quality at the core of all functions and commissioning practice,
and at the centre of all discussions with providers. We do this by making our
expectations clear and measurable and then by monitoring these standards closely.
There are five elements, which drive the work of the Quality and Safety Team:


Patient Safety



Clinical Effectiveness



Responsiveness



Patient Experience



Being Well-Led

2.4.1 Holding Providers to Account
The CCG has continued to work with our providers across primary, community and
secondary care to develop clear clinical quality standards for their services, focusing
on improving patient outcomes for inclusion in contracts, which are monitored and
mapped to the NHS Outcomes Framework. We have also worked with our providers
to further refine quality and safety performance dashboards to gain assurance that
services are safe and of a high quality standard. This will continue through 2020/21.
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The quality and safety of care is monitored through the Clinical Quality Review
meeting (CQRM) process, Clinical Harms, Infection Prevention and Control
Committee and Mortality meetings, including the national metrics alongside other
qualitative intelligence such as complaints, incidents and quality concerns.
Within the CCG, the Integrated Assurance Operational Group has been established
as a subcommittee to the Integrated Assurance Committee (IAC). The group is
required to give assurance to IAC that robust governance and management
processes are in place to manage performance and risk (including patient safety,
clinical effectiveness, patient experience and quality of care) across the full range of
services commissioned by the CCG and to report regularly and to bring to the
attention of the IAC any emerging issues. The data enables key quality and safety
information to provide intelligence to quality visits, audits and key lines of enquiry.
The CCG Governing Body takes every opportunity to hear the experiences and
views of local people and build their feedback into the service design process.
The CCG encourages a collaborative quality improvement approach. Where
emerging patterns or themes are identified, they are explored and shared across
providers and the wider system to ensure lessons can be learnt. The CCG continues
to work on the Primary Care Improvement plan, which incorporates the Integrated
Primary Care Assurance Tool, Primary Care Database and implementation of Datix
for incident reporting within primary care.

2.4.2 Patient Safety
The processes described above, are in place to oversee patient safety, as well as
other contract review processes. The CCG and its providers report through to the
CCG Integrated Assurance Committee, which in turn provides the Governing Body
with a comprehensive exception report at each meeting. This provides the Board
with a clear view on the level of assurance that can be provided and the specific
actions that the CCG are taking if full assurance cannot be offered at that time with
indicative timescales of when full assurance will be offered to the Board.
The Integrated Assurance Committee have an extensive patient safety agenda, with
a responsibility for oversight of the:


development of locally sensitive quality indicators and metrics to continually
improve the quality outcomes of services



review of all children and adult safeguarding issues



monitoring of performance of service provider’s quality improvement plans,
including those to address shortfalls in the standards of quality and safety to
ensure remedial actions are taken to comply with the expected standards
(including monitoring key indicators such as, Health Care Associated
Infections (HCAI) data, patient’s complaints and compliments, and patient
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experience information i.e. friends and family rest data, falls, pressure ulcers
and quality visit feedback)


review of any notification, advice or instruction issued by national bodies and
regulators



review of any notification, advice or whistleblowing issued by other agencies
and individuals



monitoring of incident data (serious incidents, never events, unexpected
deaths) and actions associated with taking remedial actions



oversight of quality exceptions reported (such as whistleblowing, serious case
reviews, and adverse media reports).

2.4.4 Safeguarding Children, Young People,
Adults and Looked-After Children
In August 2019, the ‘Safeguarding Vulnerable People in the NHS-Accountability and
Assurance Framework’ was updated. It reflects the changing content for
safeguarding as it continues to expand in response to the findings of large scale
inquiries and incidents, emerging challenges in a rapidly evolving and increasingly
digitalised context, such as modern slavery, human trafficking, radicalisation,
exploitation, as well as new legislation aimed to strengthen protection of those at
risk. It sets out the safeguarding roles across the NHS however, the roles and
responsibilities within NHS commissioning remain unchanged with the CCG legally
accountability for safeguarding.
The CCG Designated Safeguarding Team has within it statutory roles and subject
experts for adult and child safeguarding matters. They work with local providers,
primary care and provide expert advice to CCG Commissioners. In addition, they are
integral members of the local Safeguarding Partnership and Safeguarding Adult
Boards.
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2.5 Engaging People and Communities
Walsall CCG puts the voice of local people at the heart of everything we do. The
views and experiences of patients and the public play a key part in the CCG’s
decision-making process.
As a commissioning organisation, we have a legal duty to involve the public in the
commissioning of services for NHS patients. In meeting our statutory duty, we
recognise the importance and value of patient and public engagement and our
commitment to this is summarised in our Constitution and through the following
principles.
These principles are the hallmarks of how we communicate and engage with people
in Walsall. We will ensure that we are always:


Accessible and inclusive, to all people in our community.



Clear and professional, demonstrating pride and credibility.



Targeted, to ensure people are getting the information that they need.



Open, honest and transparent.



Accurate, fair and balanced.



Timely and relevant.



Sustainable, to ensure on going mutually benefit relationships.



Two-way; we will not just talk, we will listen.



Cost effective, always demonstrating value for money.

2.5.1 Governance and Assurance
We take great care to engage with patients and the wider public to ensure that they
have a genuine influence in how their local services are designed and delivered. As
part of this, we are committed to understanding the needs of our population and
empowering patients to have more choice and control over their health.
We aim to improve local health services and respond to the health needs of
everyone in the area by ensuring patients and the public are at the heart of our
decision-making. Our CCG Constitution sets out how it will make arrangements to
secure public involvement in the planning, development and consideration of
proposals for changes and decisions affecting commissioning arrangements.
Our Communications and Engagement Strategy sets out our approach and
principles to communicating with stakeholders and the public and involving local
people in changes to NHS services in Walsall. It provides clear objectives to ensure
that patient and public views are at the heart of the services we commission.
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It also outlines how we will adhere to our statutory responsibilities to carry out
effective consultation and engagement and is aligned to our equalities work
programme to ensure that we work with our whole population and groups who may
be under represented.

2.5.2 Ways to get involved and find out information
Website - visit walsallccg.nhs.uk to find out about us, our commissioning plans, our
Governing Body members, current consultation and engagement opportunities and
to see our publication scheme, which includes details on how we spend money, how
we make decisions and other key information.
Social media - Social media is a great platform for us to listen and have
conversations with the people we wish to influence. It not only allows us to share the
latest health news, it enables local people to respond and interact with us,
encouraging conversation and feedback about what matters most to them. Unlike
other methods of communication, social media facilities two-way, real-time
communication. At the CCG we have a presence on the following platforms:


Facebook



Twitter



Instagram

Patient Participation Groups (PPGs) - We support our 52 GP practices across the
Walsall borough to have a PPG. PPGs work with the practice to make suggestions
and improvements and to offer a patient perspective. We have many proactive PPGs
in Walsall, who take innovative steps to connect the practice to the wider community
– for example organising health information days and Macmillan coffee mornings.
Patient Participation and Liaison Group (PPLG) - The PPLG is made up of Chairs
and representatives of Patient Participation Groups (PPGs) across Walsall. Meetings
take place quarterly and are patient-led with a Chair and Vice-Chari elected my
members. The Lay Member for Patient & Public Involvement from Walsall CCG is a
member of the meeting, which enables feedback to go directly to Governing Body
and then be fed back to the group. PPLG members decide what topics/issues they
wish to discuss and they invite partners from local health and care organisations to
provide updates to the group.
Governing Body Meetings – Our Governing Body Meetings take place in public six
times a year. The meeting dates, agendas and papers are available on our
Governing Body Webpage. There is always an agenda item where members of the
public can ask a question of the Board. Our Governing Body has three lay members
– one is dedicated to Patient and Public Involvement.
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2.5.3 Our Year in Brief
Throughout this year, we have continued to develop creative methods of listening,
engaging and involving patients and the public that have ensured that their insights
and experiences have influenced our commissioning decisions.
We have successfully engaged patients and the public in a range of activities to
facilitate community involvement in how we design, deliver and improve local health
services. For a full list of all involvement activities undertaken please, visit our CCG
Website and our dedicated Get Involved webpages.
Here are some highlights from 2019/20:
Improving Services for Adults with Learning Disabilities
The Black Country Transforming Care Partnership (BCTCP) of which Walsall CCG is
a partner, have been working with people with learning disabilities, their families and
carers to develop and deliver a new community model of care that maintains their
rights, respect, and dignity.
A nine-week engagement exercise was undertaken to seek the views of
stakeholders, service users, carers and family members on the following:



The introduction of a new community model for people with learning
disabilities that provides enhanced support in the community.
The permanent closure of specialist inpatient beds at Ridge Hill Hospital,
Dudley and Orchard Hills/Daisy Bank, Walsall. (These beds are reserved for
assessing and treating people with learning disabilities and are not connected
to general hospital services).

Who did we hear from? The largest group of respondents (44.90%) were service
users followed by carers of a service user (30.61%). The other (4.08%) were from
charities and special school professionals.
Outreach Engagement - The charity Dudley Voices for Choices supported us to
undertake face-to-face targeted engagement with potential service users, current
service users, family members and carers across the Black Country and West
Birmingham. During the outreach engagement, people were encouraged to complete
the easy read version of the questionnaire.







174 conversations took place.
Interviews were undertaken across Sandwell, Wolverhampton, Walsall and
Dudley.
11 community groups were engaged with and 184 easy read questionnaires
distributed across the Black Country and West Birmingham.
Wherever possible, the easy read version of the questionnaire was completed
face-to-face.
39 easy read questionnaires were completed
Carers and family members were also invited to complete the questionnaire.
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What people told us? The following key themes were identified from the views and
experiences we captured:






There was an overall positivity about the community focus offered by the new
model.
The importance of relationship building and maintaining a good relationship
between, patients, family members, carers and professionals was identified.
Transport and access to the Penrose site for visitors were raised.
There needs to be a consideration for those with autism and those in
transition (age 16 to 18yrs).
Concerns were raised about the response to crisis, not having enough staff
and the number of beds in the new model.

Public views informing CCG decision-making - An engagement report was
presented to Walsall CCG’s Governing Body on the new community model for
learning disabilities in the Black Country including the bed closure proposal. In line
with what people told us, the Governing Body accepted the recommendations in the
report with the following caveats:





The clinical model needs to be redesigned to take account of supporting
patients with Autism.
There needs to be dialogue with the Trust to understand why patients are
being placed out of area. The clinical model needs to be adjusted to mitigate
this arrangement.
There is an urgent need to make modifications to the Penrose facility to
ensure that it is suitable for autistic people. Need to see the Trusts plans for
this.

Read more about this engagement exercise on our You Said, We Did webpage.
Plans to improve Primary Care in the Black Country and West Birmingham
Following the publication of the Long Term Plan, which sets out how the NHS will
improve care for patients over the next ten years, CCGs in the Black Country and
West Birmingham spoke to local people to find out their views on we can improve
primary care services. The views of members of the public, patients, doctors, nurses
and other healthcare professionals were used to develop a strategy for the future of
primary care services to ensure improved access, continuity and coordination of care
for people in the Black Country and West Birmingham.
Four public engagement events were held to capture views and experiences of local
people. A graphic recorder was commissioned to create a visual representation of
the conversations that took place at each event. The visuals were used to evidence
the progress and direction of conversations and support CCGs to understand and
feedback to local people on what matters most to them. The graphic overleaf, was
created at the Walsall event:
What people told us? Overall patients would be happy to see a variety of health
professionals in primary care for minor ailments, provided they had the training
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required and were able to make easy onward referrals to their GP or other services.
Patients with multiple long-term conditions were more hesitant to see alternative
health professionals as they thought it was important that the health professional
understood their history and they valued consistent, face-to-face care.
When discussing the digital agenda, most people felt they needed further education
to understand the solutions being investigated and what this would mean in practice.
They also felt that if results were made available electronically they may need
support to understand them. Concerns were raised regarding data security and the
level of information being made between groups, with a particular focus on voluntary
sector organisations.
Representatives on behalf of refugee and migrant populations/mental health sector
highlighted the difficulties that would arise for patients if they were required to attend
alternative practices and see health professionals that they were not familiar with.
Public views informing CCG plans - Using the insights from the engagement
sessions, the CCGs developed a Primary Care Strategy for the Black Country and
West Birmingham. You can download the Primary Care Strategy to find out more or
view our Primary Care Engagement Report which summaries the patient and public
involvement on our CCG website.
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Patient Impact:
Classic car enthusiast restores his good health thanks to Diabetes Prevention
Programme
For ex-stock car racer and classic car hobbyist Mark Harvey, his self-proclaimed
“shocking diet” left him feeling a wreck. Tipping the scales at 119kg at his heaviest in
2019, Mark felt physically and mentally unwell, requiring time off from his job as a
nurse at a special care baby unit. Thankfully, just four months into attending his local
NHS diabetes prevention programme in Aldridge, Mark is motoring towards a much
healthier future and has already lost a staggering 13kg.
“I’d put my health problems down to getting older,” said 54 year old Mark, “but when
my blood tests revealed a high blood sugar reading, it gave me the scare I needed to
sort myself out. With my nursing background, I am aware that Type 2 diabetes is a
very serious health condition that can cause serious long-term health problems. My
nan lost limbs from it and I knew I had to lose weight but could never manage it – I
basically ate what I liked when I liked.”
With a HbA1c blood sugar reading of 47, Mark’s family history and weight made him
eligible for the Healthier You NHS diabetes prevention programme. Run in Walsall
by health services provider Ingeus, Healthier You is a lifestyle change programme,
supporting people to maintain a healthy weight and be more active – proven aids in
the battle against Type 2 diabetes. Mark’s blood sugar level has already reduced to
41 and he’s not stopping yet.
“I’ve set myself a target weight of 96kg and am confident of reaching it,” Mark
continues. “I am king of the labels in our house now, looking for the hidden demons
in food! I’ve cut out treats, including some alcohol, and try to walk at least 10,000
steps a day. I’ve lost two inches off my waist and feel so much better in myself. I
have more energy and really don’t crave the type of food I used to eat. When I
started the programme, I promised myself the biggest cake I could find if I hit target
at the end, but actually I don’t want it now.”
Mark attends regular Healthier You sessions, held with Ingeus health educator Tom
Brown at Aldridge Parish Church. The Ingeus programme covers core elements of
getting healthy, staying healthy and living healthily, and Mark says he can’t fault the
advice and encouragement he’s been given.
He concludes: “Tom’s knowledge is excellent, and he tweaks his suggestions to fit
around my lifestyle. He’s full of useful ideas and never lectures. He’s helped me to
put my health back into my own hands, so I have the long term health and energy to
enjoy life to the full. I have three children and massively enjoy football and restoring
classic cars with my son Jake. Thanks to Healthier You, this ‘old classic’ has got
many more miles in him yet.”
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Patient Impact:
Transforming Care for Children and Young People with Learning Disabilities
and Autism
The Children & Young People’s subgroup of the Transforming Care Programme
invited service users, families and carers, professionals, members of the public and
local community organisations to come and hear about plans to change the way in
which care is delivered for children and young people living with Learning Disabilities
and /or Autism in the Black Country.
As part of NHS England’s Building the Right Support plan, the programme aims to
reduce the number of children and young people with learning disabilities residing in
hospital so that more can live in the community, with the right support, close to their
home.
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Patient Impact:
Governing Body Patient Stories
By offering patient-led feedback through to our Governing Body, Walsall CCG are
committed to ensuring that patient stories are at the heart of our decision making
process. Here is an example of a story, which was shared this year.
Delivering personalised care – Walsall Wheelchair Service Patient Story
A local mum in Walsall shared her positive experience of Walsall Wheelchair
Services. During 2019, Walsall Wheelchair Services have transformed their service
offer, providing personalised care and support to local service users. This
transformation supported by Walsall CCG Commissioning Team has allowed
wheelchair users and their families to have more choice and control over the care
they receive, helping to improve the experience of those accessing this service.
Overall, this story highlights the importance of shared-decision making and
recognising the individual needs of the people we serve. As set out the NHS Long
Term Plan, personalised care is one of the five major, practical changes to the NHS
that will take place over the next five years.

Visit our Patient Stories webpage to find out more.
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2.6 Reducing Health Inequality
The most recent assessment of the health needs of the Walsall population are set
out in the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA).
The Director of Public Health at Walsall Council leads the preparation of the JSNA
and the CCG contributes to it along with a local plan, which helps to inform the
assessment.
On average, people in Walsall have poorer health when compared with England
across a range of measures. The prevalence of long-term illness is high and the
healthy life expectancy of the population is lower than the national average.
The borough has higher than average levels of obesity, both in children and adults.
Uptake of health screening is lower than national targets. Although smoking rates
have reduced in recent years, they are still relatively high. Tackling this is a priority,
particular smoking in pregnancy.
As well as Walsall’s relatively poor position compared to other areas of the country,
there are also significant inequalities in health outcomes between different localities
in the borough.
The JSNA is an iterative process with all related JSNA material available via the
‘Walsall Insight Website’.
The Walsall Health and Wellbeing Board of which the CCG is a member, has
approved plans to refresh the JSNA, structured around the following five themes:


Healthy Start



Adult Wellbeing



Ageing Well



Place



Economy

2.7 Health and Wellbeing Strategy
The CCG is actively involved in the delivery of Walsall’s Joint Health and Wellbeing
Strategy, in line with our duties under section 116B(1)(b) of the Local Government
and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007. The strategy identifies local health and
social care needs and considers what the members of Walsall’s Health and
Wellbeing Board can do in collaboration to contribute towards the priorities.
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2.7.1 Health and Wellbeing Board Priorities
The Walsall Health and Wellbeing Board, of which the CCG is a member, agreed
three strategic priorities for its work during 2019/20:
Priority 1: Violence Reduction
Led by a Superintendent from West Midlands Police, the objectives under this
priority are:



To reduce youth violence in Walsall, both committed by and against young
people.
Build resilient communities by working with focused groups of people
underpinned by a strength-based approach to raise the awareness of the
causes of violence and through co-production and identifying community
designed solutions.

Priority 2: Walsall ‘on the move and Smokefree’
Led by the Director of People and Culture at Walsall Healthcare Trust the objectives
under this priority are:


To have fewer inactive people in Walsall - more people cycling, walking,
taking part in exercise, leaving cars behind and living lives that are
Smokefree.



To encourage the workforce of Walsall to lead by example and be advocates
within Walsall and we will share best practice between partner organisations.

Priority 3: Walsall Town Centre
Led by the Head of Regeneration at Walsall Council the objective under this priority
is:


To have more people use Walsall Town Centre and be proud of it, and be
healthier because of what it offers.

A leadership group drawn from across local partners was established for each of
these priority areas and a programme plan agreed.
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Demonstrating the CCGs involvement and commitment to improving the health and
wellbeing of local people, here is a quote from Councillor Stephen Craddock, Chair
of Walsall’s Health and Wellbeing Board.

During 2019/20, Walsall Health and Wellbeing Board partners,
including the CCG, have been working together to tackle the three
priorities on which we agreed to focus our actions. These were:
 Violence Reduction
 Walsall “on the move and Smokefree”
 Walsall Town Centre
The Walsall Together Partnership has made great strides during this
last year and is now firmly established as a key partnership through
which the NHS, the local authority and wider partners work together to
integrate service provision and to improve the health and wellbeing of
the Walsall population.
A particular priority during 2019 has been development of the Resilient
Communities Programme. This work is now incorporated into the
Walsall Together Partnership, with the resilient communities’ approach
that the Council has adopted to engage and support citizens in tackling
the issues that are most important to them in their daily lives.
Walsall CCG is an active partner in our Health and Wellbeing Board
and makes an invaluable contribution to the delivery of our Health and
Wellbeing Strategy, and to partnership working in the borough.
Cllr Craddock
Chair, Walsall Health and Wellbeing Board

2.7.2 Walsall Together
The NHS Long Term Plan sets out the importance of Integrated Care Systems to
achieve the goal of a more joined-up and coordinated care, breaking down traditional
barriers between care institutions, teams and funding streams to support the
increasing number of people with long term health conditions.
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Over the next five years’ changes to the NHS service model will bring about greater
out of hospital care; redesign and reduced pressure on emergency hospital services;
more personalised care; an increasing focus on population health and local
partnerships between health and social care organisations.
Continued development of Integrated Care Systems (ICSs) are central to the
delivery of the NHS Long Term Plan. ICSs have a key role in working with Local
Authorities at place level and through ICS commissioners to make shared decisions
with providers on how to use resources, design services and improve population
health. Collaboration takes place at different levels in the system, including through
provider partnerships at a place-based level.
Last year’s annual report described our plans to develop an Integrated Care
Partnership (ICP) to lead the integration of local health and care services to improve
outcomes and quality of care for the people of Walsall.
This new Partnership was established in April 2019 bringing together local partners;
Walsall Council, Walsall Healthcare NHS Trust, Dudley & Walsall Mental Health
NHS Trust, Walsall Clinical Commissioning Group, One Walsall, representatives
from the Housing sector and Primary Care Networks to develop place-based,
integrated ways of working.
Walsall Healthcare NHS Trust is the host partner for Walsall Together and an ICP
Board, Senior Management Team and Programme Office have been established.
During 2019/20, the Walsall Together programme has:







established shared bases for each of the seven community health and adult
social care teams and further developed joint working arrangements between
health and social care professionals. These teams are aligned to the seven
Primary Care Networks (displayed overleaf).
set up weekly GP-led multi-disciplinary team meetings for each Primary Care
Network to co-ordinate care for the most complex patients
established a single point of access to co-ordinate a range of community
services for patients who need a rapid response to potentially avoid a hospital
admission
continued to develop a successful joint service that supports patients with
more complex needs to be discharged from hospital.
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North Primary Care Network
Walsall North covers a GP population size of
approx. 51,000 people and includes the following 10
practices:
01GP – Pinfold Medical, All Saints Surgery, Pinfold
Health Centre
02GP – Bloxwich Medical Practice, Pinfold Health
Centre
03GP – Dr Khan, Pinfold Health Centre
04GP – Birchills Health Centre
05GP – St Lukes Surgery, Pinfold Health Centre
06GP – Blakenall Modality Group
07GP – Drs Kaul and Gill, Harden Health Centre
08GP – Lower Farm Health Centre
09GP – Mossley and Dudley Fields Medical Practice
10GP – St Mary’s Surgery, Pinfold Health Centre
The Clinical Director of Walsall North PCN is Dr
Nasir Asghar from Pinfold Medical Centre.

East One Primary Care Network
Walsall East One covers a GP population size of
approx. 33,000 people and includes the following 8
practices:
01GP – Dr N Dubb & Partners, Streets Corner
Surgery
02Gp – Dr Nambisan Surgery, Chapel Street
03GP – High Street Surgery, Pelsall Village, Drs
Sameja and AS Khan
04GP – Holland Park Surgery
05GP – New Road Medical Centre
06GP – Parkside Medical Practice
07GP – St John’s Medical Centre
08GP – Walsall Wood Health Centre, Lichfield Road
The Clinical Director of Walsall East One PCN is Dr
Sandeep Kaul from New Road Surgery.
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East Two Primary Care Network
Walsall East Two covers a GP population size of
approx. 42,000 people and includes the following 5
practices:
01GP – Blackwood Health Centre
02GP – Collingwood Family Practice
03GP – Northgate Medical Centre
04Gp – Portland Medical Practice
05Gp – Rushall Medical Centre
The Clinical Director of Walsall East Two PCN is Dr
Francois Bolliger from Northgate Practice.

South One Primary Care Network
Walsall South One covers a GP population size of
approx. 43,000 people and includes the following 9
practices:
01GP – Ambar Medical Centre
02GP – Beechdale Centre
03GP – Brace Street Health Centre, Dr A Sinha
04GP – Brace Street Health Centre, Dr Mahbub
05GP – Brace Street Health Centre, Kumar
06GP – Forrester Street Medical Centre
07GP – Little London Surgery
08GP – Pleck Health Centre
09GP – Saddlers Health Centre
The Clinical Director of Walsall South One PCN is
Dr Riaz Ahmed from Little London Surgery.
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South Two Primary Care Network
Walsall South Two covers a GP population
size of approx. 40,000 people and includes
the following 6 practices:
01GP – Broadway Medical Centre
02GP – Lichfield St Surgery
03GP – Palfrey Health Centre
04GP – St Peter’s Surgery
05GP – Sycamore House Medical Centre
06GP – The Limes Medical Centre
The Clinical Director of Walsall South Two
PCN is Dr Ryan Hobson from Lichfield
Street.

West One Primary Care Network
Walsall West One covers a GP population
size of approx. 32,000 people and includes
the following 6 practices:
01GP – Kingfisher Berkley Practice
02GP – Darlaston Family Practice
03GP – Darlaston Health Centre, Dr N Khan
04GP – Modality Darlaston Practice
05GP – New Invention Health Centre
06GP – Stroud Practice, Bentley Medical
Centre
The Clinical Director of Walsall West One
PCN is Dr Ravinder Sandhu from Kingfisher
Berkley Practice.
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West Two Primary Care Network
Walsall West Two covers a GP population size
of approx. 46,000 people and includes the
following 8 practices:
01GP – Croft Street Surgery
02GP – Drs Ali and Syed Surgery
03GP – Lockfield Surgery
04GP – Lockstown Practice
05GP – Moxley Medical Centre
06GP – Rough Hay Surgery
07GP – Sina Health Centre
08GP – The Keys Family Practice
The Clinical Director of Walsall West Two PCN
is Dr Shadia Abdalla from Lockfield Surgery.
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2.8 Primary Care Commissioning
2.8.1 Introduction and Overview
From 1 April 2016, the CCG received full delegation to commission general medical
services from NHS England so that we could focus on ensuring that we deliver high
quality primary care services for our local population. The Primary Care
Commissioning Committee was established to fulfil our delegated commissioning
functions. The Committee now meets in public on a bi-monthly basis, and all papers
are published on the CCG’s website.
2019/20 saw the establishment of seven primary care networks across Walsall.
These networks will build on current primary care services and will work alongside
colleagues from the hospital, community and social care sectors to provide more
personalised, coordinated care for patients in Walsall.
This year also saw the introduction of a local “primary care offer” which was
developed alongside GP and public health colleagues to improve the health
outcomes for our patients.

2.8.2 Primary Care Commissioning Committee
The Primary Care Commissioning Committee has overseen a number of
improvements and implementation of initiatives during 2019/20, such as:


Significantly increased the number of GP practices offering online
consultation services to patients (45 practices now offer this service with a
further three due to go live).



NHS111 can now book some patients directly into their GP practice for
appointments if clinically appropriate.



Three-year rolling programme of GP Practice Contract visits was completed:
a new clinically led visiting programme is now under development.



Launched a revised primary care offer (PCO) which included components on
access, multi-disciplinary team working, end of life care, and support to the
right care programme. Key areas where improvement has been seen since
the introduction of the PCO include:
- identifying and supporting an additional 5000 carers
- implementing a frailty specification that has resulted in over 8000
moderately frail and 3000 severely frail people having a discussion
about falls and a medication review
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- over 600 patients with osteoporosis being added to the register,
ensuring appropriate treatment is offered


Seven Primary Care Networks were established in Walsall and they have
recruited additional clinical pharmacists and social prescribing link workers to
support patients in general practice.



A comprehensive development programme for Primary Care Networks was
supported



Primary Care Networks are building strong relationships with partners and
are working with the wider system in preparation to deliver the National
Network Contract Service Specifications agreed for 2020/21



An STP-wide programme of support was made available to GPs, Practice
Nurses and Practice Managers including an opportunity for peer mentoring



Walsall saw an increase in the number of local GPs accessing STP-wide
workforce programmes to recruit and retain GPs in the Black Country and
West Birmingham, with specific programmes aimed at GPs throughout their
professional career



Premises development at Forrester Street commenced in January 2020



An assurance process was developed and undertaken to allow for the
transfer of the extended access service to PCNs. The transfer will ensure that
the service is better connected to Walsall GP practices from April 2020.

2.8.3 Access
The extended access service has continued to provide 700-850 extra GP and
healthcare professional appointments each week across Walsall. The appointments
are held at four hubs across Walsall between 6.30pm-9.00pm, every weekday and at
two of the hubs between 10.00am-3.00pm on a weekend. The service also provides
appointments on bank holidays between 11.00am and 1.30pm. Utilization of the
available appointments is extremely high and patients rate the service highly.
During 2019-20, the CCG have worked with the local Primary Care Networks to
enable them to provide the service from April 2020 to increase the integration of the
extended access service with core GP services and the wider health system.
Development work to enhance the services provided within the extended access
service and integrate it with other services will take place during 2020/21.

2.8.4 Primary Care Offer
A Primary Care Offer (PCO) was launched for 2019/20 covering 12 specifications to
improve patient care in General Practice.
Training was provided to support implementation and increase subject knowledge.
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The CCG produced a reporting tool to allow practices to track their performance
against all elements of the PCO.
Some of the areas where improvements were made through the implementation of
the PCO include:


Osteoporosis – Just over 3,500 people with osteoporosis were identified on
practice registers in April 2019, and as of February 2020 this has increased to
over 4,300 people. This will help practices provide the care and support these
patients need.



Carers – Carer identification has increased from 4,200 people in April 2019 to
8,400 as of February 2020. These carers are being offered the flu vaccine,
holistic assessment and smoking cessation advice, if applicable.



End of Life – Practices are currently managing to best practice standards,
with under 2,000 people at end of life.



Frailty – The percentage of patients with moderate frailty who have received
a medication review, Summary Care Record (SCR) recorded and have had a
falls discussion, has increased from very low levels in April 2019 to 3,000



Preconception support and Smoke Free Homes advice – Just under 4,000
people have been given preconception or Smoke Free Homes advice

The CCG is currently working on revising the PCO for 2020/21 to enhance and
extend the benefits for the people of Walsall.

2.8.5 Quality and Safety in General Practice
Walsall CCG actively encourages GP Practices to report any issues of quality and
safety to the Quality team through Quality Concerns or direct to the Quality Team
that are reviewed and actioned accordingly.
The Quality Team forward on any concerns to the appropriate provider requesting an
investigation is undertaken and logged for theming and trend analysis. If there are
any immediate concerns that compromise patient’s safety, the Quality Team carry
out an immediate visit to review the service for assurance and immediate actions.
Within Primary Care, there has been a noted improvement with practices reporting
incidents to the CCG to ensure they are investigated appropriately, and that learning
is shared with other Practices. The CCG supports practices in undertaking a
thorough investigation involving any services which may have been involved in the
persons care which may be pivotal to the investigation, hence a multi-agency
approach. Any learning from investigations is then shared with practices through
appropriate communication forums.
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The CCG is in the process of rolling out Datix (incident reporting system) within
Primary Care that will not only enable GPs to report incidents to the CCG, but also
for the CCG to have an oversight of any incidents that require investigating or
theming for trends.
In 2019/20, the CCG worked collaboratively to implement Integrated Primary Care
Assurance visits within practices. These will commence in 2020/21.
The collaborative approach with Quality, Commissioning, Infection Control,
Medicines Management and Healthwatch enables the CCG to identify and support
work with providers to improve the care and experience of patients, as well as
reduce the amount of visits practices receive.
At the request of GP’s, the Quality Team have undertaken a number of quality visits
throughout 2019/20 who have a CQC rating of ‘Inadequate’ or ‘Requires
improvement’. Where visits have identified quality and safety concerns, they are
flagged with the practice and monitored by the Quality Team in the form of an action
plan.

2.8.6 Investing in our Primary Care Workforce
Investment in our primary care workforce has been made through protected learning
events for GPs, Practice Managers and Practice Nurses; the GP resilience
programme; the Black Country and West Birmingham STP retention intensive
support programme, and Primary Care Network development.

2.8.7 Primary Care Contracting
The CCG as commissioner of primary medical care is responsible for the quality,
safety and performance of services delivered by providers.
The CCG has a statutory duty to conduct an annual review of every primary medical
care contract it holds via the annual GP practice self-declaration and through a
three-year rolling programme of deep dive contract reviews.
The contract monitoring approach creates a balance of support, oversight and
intervention where necessary.
The CCG has worked with the Local Medical Committee to create a culture of
openness and transparency and a vehicle to promote peer-to-peer improvement.
All but one of the 52 GP practices has received a deep dive contract review and
practices have demonstrated high levels of compliance with their contractual
requirements.
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2.8.8 Primary Care Workforce – working with
CCGs across the Black Country and West
Birmingham
The Black Country and West Birmingham STP GP Retention Intensive Support Site
journey started in July 2018. Following a series of co-designed events with GPs
across the STP, the initial focus was to develop four main local schemes to tackle
the highest priority issues that mattered to GPs at the time as well as fully promoting
and supporting nationally available schemes available.
The schemes are evaluated through a variety of techniques including case studies,
metric dashboard, evaluation surveys and an end of year celebration event.
For 2019/20 a range of schemes were made available to GPs and General Practice
Nurses (GPNs):


Portfolio careers for GPs and GPNs



GP First 5s and GP Networks



Peer mentoring for GPs and GPNs



Incentivising GP legacy and welcome back scheme



GPN champions



Funding for new to practice GPs and GPNs



GP mid-career scheme

The schemes were widely promoted in Walsall. For 2019-20, Walsall GPs and GPNs
percentage of uptake in the schemes has been:


Portfolio careers: 33% GPs



Peer mentoring: 26% GPs and 18% GPNs



Nurse Forum: 35% GPNs



GP mid careers: 8% GPs



First 5s: 20% GPs

2.8.9 Primary Care Networks
In The NHS Long Term Plan, Primary Care Networks (PCNs) are seen as an
essential building block of every Integrated Care System, and under the Network
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Contract Direct Enhanced Service (DES), general practice takes the leading role in
every PCN.
This will mean much closer working between PCNs and their Integrated Care
System, not just their Clinical Commissioning Group.
PCNs are intended to dissolve the historic divide between primary and community
health services.
The Network Contract DES is an extension of the core GP contract. It is established
in accordance with Directions given to NHS England. CCGs (through delegated
functions from NHS England) are required to offer the Network Contract DES to all
GP practices.
2019/20 is the first year of the Network Contract DES and a development year
focused on PCNs getting set up, maturing, recruiting additional roles, and being
ready to deliver the new national service specifications that come into force on 1
April 2020.
All of the 52 GP practices in Walsall have signed up to the Network Contract DES
and are geographically aligned to seven PCNs.
PCN governance structures are in place and PCNs are working on recruiting further
new roles in line with the GP contract agreement for 2020/21 to 2023/24.
The seven Clinical Directors of the PCNs are working collaboratively with Walsall
Healthcare Trust Community Services and Walsall Local Authority with the aim of
delivering improved services for patients, reducing pressure on General Practice and
providing better access to primary care appointments.

3. Accountability Report
The purpose of the accountability section in our annual report is to meet key
accountability requirements to Parliament. These requirements are set out in the
companies Act 2006 and associated Statutory Instruments with a separate Directors’
Report (Members and Remuneration Report). The requirements of the companies
Act 2006 have been adapted for the public sector and only need to be followed by
entities, which are not companies to the extent that they are relevant.
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3.1 Corporate Governance Report
Members Report
Walsall CCG is a clinically led membership organisation made up of 52 practices that
are set out into four geographical areas. Each locality has an elected clinical lead
that represents their locality practices on the Governing Body (the Board of the
CCG). In July 2019, each of the GP practices began working together and formed
seven Primary Care Networks.
Member Profiles
The Governing Body membership comprises of clinical, lay and executive directors
who are all voting members.
Name
Dr Anand Rischie
Mr Paul Maubach
Mr Matthew Hartland
Mrs Sarah Shingler
Mr Paul Tulley
Mrs Donna Macarthur
Dr Joo Ee Teoh
Dr Harinder Baggri
Dr Hammad Lodhi
Dr Sandeep Kaul
Dr Nasir Asghar
Dr Ravinder Shandu
Dr Amrit Khera
Mr Mike Abel
Mr Gulfam Wali*
Mr Manjit Jhooty
Miss Rachel Barber
Dr Parijat De**

Job Title
Clinical Chair
Accountable Officer
Chief Finance Officer
Chief Nursing Officer/Director of Quality
Director of Commissioning
Director of Primary Care and Integration
Clinical Executive Integrated Assurance
Clinical Executive Primary Care Commissioning
Clinical Executive Commissioning
East Locality Lead
North Locality Lead
West Locality Lead
South Locality Lead
Lay Member Commissioning
Lay Member PPI
Lay Member Audit and Governance
Lay Member PPI
Secondary Care Consultant

*Mr Gulfam Wali tenure of post ended in September 2019.
**Dr Parijat De resigned in October 2019.
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Member Practices
Walsall CCG comprises of 52 member practices in the borough of Walsall. More
information on our member practices can be found online
Name of Member
Practice

Address

Parkside Medical
Practice
St John’s Medical
Centre
Street Corner Surgery

Chester Road North,
Brownhills
High St, Walsall Wood

Chapel Street Surgery
New Road Medical
Centre
Holland Park Surgery
Walsall Wood Health
Centre
Pelsall Village Surgery

Collingwood Practice
Rushall Medical
Centre
Blackwood Health
Centre
Northgate Practice
Portland Medical
Practice

Dr Khan & Dr Qureshi
Practice
Stroud Practice
New Invention Health
Centre
Modality Darlaston
Practice
Darlaston Family
Practice
Kingfisher Berkley
Practice

79-81 Lichfield Road,
Walsall Wood
1 Chapel Street, Pelsall
Chester Road North,
Brownhills
Chester Road North,
Brownhills
77 Lichfield Road, Walsall

Primary Care
Network

East 1
Clinical Director:
Dr Sandeep Kaul

High Street, Walsall

Collingwood Drive, Great
Barr
107 Lichfield Road
Blackwood Road, Streetly

East 2
Clinical Director:
Dr Francois Bolliger

Westfield Drive, Walsall
Anchor Meadow, Aldridge

Pinfold Street, Wednesbury
Churchill Road, Bentley
66 Cannock Road,
Willenhall
Pinfold Street, Wednesbury

West 1
Clinical Director:
Dr Ravinder Sandhu

Pinfold Street, Darlaston
Churchill Road, Bentley
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Name of Member
Practice

Address

Sina Health Centre

230 Coppice Farm Way,
Willenhall
Gomer Street, Willenhall
Field Street, Willenhall
44b Rough Hay Road,
Darlaston
10 Green Street, Moxley
Birmingham Street,
Darlaston
Gomer Street, Willenhall
Gomer Street, Willenhall

Lockstown Practice
Keys Practice
Rough Hay Surgery
Moxley Medical Centre
Darlaston Medical
Centre
Croft Surgery
Lockfield Surgery

Khan Medical Practice
St Luke’s Surgery
Blakenall Practice
Mossley Fields
Surgery
Pinfold Medical
Practice
Bloxwich Medical
Practice
Lower Farm Health
Centre
St Mary’s Surgery
Leamore Medical
Centre
Birchills Health Centre

Little London Surgery
Brace Street Health
Centre
Saddlers Health
Centre
Beechdale Health
Centre
Forrester Street
Surgery
Pleck Health Centre
Brace Street Dr Kumar
Brace Street Dr
Mehbub
Ambar Medical Centre

Primary Care
Network

West 2
Clinical Director:
Dr Shadia Abdalla

Field Road, Walsall
Pinfold Health Centre, Field
Road
79 Thames Road, Walsall
3 Fisher Road, Walsall
Field Road, Bloxwich
North
Field Road, Bloxwich
109 Buxton Road, Bloxwich

Clinical Director:
Dr Nasir Asghar

Field Road, Bloxwich
Harden Road, Bloxwich
23-27 Old Birchills, Walsall

Little London, Walsall
63 Brace Street, Walsall
133 Hatherton Street,
Walsall
Edison Road, Walsall
1 Forrester Street, Walsall

South 1
Clinical Director:
Dr Riaz Ahmed

16 Oxford Street, Walsall
63 Brace Street, Walsall
63 Brace Street, Walsall
151 Wednesbury Road,
Walsall
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Name of Member
Practice
St Peter’s Surgery
Broadway Medical
Centre
Lichfield Street
Surgery
Palfrey Health Centre
Sycamore House
Medical Centre
Limes Medical Centre

Address

Primary Care
Network

51 Leckie Road, Walsall
213 Broadway, Walsall
South 2
19 Lichfield Street, Walsall
151 Wednesbury Road,
Walsall
111 Birmingham Road,
Walsall
5 Birmingham Road, Walsall

Clinical Director:
Dr Ryan Hobson

Governing Body
The Governing Body is responsible in law for ensuring that the CCG exercises its
functions effectively, efficiently and economically in accordance with the principles of
good governance. It does this by setting the vision and strategy, budgets and
commissioning plans to ensure services are commissioned effectively in order to
achieve the vision of improving health and wellbeing for Walsall.
The Governing Body worked with the Good Governance Institute to review the
governance arrangements in regards to membership, the importance of the skill set
of the clinical and locality role, partnership working with the Local Authority and the
appropriateness of the subcommittee structure. Members supported the proposal for
a revision to the Governing Body membership and a move to a bi-monthly reporting
committee structure where, to generate more clinical and executive capacity for the
place based care model ‘Walsall Together’ and participation in the Black Country
and West Birmingham STP. These changes were implemented through the spring
and summer of 2019.
The main changes to the Governing Body committees are to integrate the quality,
safety and performance assurance into one committee known as the Integrated
Assurance Committee. The remit of the other committees were changed to reflect
the future commissioning requirements across the system.
The committees now comprise of:


Integrated Assurance Committee;



Finance and Investment Committee;



Audit and Governance Committee;



Remuneration and Human Resources Committee;



Policy and Commissioning Committee;



Primary Care Commissioning Committee.
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The Governing Body membership for 2019/20 is set out in the member profile table,
which includes all voting members. More information on the Governing Body
members can be found on the CCG website.
The governing body also invites a representative from Healthwatch as a participating
attendee. There are partnership arrangements with Local Authority and public health
colleagues, which contribute to informed collaborative discussion and decisionmaking.
Committee(s), including Audit Committee
Register of Interests
Walsall CCG maintains a register of interest for its members, staff and committee
members on its website: Declaration of interest register.
Personal data related incidents
During 2019/20, Walsall CCG has not had any personal data related incidents that
required formal reporting to the Information Commissioners Office.
Statement of Disclosure to Auditors
Each individual who is a member of the CCG at the time the Members’ Report is
approved confirms:
•

So far as the member is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which
the CCG’s auditor is unaware that would be relevant for the purposes of their
audit report

•

The member has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken in order to
make him or herself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish
that the CCG’s auditor is aware of it.

Modern Slavery Act
Walsall CCG fully supports the Government’s objectives to eradicate modern slavery
and human trafficking. Our Slavery and Human Trafficking Statement for the
financial year ending 31 March 2020, is published on our website: Modern Slavery
Statement.
Health and Safety
The CCG is fully committed to providing a vibrant working environment that values
wellbeing and diversity. The organisation recognises wider legal and moral obligation
to provide a safe and healthy working environment for its employees, visitors and
members of the public that may be affected by its activities. This has been
demonstrated through the organisations statement of intent, organisational structure
and arrangements for the management of its legal duties in line with the
requirements outlined in the Health and Safety at Work Act 1974.
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The CCG has implemented a Health and Safety Policy and Management system.
The internal audit report gave significant assurance and covered the following topics:
1. The CCG has an approved and legally compliant Health and Safety Policy
and guidance/procedures setting out requirements for managers and
employees regarding Health and Safety risk assessments and incident
reporting.
2. Risk assessments are carried out in compliance with the policy and
procedures.
3. Suitable steps are taken to ensure risks identified in risk assessments are
appropriately and properly addressed.
4. Suitable processes regarding incident reporting are followed and opportunities
are taken to learn lessons from incidents.
5. All employees are up to date with relevant health and safety training
requirements which is monitored
6. The CCG is assured on compliance with the above objectives with regular
reports to the Governing Body, sub committees and senior management.
These audit results show that NHS Walsall Clinical Commissioning Group has
promoted a positive culture and pro-active stance on health and safety that aims to
promote excellence and an accountable approach to manage statutory duties
imposed on the Clinical Commissioning Group.
Complaints
A complaint is an expression of dissatisfaction, however made, about the standard of
service, actions or lack of action by the service or its staff requiring investigation and
formal, written response within the statutory complaints regulations.
A total of 139 complaints, including 31 concerns and MP enquires were received
during 2019/20. 42 formal complaints were dealt with by the CCG, five of which were
re-opened cases. 97 out of the 139 complaints were re-directed to appropriate
organisations.
This year has seen the introduction four new categories for complaints. There were
five complaints for access to buildings and one complaint in each of the following:
communication, delay of medical supplies, health and safety and patient records.
The biggest increase in complaints was for access to services, which received nine
complaints; the greatest decrease in the number of complaints was for poor service.
The majority of complaints were redirected to Walsall Healthcare Trust who provide
acute and community care services. There are also a significant number of
redirections to NHS England, who are responsible for dealing with complaints
regarding primary care services. One complaint was withdrawn.
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Complainants who remain dissatisfied on conclusion of Local Resolution can seek
Independent Review by the Parliamentary and Health Service Ombudsman in
accordance with statutory regulations and guidance. The CCG has not received any
Ombudsman requests or referrals.
Effectiveness of whistleblowing arrangements
Walsall CCG has revised the Whistleblowing policy and in line with the latest
guidance has nominated the Audit Chair to be the ‘Speak up Guardian’ for the
organisation. There has been one whistleblowing report during 2019/20. This was
investigated in line with the policy and reported to the Remuneration and HR
committee for assurance that the correct process was followed. The policy was
reviewed with amendments to wording for added clarity.
All reports made through the whistleblowing policy are handled in line with the policy
and reported to the Remuneration and Human Resources Committee where
compliance with the process is monitored.
The investigation focuses on improving the service and identification for
improvements which are shared appropriately across the organisation. Robust
measures are in place to ensure anonymity is maintained at all times. The Governing
Body would receive high level detail through the assurance report. Where relevant
the Audit and Governance Committee would seek additional assurance if there were
outstanding risks or issues.

3.1.1 Statement of Accountable Officer’s
Responsibilities
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical
Commissioning Group shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be
appointed by the NHS Commissioning Board (NHS England). NHS England has
appointed the Accountable Officer to be the Accountable Officer of Walsall CCG.
The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer are set out under the National Health
Service Act 2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and in the Clinical
Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. They include
responsibilities for:
•

The propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable
Officer is answerable,

•

For keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable
accuracy at any time the financial position of the Clinical Commissioning
Group and enable them to ensure that the accounts comply with the
requirements of the Accounts Direction),
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•

For safeguarding the Clinical Commissioning Group’s assets (and hence for
taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other
irregularities).

•

The relevant responsibilities of accounting officers under Managing Public
Money,

•

Ensuring the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and
economically (in accordance with Section 14Q of the National Health Service
Act 2006 (as amended)) and with a view to securing continuous improvement
in the quality of services (in accordance with Section14R of the National
Health Service Act 2006 (as amended),

•

Ensuring that the CCG complies with its financial duties under Sections 223H
to 223J of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).

Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has
directed each Clinical Commissioning Group to prepare for each financial year a
statement of accounts in the form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction.
The accounts are prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Clinical Commissioning Group and of its income and
expenditure, Statement of Financial Position and cash flows for the financial year.
In preparing the accounts, the Accountable Officer is required to comply with the
requirements of the Government Financial Reporting Manual and in particular to:
•

Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the
relevant accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable
accounting policies on a consistent basis;

•

Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis;

•

State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Government
Financial Reporting Manual have been followed, and disclose and explain any
material departures in the accounts; and,

•

Prepare the accounts on a going concern basis; and

•

Confirm that the Annual Report and Accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and
understandable and take personal responsibility for the Annual Report and
Accounts and the judgements required for determining that it is fair, balanced
and understandable.

As the Accountable Officer, I have taken all the steps that I ought to have taken to
make myself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that our
external auditors, CW are aware of that information. As far as I am aware, there is no
relevant audit information of which the auditors are unaware.
I also confirm that:
•

As far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the
CCG’s auditors are unaware, and that as Accountable Officer, I have taken all
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the steps that I ought to have taken to make myself aware of any relevant
audit information and to establish that the CCG’s auditors are aware of that
information.

Paul Maubach
Accountable Officer
24 June 2020

3.1.2 Governance Statement
Walsall CCG is a body corporate established by NHS England on 1 April 2013 under
the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).
The CCG’s statutory functions are set out under the National Health Service Act
2006 (as amended). The CCG’s general function is arranging the provision of
services for persons for the purposes of the health service in England. The CCG is,
in particular, required to arrange for the provision of certain health services to such
extent as it considers necessary to meet the reasonable requirements of its local
population.
As at 1 April 2019, the CCG is not subject to any directions from NHS England
issued under Section 14Z21 of the National Health Service Act 2006.
Scope of responsibility
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of
internal control that supports the achievement of the CCG’s policies, aims and
objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and assets for which I am personally
responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me in Managing
Public Money. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out under the National
Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) and in my Clinical Commissioning Group
Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.
I am responsible for ensuring that the clinical commissioning group is administered
prudently and economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively,
safeguarding financial propriety and regularity. I also have responsibility for
reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal control within the clinical
commissioning group as set out in this governance statement.
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Governance arrangements and effectiveness
The main function of the governing body is to ensure that the group has made
appropriate arrangements for ensuring that it exercises its functions effectively,
efficiently and economically and complies with such generally accepted principles of
good governance as are relevant to it.
The Constitution
The CCG will at all times observe such generally accepted principles of good
governance in the way it conducts its business. Reference is made to the seven key
principles of the NHS Constitution, the Good Governance Standard for Public
Services, the ‘Nolan Principles’, Standards for Members of NHS Boards and Clinical
Commissioning Group Governing Bodies in England and the Equality Act 2010. The
CCG will expect the highest standards of propriety involving, integrity and objectivity
in relation to the stewardship of public funds, the management of the organisation
and the conduct of its business.
At the start of the year the governing body comprised of four executive directors, an
elected Clinical Chair, three appointed clinical executives, four elected clinical leads,
four appointed lay members and an appointed secondary care consultation (vacant
at the time of writing the report). It is through the composition of its membership, its
meetings in public and the publication of key documentation that the CCG is able to
demonstrate its accountability to its members, the public, its stakeholders and NHS
England. The CCG expects the highest standards of propriety involving, integrity and
objectivity in relation to the stewardship of public funds, the management of the
organisation and the conduct of its business.
Walsall CCG Governing Body shall be responsible for and shall be delegated by its
Member Practices the power to conduct the overall management and strategic
direction of Walsall CCG and the achievement or furtherance of the functions.
The Governing Body has detailed in the Scheme of Reservation and Delegation, the
committees and their delegated responsibilities and accountabilities. Each terms of
reference for these committees details the frequency and communication of activity
with the Governing Body. Each Governing Body committee has clinical
representation and an Executive Director from the Governing Body within the
committee membership. Each member practice is part of a locality group which has
a Locality Lead representing their group at the Governing Body. Decisions are taken
by Governing Body consensus and if this is not possible, a vote is taken.
Walsall CCG has the following values which govern our wider approach to
commissioning; these values are part of our strategies.


Respect and value people – individuals are at the core of what we do.



Listen to local people – We are committed to involving patients, clinicians
and communities in the design and improvement of their services.
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Clinical leadership - We recognise and embrace the need for clinical
leadership in service planning and redesign to ensure highest levels of quality,
safety and efficiency.



Clear accountability and transparency – We value feedback and a clear
sense of personal accountability and responsibility.



Innovation – We will make the best use of all new technology, particularly
striving to be at the forefront of innovation in exploitation of information
technology.



Prevention – We will prevent poor health starting early with families, children
and young people.



Partnership – We will work closely with our partners in health, local authority
and voluntary sectors to ensure a holistic approach to promoting health and
equality in the community.



‘Public Value’ - through our commissioning and procurements arrangements
we will promote the creation of public value as measured by the social,
economic and environmental impact on the community.

The revised constitution, which adopts the 2018 model constitution and the
recommendations from the governance review by the Good Governance Institute, is
with NHS England for approval. The committee structure and functions were
refreshed and reflected in the scheme of reservation and delegation.
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Corporate Objectives
The Governing Body refreshed the corporate objectives in March 2019 setting out
the priorities in each area with an end of year measure. Each objective was broken
down in to a number of priorities with an executive director lead. The assurance
framework was refreshed to incorporate these changes:
1.

Create a local health and care service with our partners

2.

Make sure that the services we buy are of good quality, delivered safely
and perform well

3.

Ensure effective delivery of our Statutory Duties

4.

Manage the money well

5.

Make sure the CCG is the best we can be

6.

Work well with the Local Authority

7.

Work with the Black Country and West Birmingham CCGs and providers
to provide joined up health services where it is best for the public

8.

Develop IT systems to make a real difference to patient care.

Information about the membership body and governing body
The CCG is a clinically led membership organisation which is comprised of 52
general practices which make up the membership. The constitution sets out the
governance and decision-making arrangements for the organisation, as well as
describing the arrangements for carrying out its statutory duties.
The Governing Body meets in public six times a year. In March 2019, the CCG
called an extraordinary Governing Body meeting to approve the contracts for
2019/20, the financial plans, operational plan and the corporate objectives.
In January and March 2020 the Governing Body met in common with the three other
Governing Bodies from the Black Country and West Birmingham. Common agenda
items included arrangements for the single executive and governance structure.
During 2019 the Governing body reviewed its Governance arrangements and from
August 2019 comprised of three selected clinical executives who take a lead on
commissioning, primary care and quality, four elected GP locality leads that
represent the membership and contribute to the clinical leadership of the CCG.
There are also three lay members who bring specific expertise and experience to the
Governing Body with lead areas in commissioning, audit and governance and patient
and public participation, that is impartial, and aims to bring an external view that is
removed from in the operational day-to-day business of the CCG. An out of area
secondary care consultant post, which is currently vacant, adds an independent
clinical perspective to the scrutiny process.

69

The Governing Body has delegated specific duties to a number of committees that
report their progress and activity at each Governing Body meeting.
The Governing Body Committees are as follows:
The Integrated Assurance Committee is required to give assurance to the
Governing Body that robust governance and management processes are in place to
manage performance and risk (including patient safety, clinical effectiveness, patient
experience and quality of care) across the full range of services commissioned by
the CCG; to report regularly; and to bring to the attention of the Governing Body any
significant emerging issues.
The Finance and Investment Committee will oversee all aspects of the financial
arrangements of the group, oversee the contracts and ensure suitable information
systems are in place to support the business interests of the group. It is responsible
for independently contributing to the Governing Body’s overall process for ensuring
that the effective scrutiny and control of in year financial performance in terms of
revenue, capital and cash is maintained. It contributes to the Governing Body’s
overall process for ensuring that contracts are awarded, monitored and performance
managed appropriately which includes a robust process to ensure the delivery of
QIPP schemes.
The Policy and Commissioning Committee role is to oversee the delivery of the
commissioning strategy, create in partnership with relevant committees the
commissioning intentions for the CCG and oversee and inform the integrated
commissioning agenda. The committee will provide assurance and update the
governing body on relevant matters relating to the quality innovation productivity and
prevention programme (QIPP). It will oversee all aspects of clinical development
within the group and give detailed consideration to the group’s commissioning issues
including its procurement of, and investment (or disinvestment) in, commissioned
services, and any equality and diversity implications arising from these plans.
The aim for the Primary Care Commissioning Committee is to commission
primary care medical services for the people of Walsall registered within the Walsall
CCG member practice geographical area. The committee will make collective
decisions on the review, planning and procurement of primary care services in
Walsall under delegated authority from NHS England.
The Remuneration and Human Resources Committee is responsible for making
recommendations to the Governing Body on the appropriate remuneration and terms
of service for the employees of the CCG and people who provide services to the
CCG. The human resources includes the organisational agenda which is
fundamental in the driving forward the Organisational Development agenda,
particularly by bringing in experience and expertise of non-executive directors to the
consideration of our organisational culture, memory and strategic goals.
The Audit and Governance Committee is a mandatory committee of the CCG. Its
key function is to independently contribute to the Governing Body’s overall process
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for ensuring that an effective governance, risk management and internal control
system is maintained.
The Black Country Joint Commissioning Committee is established in accordance
with the NHS Dudley CCG constitution, NHS Wolverhampton CCG constitution, NHS
Sandwell and West Birmingham CCG constitution and NHS Walsall CCG
constitution. The purpose of the Joint Commissioning Committee is to establish a
single commissioning view in line with the STP arrangements for key services across
the Black Country through the creation of a Joint Commissioning Committee of the
four CCGs. Individual CCGs will remain accountable for meeting their statutory
duties. Each CCG has nominated its representative members and the Joint
Commissioning Committee will have delegated authority from each CCG to make
binding decisions on behalf of each CCG.
Committee Attendance
All committee members are asked to update on their actions and are encouraged to
submit questions to the chair if they are unable to attend a meeting. The chair will
then include this contribution to the discussion, which is minuted as part of the
meeting.

Governing Body Committee – 6 meetings – member attendance average of 86%
Name

Job Title

From

To

Attendance Apologies DNA
%

Mr Paul Maubach

Accountable
Officer

1 April
2019

31 March
2020

100%

0

0

Dr Anand Rischie

Clinical Chair

1 April
2019

31 March
2020

100%

0

0

Mr Mike Abel

Lay Member
Commissioning
and Primary
Care
Committee
Chair
East Locality
Chair

1 April
2019

31 March
2020

100%

0

0

1 April
2019

31 March
2020

83%

17%

0

North Locality
Chair

1 April
2019

31 March
2020

50%

50%

0

Dr Sandeep Kaul

Dr Nasir Asghar
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Name

Job Title

Dr Joo Teoh

1 April
2019

31 March
2020

1 April
2019

31 July 2019
**

100%

0

0

Dr Rajcholan
Mohan

Clinical
Executive for
Integrated
Assurance
Clinical
Executive
Finance & IT
Medical
Director

1 April
2019

31 July 2019
**

50%

50%

0

Mr Matthew
Hartland

Chief Finance
Officer

1 April
2019

31 March
2020

100%

0%

0

Mr Paul Tulley

Director of
Commissioning

1 April
2019

31 March
2020

100%

0%

0

Professor Simon
Brake

Chief Officer

1 April
2019

31 May 2019
**

100%

0%

0

Dr Ravinder
Sandhu

West Locality
Lead

1 April
2019

31 March
2020

83%

17%

0

Dr Harinder
Baggri

Clinical
Executive
Primary Care
Commissioning
Lay Member
PPI

1 April
2019

31 March
2020

100%

0%

0

1 April
2019

100%

0%

0

Secondary
Care
Consultant
Director of
Primary Care

1 April
2019

30th
September
2019 **
31 July
2019**

50%

50%

0

1 April
2019

31 March
2020

83%

17%

0

Audit Chair
and Lay
Member
Lay Member
PPI and
Integrated
Assurance
Chair

September
2019

31 March
2020

67%

33%

0

1 April
2019

31 March
2020

100%

0%

0

Dr Hewa Vitarana

Mr Gulfam Wali

Dr P De

Mrs Donna
Macarthur

Mr Manjit Jhooty

Miss Rachel
Barber

From

To

Attendance Apologies DNA
%
83%
17%
0
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Name

Job Title

Mrs Sarah
Shingler

Chief Nursing
Officer/Director
of Quality

Dr Lodhi

Dr A Khera

From
1 April
2019

Clinical
1
Executive
September
Commissioning
2019 *
South Locality
1
Chair
September
2019 *

To
31 March
2020

Attendance Apologies DNA
%
100%
0%
0

31 March
2020

100%

0%

0

31 March
2020

50%

50%

0

*New membership: September 2019 - Dr Lodhi and Dr A Khera
**Membership ceased: May 2019 – Professor Simon Brake, July 2019 - Dr P De,
September 2019 – Gulfam Wali, July 19 - Dr Vitarana and Dr Mohan.
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Percentage Attendance for Committees to the Board (excluding the Governing Body
meetings)
Commissioning

Primary Care
Commissioning

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

100%

86%

88%

n/a

100%

80%

n/a

57%

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

100%

57%

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

100%*

n/a

100*

n/a

n/a

67%*

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

75%*

n/a

n/a

90%

n/a

88%

n/a

n/a

n/a

70%

100%

n/a

73%

n/a

n/a

50%*

n/a

n/a

100%

n/a

n/a

West Locality
Lead
Clinical Executive
Primary Care
Commissioning
Lay Member PPI

n/a

43%

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

71%

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

100%*

Director of
Primary Care
Lay Member
Audit and
Governance
Lay Member PPI

n/a

43%

100%

45%

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

36%

83%

100%

n/a

n/a

88%

100%

67%

100%

Chief Nursing
Officer/Director of
Quality
Secondary Care
Consultant
QIPP & PMO
Manager
Consultant Public
Health, Walsall
Council

33%

100%

100%

82%

n/a

n/a

n/a

50%*

60%*

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

71%

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

57%

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

Membership

Job Title

Dr Anand
Rischie
Mr Mike
Abel
Dr Sandeep
Kaul
Dr Nasir
Asghar
Dr Joo Teoh

Clinical Chair

Dr Hewa
Vitarana
Dr
Rajcholan
Mohan
Mr Matthew
Hartland
Mr Paul
Tulley
Professor
Simon
Brake
Dr Ravinder
Sandhu
Dr Harinder
Baggri
Mr Gulfam
Wali
Mrs Donna
Macarthur
Mr Manjit
Jhooty
Miss Rachel
Barber
Mrs Sarah
Shingler
Dr Parijat De
Mr Lee
Dukes
Dr Paulette
Myers

Lay Member
Commissioning
East Locality
Lead
North Locality
Lead
Clinical Executive
for Integrated
Assurance
Clinical Executive
Finance & IT
Medical Director

Chief Finance
Officer
Director of
Commissioning
Chief Officer

Finance
& Investment

Integrated
Assurance

Audit &
Governance

Remuneration
& HR
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Membership

Job Title

Dr Sushma
Manthri
Dr Uma
Viswanathn
Mr Paul
Higgitt
Dr A Khera

Clinical Advisor
Consultant Public
Health
Healthwatch
Manager, Walsall
South Locality
Chair
Clinical Executive
Commissionig

Dr Lodhi

Committee average
attendance

Finance
& Investment

Commissioning

Primary Care
Commissioning

Integrated
Assurance

Audit &
Governance

Remuneration
& HR

n/a

n/a

n/a

89%*

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

64%

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

75%

n/a

n/a

n/a

33% *

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

75%*

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

73%

67%

88%

76%

83%

76%

* The CCG changed the membership and membership of several committees in the
summer of 2019, membership and committee name changes are reflected below:
Commissioning Committee:



Ceased Membership: July - Dr Teoh and Dr De’s.
New membership: July – Dr Lodhi, August 2019 – Dr Khera

Primary Care Commissioning Committee:


Ceased membership: August 2019 - Dr P De.

Remuneration and HR Committee previously known as Remuneration and OD
Committee:


Ceased membership: September 2019 – Gulfam Wali.

Finance and Investment Committee previously known as Finance and Performance
Committee:


Ceased Membership, June 2019 - Simon Brake. July 2019 - Dr Hewa Vitarana,
and Mrs Sarah Shingler

Integrated Assurance Committee previously known as Quality and Safety Committee



Ceased Membership: June 2019 – Simon Brake. July 2019 - Paul Higgit and Dr
R Mohan, December 2019 – Dr S Manthri.
New membership: August 2019 - Dr Joo Teoh.
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Joint Commissioning Committee
*Membership period

Total no. of No. of
Committee
attendance meetings attendance
%

Name and Job Title
Dr Salma Reehana,
Chair Wolverhampton CCG (Chair)
David Hegarty,
Chair Dudley CCG (*April - May) LTS
Dr Ruth Edwards
Clinical Executive for Integrated Assurance,
Dudley CCG (*February - March)
Dr Anand Rischie,
Chair Walsall CCG
Prof Nick Harding,
Chair, Sandwell & West Birmingham CCG
(*April - July)
Ian Sykes,
Chair Sandwell and West Birmingham CCG
(*July - March)
Paul Maubach,
Accountable Officer for Black Country and West
Birmingham CCGs
Andy Williams,
Accountable Officer, Sandwell & West
Birmingham CCG (*April - May)
Sharon Liggins,
Chief Operating Officer, Sandwell and West
Birmingham CCG (*June - March)
Dr Helen Hibbs,
Accountable Officer, Wolverhampton CCG
(*April - September)
Julie Jasper,
Lay Member Sandwell and West Birmingham
CCG
Mike Abel,
Lay Member Walsall CCG
Peter Price,
Lay Member Wolverhampton CCG
Helen Moseley,
Lay Member Dudley CCG
Matthew Hartland,
Chief Finance and Operating Officer, Dudley
CCG; Strategic Chief Finance Officer Walsall
and Wolverhampton CCG’s
James Green,
Chief Finance Officer Sandwell & West
Birmingham CCG

8

11

73%

2

2

100%

5

5

100%

9

11

82%

3

4

75%

8

8

100%

9

11

82%

2

2

100%

7

9

78%

5

6

83%

10

11

91%

10

11

91%

6

11

55%

6

11

55%

10

11

91%

11

11

100%
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Committee

Highlights

Safety and Quality

Integrated Assurance Committee (IAC) developed to include
performance, Quality and Safety.
 IAC Terms of Reference agreed together with definitions of
levels of Assurance Framework.
 Format for reporting agreed and pathway of escalation to
Governing Body
 Annual schedule of reporting agreed
 Integrated Assurance Operational Group (IAOG) developed;
Terms of Reference agreed and report to IAC.

Finance and
Performance






Contractual timetable plan
Successful agreement of 2019/20 contracts
Finance report and challenge thereof
Continued monitoring and improvement of A&E & RTT
trajectories and performance

Audit and
Governance



Received the 2018/19 external audit report and approved
the accounts and annual report
Received internal audit reports giving assurance on
systems and processes
Reviewed and made recommendations to the risk
management arrangements, Assurance Framework and
Committees risk registers
Received assurance on the compliance for health and
safety, information governance including the data security
and protection toolkit submission and Emergency
Preparedness, Resilience and Response (EPRR) including
the core standards submission.





Commissioning
Committee








Primary Care
Commissioning
Committee




Oversight of delivery of key corporate objectives delegated
to the Committee by the Governing Body
Achieved the Committee QIPP target
Received regular reports on implementation of the CCG
Digital Programme
Received regular reports on the development of the Walsall
Together programme
Agreed Terms of Reference for the Walsall Joint
Commissioning Committee
Led procurement of IVF service on behalf of BCWB CCGs

Significantly increased the number of GP practices offering
online consultation services to patients (45 practices now
offer this service with a further three due to go live).
NHS111 can now book some patients directly into their GP
practice for appointments if clinically appropriate.
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Three-year rolling programme of GP Practice Contract
visits was completed: a new clinically led visiting
programme is now under development.
Launched a revised primary care offer (PCO) which
included components on access, multi-disciplinary team
working, end of life care, and support to the right care
programme. Key areas where improvement has been seen
since the introduction of the PCO include:
- identifying and supporting an additional 5000
carers
- implementing a frailty specification that has
resulted in over 8000 moderately frail and 3000
severely frail people having a discussion about
falls and a medication review
- over 600 patients with osteoporosis being added
to the register, ensuring appropriate treatment is
offered
Seven Primary Care Networks were established in Walsall
and they have recruited additional clinical pharmacists and
social prescribing link workers to support patients in
general practice.
A comprehensive development programme for Primary
Care Networks was supported
Primary Care Networks are building strong relationships
with partners and are working with the wider system in
preparation to deliver the National Network Contract
Service Specifications agreed for 2020/21
An STP-wide programme of support was made available to
GPs, Practice Nurses and Practice Managers including an
opportunity for peer mentoring
Walsall saw an increase in the number of local GPs
accessing STP-wide workforce programmes to recruit and
retain GPs in the Black Country and West Birmingham,
with specific programmes aimed at GPs throughout their
professional career
Premises development at Forrester Street commenced in
January 2020
An assurance process was developed and undertaken to
allow for the transfer of the extended access service to
PCNs. The transfer will ensure that the service is better
connected to Walsall GP practices from April 2020.
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Remuneration and
Organisational
Development
Committee

The remuneration committee has met to agree the revised Terms
of Reference (TOR) with an agreement to meet twice a year.
To support these arrangements a HR and OD operational group
was set up. The group meets monthly to implement the OD plan,
as agreed by the remuneration committee and monitor the HR
workforce dashboard. The Remuneration members receive the
minutes and any risks identified.
The Remuneration committee has approved the Personal
Development Review policy which adopted a values based
approach, the Very Senior Managers (VSM) Pay policy and a
framework for the GP and office holders remuneration. It has
reviewed the whistleblowing policy for learning, following its
implementation which resulted in raising the awareness of the role
of the speak up guardian with the staff.
The committee received assurance on the compliance of the EDS2
report and action plan.
Following the agreement across the Black Country and West
Birmingham CCGs to appoint a single Accountable Officer (AO)
and Executive team, the four remuneration committees met in
common to agree the single AO selection process and
remuneration, the executive management of change process, the
VSM policy to be used across the four CCGs and the executive
remuneration.

The Governing Body development programme has covered a number of strategic
discussions and awareness sessions. There is a set programme throughout the
year with additional sessions that are allocated to issues and topics as they are
presented throughout the year. The corporate objectives are used to inform the
personal development reviews which were scheduled from April 2019 for the
forthcoming year.
Performance of the Membership Body and Governing Body
The membership has had access to a varied organisational development programme
covering a range of topics including:


Quarterly GP protected learning events on pain management, perinatal
mental health, urology, gastro, neurology, gynaecology, suicide
prevention, paediatric ophthalmology, serious incidents.



Quarterly Practice Manager protected learning events on practice nurse
competence, training and safe recruitment, online consultations, direct
booking of NHS 111 into general practice, primary care offer and extended
access.



Bi-monthly Practice Manager Forums covering bite-sized training,
including appraisals, time management, project management and effective
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communication skills, with external speakers covering a range of topics
including infection control audits, finance, business continuity.


External practice manager training has been provided on leadership,
EMIS, launch of the primary care offer and 7-topics in a day conference



Primary Care Networks have been provided with development funding to
support maturity and integrated working.

The Governing Body development programme has covered a number of strategic
discussions and awareness sessions including:




Implementation of the place based care model (Walsall Together) and the
supporting governance arrangements
Mental health services
Transforming Care Partnership.

There were other sessions that covered corporate objectives, declarations of
interest, values and behaviours, committee governance reviews, staff survey results,
working with the voluntary sector, EU exit preparations and plans, the constitution,
STP finances and digital first consultations.
The CCG commissioned the Strategy Unit to deliver a series of development
sessions on the ‘role of the CCG in an ICS’ and ‘what matters to GPs as members
and contractors’. These sessions explored the considerations and priorities in future
commissioning arrangements.
The Black Country and West Birmingham CCGs Governing Bodies held a joint
development session which explored what the opportunities, benefits and
considerations of becoming a single commissioning voice. This helped to inform the
requirements of the governance structure for the proposed plans. Development
sessions have also been held for the lay members and clinical members where the
different governing body roles and communication needs during change were
explored.
The Governing Bodies for the four Black Country and West Birmingham CCGs held
a development session to explore the future governance and leadership
requirements, looking at what worked well and what needs to be preserved in the
new arrangements and what opportunities the single management team created.
The Audit and Governance Committee details are part of the members report.
UK Corporate Governance Code
NHS Bodies are not required to comply with the UK Code of Corporate Governance.
We have however reported on our Corporate Governance arrangements by drawing
upon best practice available, including those aspects of the UK Corporate
Governance Code we consider to be relevant to the CCG and best practice.
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Walsall CCG has a constitution compliant with the requirements set out in schedule
1A of the Health and Social Care Act 2012. There is effective board leadership with
both an Accountable Officer and Chair, which prevents one individual having all the
final powers of decision-making. The Chair is responsible for the leadership of the
Governing Body, and has arranged for each member to have a personal
development review to clarify roles and set objectives for the year. The Governing
Body has three lay member roles that cover audit and governance, commissioning,
and patient and public involvement to increase constructive challenge.
All applicants complete a declaration of interest prior to appointment to ensure any
conflicts of interest can be appropriately managed without adversely impacting on
their ability to carry out their role.
Executive effectiveness is achieved through work plans, regular leadership meetings
and personal development reviews. The committee effectiveness is achieved
through annual committee report schedules, regular assurance reports from the
committees that have delegated responsibility for board duties.
The corporate objectives are clearly aligned to risk management processes, which
were reviewed and strengthened during the year.
The Remuneration and Human Resources Committee was compliant with the
conflict of interest policy and benefited from benchmarking exercises across the
neighbouring Black Country and West Birmingham CCGs to help inform the decision
making.
Internal Audit conducts a review of the governance arrangements each year making
recommendations, which are monitored by the Audit and Governance Committee.
Discharge of Statutory Functions
In light of recommendations of the 1983 Harris Review, the CCG has reviewed all of
the statutory duties and powers conferred on it by the National Health Service Act
2006 (as amended) and other associated legislative and regulations. As a result, I
can confirm that the clinical commissioning group is clear about the legislative
requirements associated with each of the statutory functions for which it is
responsible, including any restrictions on delegation of those functions.
Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead Director.
Directorates have confirmed that their structures provide the necessary capability
and capacity to undertake all of the CCG’s statutory duties.
The CCG meets with NHS England on a regular basis to ensure that we continue to
comply with the regulations and performance management framework that is set
nationally for all CCGs. The CCG has complied with the requirements set out in the
legal directions and as a result are now confident that they have the arrangements in
place to meet all of the statutory functions.
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Risk management arrangements and effectiveness
Walsall CCG recognises that systematically identifying risks and successfully
managing these risks within its governance framework will provide invaluable
opportunities to improve commissioning and thereby improve the quality and safety
of patient care for the residents of Walsall.
The key elements of the risk management plan are to identify, assess, control and
review the risks to the delivery of the corporate objectives. The committees identify
the key risks and operational risks are mainly identified through the project
management office processes. The risks are assessed to indicate the likelihood and
consequence which is recorded as a risk rating. This is entered onto the risk register
along with actions to mitigate the risk.
Managing risk is part of every decision made and as such is a responsibility of each
director, manager and ultimately each member of staff. The governance structure is
such that each directorate has a clear reporting and accountability framework to
ensure that risks are managed throughout the organisation. The organisation has a
range of policies and processes in place as well as a suite of mandatory training
courses to deter risks from arising. These range from interpretation of national policy
as well as local policy. The implementation and monitoring of policy helps the
organisation adopt a systematic and consistent approach, which is a major control
against risk. A positive reporting culture is supported in the CCG so that any near
miss of incidents can be investigated to maximise the learning opportunity and
improve processes and practice.
The Governing Body reviewed its corporate objectives and assigned each one to a
committee of the Governing Body and allocated an executive director lead. The
Governing Body is informed on the risks against the delivery of the corporate
objectives and the other areas delegated to the committee through the committee
assurance reports.
The committee risk registers adopt the Board Assurance Framework format. By
using this format the committees are required to identify the gaps in controls and
assurance which leads to clarity on the actions required and has strengthened the
use of control mechanisms. The risk register is a live document that holds all
identified risks in the CCG and includes an automatic effectiveness of controls that
gives a summary for the Governing Body.
The implementation of the risk register included training at committee level to
increase the accuracy of the use of the register. An in-house audit was carried out
following implementation and further support was put into place following the results.
The overall compliance with the use of the register is good with all committees
holding and maintaining a committee risk register that is updated at each committee
meeting.
The Programme Management Office includes risk management in their processes.
There is a detailed impact assessment that covers quality, equality and data privacy.
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Any risks identified through this process would be managed in the PMO process and
if additional management was required escalated to the relevant committee.
The risk appetite is currently set at a residual risk rating of 15 which takes into
consideration the challenges both internal and external. The Governing Body may
amend the risk appetite at any point in the year as factors may change which impact
on the tolerable level of risk.
The key elements for the way in which public stakeholders are involved in managing
risks which impact on them, is set out in the engagement and consultation plan to
support our five year commissioning strategy. This gives the public a voice where
there are changes to services that affect them.
Capacity to Handle Risk
The Governing Body provides strategic oversight for risk management by delegating
authority to the audit and governance committee to approve the risk management
arrangements and monitor the consistent implementation of the risk management
framework throughout the committee and management structure.
The Governing Body at public meetings and development sessions and the Audit
and Governance Committee have reviewed the risk management arrangements
throughout the year contributing to the development of both the process and
documentation. The Board Assurance Framework (BAF) and risk registers have
been reviewed throughout the year by the Governing Body, and Audit and
Governance Committee. Internal audit carry out a review of the Board Assurance
Framework and overall risk management arrangements on an annual basis. The
findings of the 2019/20 audit were that the BAF was established, designed and
operated to meet the requirements of the 19/20 annual governance statement to
provide reasonable assurance that there is an effective system of internal control to
manage the principle risks identified in the organisation.
The governance structure is effective at managing risk as the risks identified at
committee are directly linked to the Board Assurance Framework. Each committee
has a lead director who is responsible for the identification and management of risk.
There is a clear escalation process throughout the organisation where each function
is aligned to a committee or subcommittee making the line of responsibly and
management of risk transparent and consistent.
The annually revised business cycle for the Governing Body and its committees
ensures statutory functions have oversight and at least annual reporting. The
Governing Body receives regular reports on the performance of the CCG and
external scrutiny through internal audit supports the effectiveness of the
arrangements in place.
Staff have attended risk awareness sessions which go through the risk management
framework and their responsibilities and additional information and resources are
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available on the staff intranet. The staff newsletter is also used to share best practice
and lessons learnt.
Risk Assessment
In accordance with the Risk Management Framework the organisation identifies risks
against the corporate objectives and this forms the core element of the BAF. Any
risks with a residual red rating which are identified at committee are added to the
BAF to ensure the Governing Body has a full picture of the risks being managed.
The Governing Body have agreed a risk appetite of risks rated 15 or above. Risks
are rated using a 5 by 5 matrix with a maximum rating of 25.
Clearly, at the point of writing this report the greatest risk to the achievement of all of
the objectives is the impact of responding to the public health emergency caused by
Covid-19. The CCG reprioritised its activity to divert resources to respond to
business critical activity and whilst the CCG continues to assess the risks identified,
the focus is on the urgent response across the system to deal with the crisis. The
Black Country and West Birmingham CCGs set up an incident coordination centre
and risks arising through Covid-19 where identified, managed and recorded centrally
and shared on a weekly basis with the executive team.
Throughout the year, the Governing Body Committees identified and managed a
number of risks around the following themes:
GP workforce: There is limited resilience in the general practitioner workforce which
will impact the pace and scale of work possible in primary care. The CCG has been
involved in work to address retention across the STP and continues to work with
PCNs to implement the initiatives described in the LTP which sets out how services
may be delivered differently to manage resources available.
Increased acute emergency demand: overall emergency admissions have been
greater than planned capacity. A series of initiatives including single point of access
and implementation of right care plans have been introduced but the recent event of
Covid-19 has greatly reduced the numbers of attendances through A&E. The
recovery planning will be an opportunity to review this and plan services accordingly.
Safeguarding: safeguarding resources were impacted by retention issues and a
national shortage of skilled workers. This has been managed with the development
of a single team across the Black Country and West Birmingham CCGs.
Performance Targets: The A&E four hour wait, 62-day cancer and referral to
treatment time targets have all been challenging this year as reflected in the majority
of areas. The CCG has worked with the service providers to understand the reasons
for the poor performance and are agreeing remedial action plans to address the
shortfall.
NHS Property: There are ongoing disputes between NHS Property Services and
general practices regarding the charges and lease arrangements which the CCG
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have been involved with due to recharging arrangements. A series of meetings have
taken place but progress has been slow. It is anticipated that this will be resolved in
the next financial year.
Other sources of assurance


Internal Control Framework

A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the
CCG to ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives. It is designed to identify
and prioritise the risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the
impact if should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and
economically.
The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable level rather
than eliminating all risk; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance of effectiveness.
The Audit and Governance Committee is responsible for approving and maintaining
a comprehensive system of internal control including budgetary control that
underpins effective, efficient and economic operations of the CCG. It achieves this
through regular consideration of the applications of the CCGs key corporate
governance policy including the standing orders, scheme of delegation and
reservation and prime financial policies. This schedule of reports is agreed at the
start of the financial year and additional reports are requested where any areas of
concern may have been raised. This is supported by the external and internal audit
reports on the areas that are agreed in the work plans.


Annual audit of conflicts of interest management

The revised statutory guidance on managing conflicts of interest for CCGs
(published June 2016) requires them to undertake an annual internal audit of
conflicts of interest management. To support CCGs to undertake this task, NHS
England has published a template audit framework.
Walsall CCG has carried out the internal audit of conflicts of interest and gained
significant assurance. The key issues for management to address include agreeing
an escalation process for the individuals who do not return their declaration of
interest forms in a timely manner, strengthen the documentation of the chairs
management of conflicts of interest and consider a centralised register for all
committees.


Data Quality

The Integrated Assurance and Finance and Investment Committees regularly review
both the adequacy and presentation of the data it presents to the Governing Body
through its committee.
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The Integrated Assurance Committee were challenged with testing the quality of the
data included in the committee reports. This challenge was met with a series of
revised dashboards, data sets and a programme to triangulate information received
from providers including deep dives and including data analysis on unannounced
visits.
Throughout the year, the internal audit programme will cover elements of data quality
and any recommendations are implemented by management. The financial data
relating to contract monitoring is quality checked through a reconciliation process
with each lead commissioner and provider.
The effectiveness of these initiatives has been sought and the Governing Body are
assured with the quality of the data it receives.


Information Governance

The NHS Information Governance Framework sets the processes and procedures by
which the NHS handles information about patients and employees, in particular
personal identifiable information. The NHS Information Governance Framework is
supported by the data protection and security toolkit and the annual submission
process provides assurances to the CCG, other organisations and to individuals that
personal information is dealt with legally, securely, efficiently and effectively.
The CCG places high importance on ensuring there are robust information
governance systems and processes in place to help protect patient and corporate
information. We have established an information governance management
framework and have developed information governance processes and procedures
in line with the data protection and security toolkit. We have ensured all staff
undertake annual information governance training and have implemented a staff
information governance handbook to ensure staff are aware of their information
governance roles and responsibilities.
There are processes in place for incident reporting and investigation of serious
incidents. We have developed information risk assessment and management
procedures with a programme to fully embed an information risk culture throughout
the organisation against identified risks.
The CCG published the Data Security and Protection Toolkit return, meeting all
required 70 mandatory assertions. Evidence was reviewed by Internal Audit and the
Data Protection Officer. The internal audit review identified a number of gaps in the
evidence available to support the required level of compliance as at 31 March 2020.
56 out of the 106 (53%) mandatory assertions could be satisfactorily verified. Of the
50 assertions that could not be verified 36 were recorded as managed by Walsall
Healthcare Trust who provides an IT service on behalf of the CCG. The date to make
the toolkit submission has been extended to the end of September 2020 in
acknowledgement that organisations have diverted resources to respond to Covid
19. Walsall Healthcare Trust have not submitted their DSPT return at the time of
writing the report so it was therefore not possible for the CCG who submitted their
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toolkit in March 2020 to refer to their submission as part of their evidence resulting in
a gap in the evidence available to be verified. An action plan to resolve the
outstanding assertions will be implemented by September 2020. There have been no
serious information governance incidents or breaches which required reporting to the
Information Commissioners Office by the CCG.
•

Business Critical Models

There is an appropriate framework and environment in place to provide quality
assurance of business critical models, in line with the recommendations in the
Macpherson report.
All business critical models have been identified and information about quality
assurance processes for those models has been provided to the Analytical Oversight
Committee, chaired by the Chief Analyst in the Department of Health.
Two key business critical models are the finance model and finance activity plans
which have been submitted to the Department of Health as part of the overall
planning submission. These have been subject to external scrutiny as part of our
assurance framework.


Third party assurances

The main third party providers are the Arden and GEM and Midland and Lancashire
Commissioning Support Units. Assurance on these arrangements is taken from the
type 2 service auditors reports received by the CCG and included in the Head of
internal audit opinion.
The other key third party provider arrangements are through service level
agreements for information technology services, Occupational Health and ESR from
Walsall Healthcare NHS Trust. Assurances are received through contract
management review meetings and key performance indicators. There are a number
of services which the CCG receive which are contracted on a national basis for
example the Shared Business Services which is the financial accounting and
procurement system. The CCG continues to work with the other Black Country and
West Birmingham CCGs to scope the back office functions that could be delivered at
scale across the CCGs to support the future commissioning arrangements.
Control Issues
The CCG has determined that it does not have any significant control issues. The
month 9 governance statement return, included the moderate assurance from the
internal audit report on cyber security with the following mitigation:
As a system, we recognise the importance of working together on cyber security and
have recently established a cyber-security subgroup reporting into the STP Digital
Board. This group will focus on developing cyber security plans and security risk
management with an aim to develop costed plans for resource and technology to
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meet strategic requirements. As a health and care system, this subgroup will also
plan to provide and receive assurance to and from our local government and third
sector partners on their cyber resilience. In April 2020, the follow up review of the
cyber security arrangements gave significant assurance that was based on the
implementation of the progress made on the action plan.
Review of economy, efficiency & effectiveness of the use of resources
The Governing Body has overarching responsibility for ensuring that the CCG has
appropriate arrangements in place in exercising its functions economically, efficiently
and effectively in the use of its resources and in line with its values, corporate
objectives and statutory responsibilities. The Governing Body ensures that it has
robust financial controls including policy and processes in place to manage risk. The
Audit and Governance Committee receives opinion from internal and external
auditors who are available to give advice to the Governing Body on the assurances
available with regards to economic, efficient and effective use of resources by the
CCG.
In August 2019, NHSEI published the NHS Oversight Framework which replaced the
CCG Improvement and Assessment Framework (CCGIAF). The new framework
outlines the move to system working, with the framework revised to reflect that
NHSEI will be assessing CCGs and providers more consistently. The framework
summarises how the new approach to oversight will be applied during 2019/20 and
that work will be done during 2019/20 for a new integrated approach from 2020/21.
An annual assessment for CCGs, still remains a legal requirement during 2019/20.
This will consider that CCG’s performance in each of the indicator areas over the full
year, along with financial management and a qualitative assessment of the
leadership of the CCG.
Under this regime the CCG was successful in maintaining its rating of ‘good’ in
2018/19. This was maintained by the CCG sustaining its ‘in year’ financial
performance and its quality of leadership scores remaining Green.
The improvements the CCG has secured in its financial performance and the quality
of leadership since the inception of the CCGIAF is summarised in the table below:
Reporting In year financial
period
performance
(Green star,
green, amber, red
which is the
lowest)

Quality of CCG
leadership

Conflict of
interest –
(Green star,
probity and
green, amber, red corporate
which is the
governance

Overall
Assessment
rating

lowest)

2018/19
2017/18
2016/17

Green
Green
Amber

Green
Green
Amber

Fully compliant
Fully compliant
Fully compliant

2015/16

Red

Red

Fully compliant

Good
Good
Requires
Improvement
Inadequate
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The 2019/20 end of year assessment is expected to be published in July 2020 by
NHS England. The result will be published on the CCG website.
The Scheme of Reservation and Delegation sets out the arrangements within the
CCG so that it can discharge its responsibilities accordingly. The Chief Finance
Officer has delegated responsibility to determine the detailed financial policies that
`under pin’ the CCGs prime financial policies.
The Governing Body approves the financial plan for the year that identifies budgets
for commissioning programmes and running costs. The Chief Finance Officer
produces a monthly finance report that is reviewed by the Finance and Investment
Committee, which has lay representation as part of the membership. In addition, the
CCG meets with NHSE assurance team to ensure that it is meeting its financial
responsibilities in accordance with NHSE’s Regulations. The annual report and final
accounts are audited by external auditors who report to the Audit and Governance
Committee on behalf of the Governing Body
The Financial Plan is based upon the previous years’ outturn with the implications of
the NHS England Planning Guidance factored in. However, with the need for the
NHS to focus its efforts on the covid-19 pandemic, NHSEI issued a letter confirming
that


The operational planning process be stood down.



The payment by results process is being suspended with Trusts being paid on
a block basis until the end of July.



Efforts nationally and at a Trust level to be made to free up capacity in
inpatient and critical care and to ensure that there is an adequate supply of
oxygen and protective equipment.



High risk patients are identified in primary care and contacted.



Business continuity plans are in place.

The Plan was approved by the CCG Governing Body in March 2020. In year
financial performance monitoring is overseen by the finance and performance
committee. Key metrics associated with Finance are:


Plan Triangulation – the activity assumptions must be consistent between
commissioners and providers.



Minimum cumulative/historic underspend of 1.0%.



Local contingency of 0.5%.



Admin costs must remain within admin allocation.



Compliance with Mental health investment standard.



Compliance with Better Care Fund.
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The CCG receives a separate allocation for running costs. In 19/20 this amounted to
£6,100K. CCG’s are not permitted to spend more than their allocated resource on
corporate costs. Expenditure for the year was £5,700k. The CCG has an obligation
to ensure it achieves value for money. This is achieved through the continual review
of discretionary expenditure, comparison with peers and use of available
benchmarking tools and the application of best practice where applicable and with
collaborative working with our Right Care partners to improve care pathways.
Delegation of functions
The CCG has a number of functions that are provided through commissioning
support units and other providers. For each key function there is a named lead within
the CCG who is accountable for the sound delivery of the function. Each function
would report into one of the Governing Body Committees as detailed in the
committee’s terms of reference. Each Governing Body committee provides the
Governing Body with an assurance report that would include any risks to delivery by
exception; this may include evidence from internal controls failures and potentially
information from whistleblowers. The internal audit programme is agreed at the Audit
and Governance Committee and is based on the areas where additional assurance
is identified from the Assurance Framework. This will give additional independent
assurance on the arrangements for delegated services and functions within the
CCG.
Counter fraud arrangements
The CCG contracts with CW Audit Services to obtain Local Counter Fraud Specialist
(LCFS) support. The LCFS considers fraud risks both within and against the CCG,
and agrees an annual work plan with the CCG’s Chief Finance Officer and Audit and
Governance Committee based on both the level of risk identified locally and NHS
Counter Fraud Authority (NHSCFA) counter-fraud standards for commissioners. The
work plan covers activities across the range of work expected by NHSCFA, including
raising awareness among staff about fraud issues and routes for reporting concerns;
ensuring that appropriate measures are in place to prevent and detect possible
fraud, bribery and corruption; and investigating any issues that may be identified.
The CCG’s Chief Finance Officer has day-to-day responsibility for counter-fraud
work within the CCG, and is the day-to-day point of contact for the LCFS. The LCFS
also provides a progress report at intervals to the Audit and Governance Committee,
outlining recent counter-fraud activity and highlighting any issues that the CCG
needs to be aware of. In addition, the LCFS provided an annual report of counterfraud work to the CCG, reporting activity against NHSCFA standards.
There has been one fraud related matter that has needed to be formally investigated
by the LCFS in 2019/20, which related to fraudulent prescription alterations. In
addition, the LCFS has worked with the CCG’s Medicines Management team and
local GP Practice Managers in connection with prescription-related issues such as
lost and stolen prescriptions, and concerns around patients who may be seeking
drugs inappropriately. The LCFS has also maintained links with West Midlands
Police around issues relating to attempts to obtain controlled drugs dishonestly.

90

NHSCFA has a programme of quality assurance work linked to counter-fraud
provision within all NHS bodies. The CCG has not been the subject of an inspection
recently, but any recommendations from NHSCFA would be implemented as
appropriate.

3.1.3 Head of Internal Audit Opinion
Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year for the CCG,
the Head of Internal Audit issued an independent and objective opinion on the
adequacy and effectiveness of the CCG’s system of risk management, governance
and internal control. The Head of Internal Audit concluded that:
The purpose of my annual Head of Internal Audit Opinion (HOIA) is to contribute to
the assurances available to the Accountable Officer and the Governing Body, which
underpin the Governing Body’s own assessment of the effectiveness of the
organisation’s system of internal control. This HOIA informs the Governing Body in
the completion of its Annual Governance Statement.
Significant assurance can be given that there is a generally sound system of internal
control, designed to meet the organisation’s objectives, and that controls are
generally being applied consistently. However, some weakness in the design and/or
inconsistent application of controls put the achievement of particular objectives at
risk.
There are two reviews completed where moderate assurance has been provided Safeguarding arrangements, Mandatory posts compliance and the DSP toolkit.
I have not identified any Significant Internal Control Issues (as defined by HM
Treasury) that must be reported within your Annual Governance Statement. However
we would expect the CCGs response and actions taken to the COVID-19 incident to
be reflected within the narrative of the CCGs Annual Governance Statement.
During the year, Internal Audit issued the following audit reports:
Full
Significant

Financial Management
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Financial systems
Financial reporting and performance management
Primary Care Commissioning Framework (substantial)
Conflicts of interest management
Stakeholder engagement and communication
Business continuity
QIPP arrangements
Provider contracts management
Continuing healthcare
Health and safety arrangements
Follow up of cyber security risk assessment
Partnership arrangements 2018/19
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•

Moderate

•
Limited

None

None

None

Safeguarding arrangements - compliance with
Mandatory posts
DSP toolkit

3.1.4 Review of the effectiveness of governance,
risk management and internal control
My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the
work of the internal auditors, executive managers and clinical leads within the CCG
who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the internal control
framework. I have drawn on performance information available to me. My review is
also informed by comments made by the external auditors in their annual audit letter
and other reports.
Our assurance framework provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of
controls that manage risks to the CCG achieving its principles objectives have been
reviewed.
I have been advised on the implications of the result of this review by the Governing
Body, the audit committee and internal audit. This review is supported by the report
issued from the CCGs internal auditors, the counter fraud specialist and the external
auditors work.
The Assurance Framework provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of
controls has been reviewed and plans are in place to address any weaknesses to
ensure continued improvement in the framework.
Conclusion
There have been no significant control issues identified in 2019/20. There have been
no serious lapses in internal control including information governance or conflict of
interest breaches.

Paul Maubach
Accountable Officer
24 June 2020

92

3.2 Remuneration and Staff Report
3.2.1 Remuneration Report
Our Remuneration & HR Committee is the committee which ensures we are treating
staff fairly and equally. It determines the appropriate pay and benefits for staff
working within the organisation and provides assurance on all our human resources
policies. In July 2019 it was agreed for this committee to move to twice a year and
remove all responsibility for HR and Organisational Development (OD).
To provide assurance to the Remuneration and HR committee, a HR and OD
working group was established in August 2019. The terms of reference set out the
membership, responsibilities and reporting arrangements of the working group. The
primary purpose of this group is to provide assurance to the Remuneration and HR
committee on the development, implementation and effectiveness of the HR/OD
Strategy, escalate to the Committee any key risks or areas of concern and provide
assurance that the CCG is compliant with all HR regulatory requirements
The members of our Remuneration and HR Committee are described in the
governance section of the report.
Policy on the remuneration of senior managers
We have six senior managers, all of whom are on Very Senior Manager (VSM)
contracts.
The salary of our Chief Executive Officer is linked to the size of our registered
population as a membership organisation (322,061) and was set at the
establishment of the organisation in 2013. Each year consideration is given at
Remuneration Committee on the additional complexity of the role, any changes to
the remit of the role and the impact this may have on the annual salary of the Chief
Executive Officer.
In April 2018, the Chief Executive Officer was appointed as our Chief Accountable
Officer shared with Dudley CCG on a joint employment contract. In November 2019,
the Chief Accountable Officer became the Chief Executive Officer for 3 CCGs
(Walsall, Dudley and Wolverhampton). In December 2019, the Chief Executive
Officer became the Chief Executive Officer for the Black Country and West
Birmingham CCGs with shared financial responsibility. The salary for this post was
reviewed at Remuneration Committee in Common and is currently going through the
national approval processes.
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The Chief Executive Officer also received a car allowance of £4,325 per annum and
is eligible for a performance related bonus payment dependent on delivery of agreed
objectives in the previous financial year.
The remaining senior managers’ salaries are set at a percentage of the Chief
Executive Officers’ salary.
In addition to their basic salary, they are also eligible for a performance related
bonus payment dependent on delivery of agreed objectives in the previous financial
year. The remuneration for our Very Senior Managers for 2019/20 is detailed in the
table of salaries and allowances.
Within the contractual terms and conditions for Very Senior Managers, they are
eligible for an annual review of their pay, and we discharge this duty by considering
salaries of the Chief Officers through the Performance Related pay policy. In July
2019, the Remuneration & HR Committee met and reviewed the performance of the
VSM members of staff for the year 2019/20. All were awarded a Cost of Living pay
award of £2,153, which included a one off non-consolidated payment.
The interim additional responsibilities for the Chief Operating and Finance Officer,
funded by Walsall CCG continued into 2019/20 which included the work undertaken
for Wolverhampton CCG.
Walsall CCG sits outside of the remit of the Senior Salaries Review Body (SSRB).
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Senior manager remuneration (including salary and pension entitlements – Audited
2019-20
Note 10
(e)
All Pension
Related
Benefits
(bands of
£2,500)
£000

(f)
Total
(bands
of
£5,000)
£000

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

04
04
60-62.5 2
5-7.5 3
04
0-2.5
150-152.5 2
15-17.5
82.5-85
22.5-25
25-27.5
0

15-20
55-60
70-75
10-15
0-5
20-25
205-210
115-120
185-190
125-130
30-35
0-5

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

5-10
40-45
70-75
15-20
45-50

0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0

80-85
35-40
65-70
15-20
10-15
50-55

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

5-10
15-20
0-5
10-15

(a)
Salary
(bands of
£5,000)
£000

(b)
Expense
Payments
(taxable)
to nearest
£100
£00

Note 7
Note 8

10-15
50-55
5-10
5-10
0-5
15-20
50-55
90-95
95-100
95-100
5-10
0-5

Dr H Vitarana – Clinical Executive - Finance and IT, Walsall CCG (Apr ’19 to Jul ’19)
Dr H Lodhi – Clinical Executive – Primary Care, Walsall CCG (Aug ’19 to Mar ‘20)
Dr J Teoh – Clinical Executive – Quality, Walsall CCG (Aug ’19 to Mar ‘20)
Dr R Mohan – Clinical Executive – Quality, Walsall CCG (Apr ’19 to Jul ’19)
Dr H Baggri – Clinical Executive – Commissioning, Transformation & Performance, Walsall CCG

Note 9
Note 9
Note 9
Note 9
Note 9

Dr A Rischie – Clinical Chair of Walsall CCG Governing Body
Dr R Sandhu – Locality Lead – West, Walsall CCG
Dr A Asghar – Locality Lead – North, Walsall CCG
Dr A Khera – Locality Lead – South East, Walsall CCG (Aug ’19 to Mar ‘20)
Dr J Teoh – Locality Lead - South East, Walsall CCG (Apr ’19 to Jul ’19)
Dr S Kaul – Locality Lead – Trans, Walsall CCG

Note 9
Note 9
Note 9
Note 9
Note 9
Note 9

Name and Title2

Mr P Maubach – Accountable Officer, Black Country CCG’s (Nov ’19 to Mar ‘20)
Mr P Maubach – Accountable Officer, Walsall CCG (Apr ’19 to Nov ‘19)
Mr M Hartland – Deputy Accountable Officer, Black Country CCGs’s (Dec ’19 to Mar ‘20)
Ms R Ellis – Deputy Accountable Officer, Black Country CCG’s (Dec ’19 to Mar ‘20)
Ms A McGee – Director of HR, Black Country CCG’s (Feb ’20 to Mar ‘20)
Prof S Brake – Chief Officer, Walsall CCG (Apr ’19 to May ’19)
Mr M Hartland – Chief Finance Officer, Walsall CCG (Apr ’19 to Dec ’19)
Mrs D MacArthur – Director of Primary Care and Integration, Walsall CCG
Mr P Tulley – Director of Commissioning, Walsall CCG
Ms S Shingler – Chief Nursing Officer/Director of Quality, Walsall CCG
Dr P De – Secondary Care Consultant, Walsall CCG (Apr ’19 to Aug ’19)
Mr J Taylor – Healthwatch

Mr M Jhooty – Audit Chair and Lay Member, Walsall CCG
Mr M Abel – Lay Member – Service Transformation and Redesign, Walsall CCG
Mr G Wali – Lay Member – Patient and Public Involvement, Walsall CCG (Apr ’19 to Sep ’19)
Miss R Barber – Lay Member – Patient and Public Involvement, Walsall CCG

Notes 1 & 4
Notes 1 & 4
Notes 2 & 4
Notes 3 & 4
Notes 3 & 4
Note 5
Notes 2 & 4
Note 6

(c)
Performance
Pay and
Bonuses
(bands of
£5,000)
£000

(d)
Long-Term
Performance
Pay and
Bonuses
(bands of
£5,000)
£000

41
131
21
11
0
0
121
0
0
0
0
0

0-5 *
0-5 *
0-5 *
0
0
0
0-5 *
5-10 *
5-10 *
5-10 *
0
0

5-10
40-45
70-75
15-20
45-50

0
0
0
0
0

80-85
35-40
65-70
15-20
10-15
50-55
5-10
15-20
0-5
10-15

95

* Estimate - in accordance with the CCG's policy for review of VSM pay, the Remuneration Committee will consider and award the
bonus relating to 2019-20 early in 2020-21.
¹

Taxable benefits are in respect of a car allowance

2

Figures provided by Dudley CCG and have been pro-rated according to the length of time in post

3

Figures provided by Sandwell & West Birmingham CCG

4

Opted out of NHS Pension Scheme
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2018-19

(a)
Salary
(bands of
£5,000)
£000

(b)
Expense
Payments
(taxable)
to nearest
£100
£00

95-100
100-105
90-95
55-60
90-95
85-90
95-100

22 2
0
18 2
0
0
0
0

0-5
10-15

0
0

Dr H Vitarana – Clinical Executive - Finance and IT
Dr R Mohan – Clinical Executive - Medical Director
Dr C Lesshafft – Clinical Executive - Commissioning, and Transformation (Apr ’18 to Mar ’19)
Dr H Baggri – Clinical Executive – Commissioning, Transformation and Performance

30-35
45-50
60-65
45-50

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

Dr A Rischie – Clinical Chair of Walsall CCG Governing Body
Dr R Sandhu – Locality Lead – West
Dr A Asghar – Locality Lead - North
Dr J Teoh – Locality Lead - South East
Dr S Kaul – Locality Lead - Trans

80-85
35-40
65-70
45-50
50-55

0
0
0
0
0

Mr J Oatridge – Interim Audit Chair and Lay Member (Apr ’18 to Jul ‘18)
Mr M Jhooty – Audit Chair and Lay Member (Jul ’18 to Mar ‘19)
Mr M Abel – Lay Member – Service Transformation and Redesign
Mr G Wali – Lay Member – Patient and Public Involvement
Miss R Barber – Lay Member – Patient and Public Involvement

0-5
0-5
15-20
5-10
10-15

0
0
0
0
0

Name and Title

Mr P Maubach – Accountable Officer
Prof S Brake – Chief Officer
Mr M Hartland – Strategic Finance Officer
Mr T Gallagher – Chief Finance Officer (Apr ’18 to Mar ’19)
Mrs D MacArthur – Director of Primary Care and Integration
Mr P Tulley – Director of Commissioning
Ms S Shingler – Chief Nursing Officer/Director of Quality
Dr B Watt – Director of Public Health, Walsall Council (Apr ’18 to Mar ’19)
Ms P Furnival – Director of Adult Social Care and Inclusion, Walsall Council (Apr ’18 to Mar ’19)
Mr R Freeman – Secondary Care Specialist (Apr ’18 to Aug ‘18)
Dr P De – Secondary Care Consultant (Sep ’18 to Mar ‘19)

(d)
Long-Term
Performance
Pay and
Bonuses
(bands of
£5,000)
£000
5-10 *
0
5-10 *
0
5-10 *
0
5-10 *
0
5-10 *
0
5-10 *
0
5-10 *
0
Salary paid by Walsall MBC
Salary paid by Walsall MBC
0
0
0
0

(c)
Performance
Pay and
Bonuses
(bands of
£5,000)
£000

Note 10
(e)
All
Pension
Related
Benefits
(bands of
£2,500)
£000
202.5-2051
22.5-25
35-37.5 1
170-172.5
15-17.5
130-132.5
140-142.5

(f)
Total
(bands of
£5,000)
£000

310-315
130-135
135-140
235-240
115-120
225-230
245-250

37.5-40
10-12.5

40-45
20-25

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

30-35
45-50
60-65
45-50

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

80-85
35-40
65-70
45-50
50-55

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

0-5
0-5
15-20
5-10
10-15
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Pension Benefits as at 31 March 2020 - Audited
As GPs and Lay Members do not receive pensionable remuneration, there will be no entries in respect of them in the table below.

Name and Title

Mr P Maubach – Accountable Officer, Black Country CCG’s (Nov ’19 to Mar ‘20)
Ms R Ellis – Deputy Accountable Officer, Black Country CCG’s (Dec ’19 to Mar
‘20)
Mr M Hartland – Deputy Accountable Officer, Black Country CCG’s (Dec ’19 to
Mar ‘20)
Prof S Brake – Chief Officer, Walsall CCG (Apr ’19 to May ’19)
Ms A McGee – Director of HR (Feb ’20 to Mar ‘20)
Ms D MacArthur – Director of Primary Care and Integration
Mr P Tulley – Director of Commissioning
Ms S Shingler – Director of Governance, Quality and Safety
Dr P De – Secondary Care Consultant (Apr ’19 to Aug ’19)

Note 11
Real
Increase
in
Pension
at
pension
age
(bands of
£2,500)
£000
04

Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at 1
April 2019
£000

Note 11
Real
Increase in
Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value
£000

Note 11
Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at 31
March 2020
£000

Employer’s
Cont’n to
Stakeholder
Pension
£000

04

Note 12
Lump Sum
at pension
age related
to Accrued
Pension at
31 March
2020
(bands of
£5,000)
£000
04

04

04

0

5-10

0

34

7

04
56

N/A
N/A

10-12.5

22.5-25

55-60

135-140

829

183

1,054

N/A

0-2.5
0
0-2.5
2.5-5
0-2.5
0-2.5

0
0
0
5-7.5
0
0.25

5-10
0
40-45
45-50
25-30
40-45

0
0
95-100
105-110
55-60
80-85

63
0
770
768
392
673

0
0
24
81
18
24

76
0
825
882
426
767

N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

Note 11
Real
Increase in
Pension
Lump Sum
at pension
age (bands
of £2,500)
£000

Total
Accrued
Pension at
pension
age at 31
March 2020
(bands of
£5,000)
£000

04

0-2.5

Notes:
Note 1

The Accountable Officer has been in a substantive post across both Walsall and Dudley CCG’s since April 2018. In
December 2019, a substantive appointment was made to Accountable Officer across all four Black Country and West
Birmingham CCGs (Walsall, Dudley, Wolverhampton and Sandwell and West Birmingham). The salary is paid on
behalf of the CCG’s by Dudley CCG and is recharged accordingly. The figures in the Pensions Table for these two
appointments have been provided by Dudley CCG

Note 2

The Chief Finance Officer’s part time support role within Walsall CCG became permanent from April 2019. This
continued until December 2019 when a substantive appointment was made to Deputy Accountable Officer across the
Black Country and West Birmingham CCGs. This post is one of two Deputy Accountable Officer roles across the
CCGs. The figures in the Pensions Table for these two appointments have been provided by Dudley CCG
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Note 3

New appointments made in year to support the Black Country and West Birmingham CCGs. The salary is paid by
Sandwell and West Birmingham CCG and recharged accordingly. The figures in the Pensions Table for these two
appointments have been provided by Sandwell & West Birmingham CCG.

Note 4

For staff sharing arrangements, the CCG is required to report on the total salaries. The total basic salaries in 19-20
are as follows:
Accountable Officer £170,000 (full year)
Deputy Accountable Officer/Chief Finance Officer £151,000 (full year)
Deputy Accountable Officer £31,500 (Dec-Mar)
Director of HR £15,010 (Feb-Mar)

Note 5

The salary shown is net of a contractual payment made in lieu of notice.
This is shown in the Exit Package note on page 112.

Note 6

Previously seconded in at no cost from Shropshire CCG - now employed directly by Walsall CCG. Salary is shown net
of an element of protected pay of £13,000, which is funded by Shropshire CCG.

Note 7

Recharge from Sandwell & West Birmingham NHS Foundation Trust.

Note 8

Paid directly to attend Governing Body meetings as a Governing Body member.

Note 9

GP Board Members employed under a contract for service are classed as ‘off payroll workers’. However, HMRC have
deemed these long-term contract holders as ‘office holders’ of the CCG which requires the CCG to deduct income tax
and national insurance at source. Since the CCG have assurance around the tax and National Insurance obligations
of these ‘off payroll workers’, there is no requirement to disclose these arrangements under the ‘Off Payroll
Engagements’ note on page 110.
The salary shown for GP Board Members may include additional sessions paid for clinical work they undertake for the
CCG and the employer’s contribution through GP Solo forms to their pension as a Practitioner at the rate agreed with
the NHS Pensions Agency
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Note 10

The value of pension benefits accrued during the year is calculated as the real increase in pensions multiplied by 20,
less, the contributions made by the individual. The real increase excludes increases due to inflation or any increase or
decrease due to a transfer of pension rights.
This value does not represent an amount that will be received by the individual. It is a calculation that is intended to
convey to the reader of the accounts an estimation of the benefit that being a member of the pension scheme could
provide.
The pension benefit table provides further information on the pension benefits accruing to the individual.

Note 11

A pensions multiplier of 2.4% has been applied in calculating the real increase in pension, lump sum and Cash
Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV).

Note 12

No lump sum will be shown for senior managers who only have membership in the 2015 Scheme or 2008 Section
(unless they chose to move their 1995 Section benefits to the 2008 Section under the Choice exercise).
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All pension related benefits
This figure includes those benefits accruing to senior managers from membership of
the NHS Pensions Scheme, which is a defined benefit scheme (although accounted
for by NHS bodies as if it were a defined contribution scheme). Any pension
contributions made by the senior manager or any transferred in amounts are
excluded from this figure.
The value of pension benefits accrued during the year is calculated as the real
increase in pension multiplied by 20, less, the contributions made by the individual.
The real increase excludes increases due to inflation or any increase or decrease
due to a transfer of pension rights.
This value does not represent an amount that will be received by the individual. It is
a calculation that is intended to convey to the reader of the accounts an estimation of
the benefit that being a member of the pension scheme could provide.
The pension benefit table provides further information on the pension benefits
accruing to the individual.
Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV)
A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of
the pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The
benefits valued are the member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s (or
other allowable beneficiary’s) pension payable from the scheme. CETVs are
calculated in accordance with SI 2008 No.1050 Occupational Pension Schemes
(Transfer Values) Regulations 2008.
A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension
benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a
scheme and chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme. The
pension figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a
consequence of their total membership of the pension scheme, not just their service
in a senior capacity to which disclosure applies.
The CETV figures and the other pension details include the value of any pension
benefits in another scheme or arrangement, which the individual has transferred to
the NHS pension scheme. They also include any additional pension benefit accrued
to the member as a result of their purchasing additional years of pension service in
the scheme at their own cost. CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and
framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries.
Real increase in CETV
This reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the employer. It takes
account of the increase in accrued pension due to inflation, contributions paid by the
employee (including the value of any benefits transferred from another scheme or
arrangement) and uses common market valuation factors for the start and end of the
period.
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Compensation on early retirement for loss of office - Audited
During the year ended 31 March 2020, there have been no compensation payments
made for early retirement or loss of office to current or past directors or senior
managers.
Payments to past Directors - Audited
During the year ended 31 March 2020, there have been no payments made to past
directors not already disclosed elsewhere.
Pay multiples – Audited
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration
of the highest paid Director/Member in their organisation and the median
remuneration of the organisation’s workforce.
The figures have been prepared in accordance with the Hutton Review of Fair Pay
implementation guidance. The median remuneration of the reporting entity’s staff is
the total remuneration of the staff member(s) lying in the middle of the linear
distribution of the total staff, excluding the highest paid director. This is based on
annualised, full-time equivalent remuneration as at the reporting period date. A
median will not be significantly affected by large or small salaries that may skew an
average (mean) – hence it is more transparent in highlighting whether a director is
being paid significantly more than the middle staff in the organisation.
The banded remuneration of the highest paid Director/Member in NHS Walsall CCG
in the financial year 2019/20 was £105k - £110k (2018-19, £180k - £185k). This was
2.3 times (2018/19 3.9 times) the median remuneration of the workforce, which was
£46,331 (2018/19 £45,827).
In 2019/20, no employees (2018/19, no employees) received remuneration in excess
of the highest paid Director/Member. Remuneration ranged from £3k to £105k
(2018/19 £3k to £112k).
Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay and
benefits-in-kind but not severance payments. It does not include employer pension
contributions and the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions.
The reduction in the pay multiple from last year is due to a change in the reported
highest paid Director in Walsall CCG. Previously, this post was held by the
Accountable Officer but following the implementation of a joint management
structure between the Black Country and West Birmingham CCGs, this post became
a jointly shared appointment. The salary is paid by Dudley CCG and the costs are
recharged accordingly. Details around the full time basic salary of the Accountable
Officer can be found in the Remuneration Report on page 99.
The median remuneration of the workforce is disproportionally inflated by the
annualised full time equivalent costs of GP board members, clinical advisors and lay
members who work on a sessional basis. The increase in the median from last year
is mainly due to a local pay award.
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3.2.2 Staff Report
Number of Senior Managers
There are six Senior Managers including the Accountable Officer and three Chief
Officers as follows:
Name
Paul Maubach

Title
Accountable Officer

Pay Band
VSM

Gender
Male

Matthew
Hartland
Donna
Macarthur
Paul Tulley
Sarah Shingler
Simon Brake

Strategic Finance Officer

VSM

Male

Director of Primary Care and Integration

VSM

Female

Director of Commissioning
Chief Nurse
Chief Officer

VSM
VSM
VSM

Male
Female
Male

Staff Numbers and Costs – Audited

Staff Group

Medical and Dental
Administration and Estates
Nursing, Midwifery and Health Visiting
Staff
Scientific, Therapeutic and Technical
Staff
Total

Staff Group

Medical and Dental
Administration and Estates
Nursing, Midwifery and Health Visiting
Staff
Scientific, Therapeutic and Technical
Staff
Total
*

Permanently
Employed
Number *
(Average)
0.20
58.80
5.57

2019-20
Other

Total

Number
(Average)
2.08
10.97
1.80

Number
(Average)
2.28
69.77
7.37

3.60

1.00

4.60

68.17

15.85

84.02

2018-19
Other

Total

Permanently
Employed
Number *
(Average)
1.32
63.29
5.00

Number
(Average)
1.45
8.77
0.87

Number
(Average)
2.77
72.06
5.87

4.35

1.00

5.35

73.96

12.09

86.05

Excludes Non Executives, Lay Members and GP Governing Body Members
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Staff Costs

Total
Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social Security Costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension Scheme
Other Pension Costs
Apprenticeship levy
Other Post-Employment Benefits
Other Employment Benefits
Termination Benefits
Gross Employee Benefits Expenditure

Total
Permanent
Employees

Other

Total

2019-20
Admin
Permanent
Employees

Programme
Permanent
Employees

Other

Total

Other

1.331
115
133
1,579

173
5
4
182

4,249
405
737
5
152
5,548

3,930
388
733
5
152
5,208

319
17
4
340

2,745
285
600
5
152
3,787

2,599
273
600
5
152
3,629

146
12
158

1,504
120
137
1,761

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits
Total – Net Admin Employee Benefits including
Capitalised Costs

5,548

5,208

340

3,787

3,629

158

1,761

1,579

182

Less: Employee Costs Capitalised
Net Employee Benefits excluding Capitalised Costs

5,548

5,208

340

3,787

3,629

158

1,761

1,579

182

Total
Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social Security Costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension Scheme
Other Pension Costs
Apprenticeship levy
Other Post-Employment Benefits
Other Employment Benefits
Termination Benefits
Gross Employee Benefits Expenditure
Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits
Total - Net Admin Employee Benefits including
Capitalised Costs
Less: Employee Costs Capitalised
Net Employee Benefits excluding Capitalised Costs

4,234
418
494
6
5,152

Total
Permanent
Employees
3,827
388
471
6
4,692

Other

Total

407
30
23
460

3,195
332
393
6
3,926

2018-19
Admin
Permanent
Employees
2,858
308
376
6
3,548

Other

Total

337
24
17
378

1,039
86
101
1,226

Programme
Permanent
Employees
969
80
95
1,144

Other
70
6
6
82

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

5,152

4,692

460

3,926

3,548

378

1,226

1,144

82

5,152

4,692

460

3,926

3,548

378

1,226

1,144

82
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Staff Composition
We employ 92 members of staff (including governing body members and clinical
leads) who work within the following five key directorates:


Quality & Safety: Safeguarding, Continuing Healthcare



Corporate: Governance, Human Resources, Communications,
Performance and Delivery



Primary Care and Integration: Medicines Management



Commissioning



Finance and Resource Management

Walsall CCG’s full time and part time breakdown is set out below. These figures are
based on staff in post as at 31 March 2020.

Staff Grouping
Governing Body
Other Senior
Management (Band 8C +)
All other employees
Grand total

% by participation
Full- time
Part- time
100%
100%
63%
59%

37%
41%

Walsall CCG’s gender distribution is set out below. These figures are based on staff
in post as at 31 March 2020.

Governing Body
%
=Other Senior
Management
(Band 8C +)
%
All other
employees
%

4
36%
6

7
64%
3

Total

Male

Staff
Grouping

Female

Headcount by
gender

11

9
67%
60

33%
12

83%

17%

72
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Sickness absence data
The table below shows the total sickness days lost by the organisation against the
Cumulative % absence rate. It should be noted that the days lost can be attributed to
a number of long-term illnesses and a reduced amount of short-term absences.
The management and reporting of sickness is supported by a robust absence
management policy and advice from the Human Resources team.
National sickness absence figures can be accessed at
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-sickness-absencerates/november-2019

2019/2020
Total days lost (FTE)

1038.52

Cumulative % absence rate

3.43

Ill Health Retirements
No-one from the CCG retired early on the grounds of ill health in 2019/20 (none
2018/19). Ill health retirement costs are met by the NHS Pension Scheme.
The CCG did not agree any early retirements in 2019/20 (none 2018/19). Any
additional costs such as pension liabilities would have been met by the CCG and not
by the NHS Pension Scheme.
Staff polices and Consultation
The CCG has a number of staff management policies in place to ensure effective
recruitment and employment of its staff. These policies recognise the importance of
good employment relationships and commitment to employee engagement.
The policies are reviewed regularly and are approved through the CCG’s HR & OD
Working Group that meet on a monthly basis and are also reported back to the
Remuneration Committee for assurance.
In 2019/20, the CCG reviewed and refreshed most of their workforce policies. All
staff policies are accessible to all staff via the staff intranet site.
All staff have access to an Employee Assistance Programme (EAP). This has been
promoted to staff via display materials and internal communications.
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Staff Engagement
Quarterly staff development sessions, weekly team briefings by the Chief Executive
Officer and/or alternate director, team briefings, newsletters and regular
communications help to enforce this culture. Staff are encouraged to voice their
opinions and ideas. In addition to this we also have Staff council which meets every
six weeks to consider all aspects of staff satisfaction, organisational development
and policy consultation. The council is chaired by an elected member of the council
and is well represented from each department, including attendance from staff side.
Membership is reviewed annually through a constituency voting mechanism and
council.
We continue to recognise our “star of the month” award scheme for staff that have
gone the extra mile in demonstrating our staff values. This is nominated by staff and
chosen by the senior team every month at our team brief.
Apprenticeship scheme
The CCG continues to work in partnership with Walsall College, to attract and retain
business administration apprentices. We continued our commitment to the
apprentice programme in 2019 by employing a further two apprentices across the
CCG.
Equality and diversity
The CCG is committed to equality of opportunity for all employees and is committed
to employment practices, policies and procedures which ensure that no employee,
or potential employee, receives less favorable treatment including age, disability,
gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, gender,
sexual orientation, marriage and civil partnership or any other personal
characteristic.
We are compliant with the Public Sector Equality Duty set out in the Equality Act
2010.


Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, victimisation, and other
conduct prohibited by the Act



Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected
characteristic and those who do not



Foster good relations between people who share a protected
characteristic and those who do not

We publish an Annual Equality Report on our website that sets out how we have
met the public sector equality duty.
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Disability
The CCG welcomes applications from disabled candidates. We will make reasonable
adjustments to ensure that such applicants can pursue their application (subject to
the individuals informing the CCG) and progress their career with the CCG once
successfully appointed. The CCG abides by the principles of the ‘Two Ticks’ symbol
user, anyone with a disability whose application meets the essential criteria for the
post which is listed on the person specification is guaranteed an interview. In
addition to this, the CCG is committed to continuing the employment of, arranging
appropriate training for and promoting career development for employees who
become disabled.
We employ very few staff with a disability (0.8%), 5% of our workforce declined the
opportunity to disclose their disability.
The CCG is looking into introducing the Workforce Disability Equality Standard
(WDES), which came into force on 1 April 2019, which will enable the CCG to
compare the experiences of disabled and non-disabled staff.
Workforce Race Equality Standard (WRES)
The CCG is committed to delivering our equality and diversity responsibilities and
therefore have embraced the WRES standards in the NHS Standard Contract. We
are in the process of assessing our progress during 2019/20 and setting ourselves
new objectives for 2020 onwards.
Training & Development
All of our staff are provided with access to training and development through a
variety of methods, including formal training courses, online training, shadowing,
conferences, internal and external workshops and forums. A range of other
management support for staff, including regular team meetings and 1:1 support
supplements this. Staff are also expected to participate in an annual appraisal, the
outcomes of which will inform CCG training and development plans.
Policies to support equal treatment in employment
The CCG also seeks to obtain assurance regarding equal pay for equal work. All
roles and their grades are evaluated in line with national job evaluation systems and
processes. The national process was specifically designed to ensure that work of
equal value receives equal pay. All staff under Agenda for Change are remunerated
within the agreed national pay ranges for their roles and grade.
Very Senior Managers are not subject to Agenda for Change and so their pay and
conditions are not subject to the job evaluation process. For these staff, pay levels
are determined by reference to market conditions, guidance issued nationally via
NHS England and through agreement at Walsall CCG’s Remuneration Committee.
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Workplace health, safety and wellbeing
The CCG values its employees. All staff have access to an Occupational Health
Service and trained mental health first aiders to support and promote health and
wellbeing. In addition to this, all staff have access to an Employee Assistance
Programme (EAP). This has been promoted to staff via display materials and internal
communications.
Fraud
Staff also have access to the counter fraud intranet page, which contains policies
and guidance relating to reporting concerns about fraudulent behaviour. The Audit
and Governance Committee approves the CCG’s counter fraud work plan on an
annual basis and monitors progress on the implementation of counter fraud
activities at each of its meetings.
The CCG has a whistleblowing policy that also encourages staff to report fraudulent
activity to the Local Counter Fraud Specialist.
The CCG have revised the Whistleblowing policy and encourages staff to report any
concerns to the ‘Speak up Guardian’. There has been one whistleblowing report
during 2019/20.
Commissioning Support
We buy support for payroll, recruitment and ESR from Walsall Healthcare Trust and
The Royal Wolverhampton Trust. In addition to this in 2019/20 we contracted NHS
Arden and Greater East Midlands Commissioning Support Unit to support with
Engagement and Equality & Diversity.
Trade Union Facility Time
The Trade Union (Facility Time Publication Requirements) regulations 2017 require
public sector organisations to report on trade union facility time in their
organisations. Facility time is paid time off for union representatives to carry out
trade union activities and covers duties carried out for the trade union or as a union
representation, such as accompanying an employee to a disciplinary or grievance
hearing. It also covers training received and duties carried out under the Health and
Safety at Work Act 1974.
The relevant information for Walsall CCG is as follows:
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Table 1: Relevant Union Officials
Number of employees who were
relevant union officials during 19-20
1

Full-time equivalent employee number
1.0

Table 2: Percentage of Time Spent on Facility Time
Percentage of time
6.4%

Number of employees
1

Table 3: Percentage of Pay Bill Spent on Facility Time
Total cost of facility time
Total pay bill
Percentage of total pay bill spent on facility time

£’000
2.8
5,428
0.05%

Table 4: Paid Trade Union Activities
Time spent on trade union activities as a percentage of
total paid facility time hours

0

Consultancy Expenditure
The CCG have spent a total of £456k during the financial year on external
consultancy fees. Some of the main areas of spend are detailed below:






Continuation of the supportive work around the commissioning of individual
children’s complex care cases and supporting the TCP agenda for the CCG
£122k.
Continuing provision of assessment and support around Continuing
Healthcare and Personal Health Budgets at a cost of £32k.
Consultancy support around the establishment of an interim role of children’s
safeguarding designate nurse which is a CCG statutory function £86k.
IT expenditure around Electronic palliative care coordination systems
(EPaCCS) and integrated shared record project £37k.

All consultancy spend is assessed for Value for Money prior to appointment and a
review undertaken to ensure all objectives were met.
Off payroll arrangements
Treasury require public sector bodies to disclose arrangements whereby individuals
are paid through their own companies (and so are responsible for their own tax and
National Insurance arrangements, not being classed as employees).
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Table 1: Off-payroll engagements longer than 6 months
For all off payroll engagements as of 31 March 2020, for more than £245 per day
and that last longer than six months:
Number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2020
Of which, the number that have existed:
for less than one year at the time of reporting

Number
5
1

for between one and two years at the time of reporting
for between two and three years at the time of reporting
for between three and four years at the time of reporting
for four or more years at the time of reporting

3

1

Table 2: New off-payroll engagements
For all new off-payroll engagements, or those that reached six months in duration,
between 1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020, for more than £245 per day and that last
for longer than six months:
Number of new engagements or those that reached six months in
duration, between 1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020
Of which….
Number assessed as caught by IR35
Number assessed as not caught by IR35
Number engaged directly (via PSC contracted to the entity) and are on
the entity’s payroll
Number of engagements reassessed for consistency/assurance
purposes during the year
Number of engagements that saw a change to IR35 status following
the consistency review

Number
3

0
3
0
0
0

Table 3: Off-payroll board member/senior official engagements
For any off payroll engagements of board members, and/or senior officials with
significant financial responsibility, between 1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020:
Number of off payroll engagements of board members, and/or,
senior officials with significant financial responsibility, during the
financial year
Number of individuals on payroll and off-payroll that have been
deemed “board members, and/or, senior officials with significant
financial responsibility,” during the financial year. This figure must
include both on payroll and off-payroll engagements

Number
0

25
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Exit packages including special (non contractual) payments - audited
19-20
Compulsory
Redundancies
No
£
Less than £10,000
£10,001 to £25,000
£25,001 to £50,000
£50,001 to £100,000
£101,001 to £150,000
£150,001 to £200,000
TOTAL

1

32,640

1

32,640

18-19
Compulsory
Redundancies
No
£

19-20
Other Agreed
Departures
No
£

19-20
Total
No

£

1

17,011

1
1

17,011
32,640

1

17,011

2

49,651

18-19
Other Agreed
Departures
No
£

18-19
Total
No

£

Less than
£10,000
£10,001 to
£25,000
£25,001 to
£50,000
£50,001 to
£100,000
£101,001 to
£150,000
£150,001 to
£200,000
TOTAL
19-20
Departures where special
payments have been
made
No
£

18-19
Departures where
special payments have
been made
No
£

Less than £10,000
£10,001 to £25,000
£25,001 to £50,000
£50,001 to £100,000
£101,001 to £150,000
£150,001 to £200,000
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19-20
Other agreed
departures
No
£
Voluntary redundancies including
early retirement contractual costs
Mutually agreed resignations (MARS)
contractual costs
Early retirements in the efficiency of
the service contractual costs
Contractual payments in lieu of notice
Exit payments following Employment
Tribunals or court orders
Non-contractual payments requiring
HMT approval

1

18-19
Other agreed
departures
No
£

17,011

Redundancy costs have been paid in accordance with the provisions of the NHS
Terms and Conditions of Service Handbook. This relates to the CCG’s share of the
costs incurred in making one of the Black Country and West Birmingham CCG’s
Accountable Officer redundant as part of the implementation of a joint Black Country
management structure.
The Remuneration Report includes the disclosure of exit payments made under
other agreed departures and which were payable to individuals named in that report.
Pension Liabilities
Details of how pension liabilities are treated in the CCG accounts can be found
under note 4.4 of the annual accounts – see page 142.
Pension disclosures relating to senior managers are shown in the Remuneration and
Staff Report within the Accountability Report – see page 98.
Better Payments Practice Code
The Better Payment Practice Code requires the CCG to aim to pay all valid invoices
by the due date or within 30 days of receipt of a valid invoice, whichever is later.
The CCG successfully achieved compliance with this code and further details are
available in note 6 of the accounts - see page 145.
Prompt payments code
In addition, the CCG is a signatory to the Prompt Payments Code that sets
standards for payment processes and best practice. It covers prompt payment as
well as wider payment procedures so our suppliers can have confidence that the
payments we make will be in line with the code and best practice.
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Cost allocation and charges for information
We certify that the CCG has complied with HM Treasury’s guidance on cost
allocation and the setting of charges for information.
Full guidance can be obtained from Chapter 6 of HM Treasury’s “Managing Public
Money”.
External Auditors Remuneration
The CCG’s appointed external auditors are Grant Thornton UK LLP, 20 Colmore
Circus, Birmingham, B4 6AT.
Work performed by the auditors during 2019/20 related to the external audit and to
work around the 17/18 and 18/19 Mental Health Investment Standard. This work
amounted to a total cost of £65,760 including VAT.
This is shown with Audit Fees in Note 5 of the Financial Statements.
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3.3 Parliamentary and Accountability
Report - Audited
Walsall CCG is not required to produce a Parliamentary Accountability and Audit
Report. Disclosures on losses and special payment are included as Note 21 in the
Financial Statements of this report, page 160. An audit report is also included in this
Annual Report on page 161.

Paul Maubach
Accountable Officer
24 June 2020
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4. Annual Accounts
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Foreword to the Accounts

NHS Walsall Clinical Commissioning Group

These accounts for the year ended 31 March 2020 have been prepared by NHS
Walsall Clinical Commissioning Group in accordance with sections 17(4)(a) and (b)
of Schedule 1A of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) in the form
which the NHS Commissioning Board, with the approval of the Secretary of State for
Health has directed.
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Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the Year Ended 31 March
2020

2019-20

2018-19

£000

£000

Note

3

Income from sale of goods and services

3

Other operating income

(4,654)

(964)

Total Operating Income

(4,654)

(964)

5,548

5,152

4

468,539

434,156

5

109

71

5

-

-

5

480

570

5

Total Operating Expenditure

474,676

439,949

Net Operating Expenditure

470,022

438,985

Comprehensive Expenditure for the Year Ended 31 March 2020

470,022

438,985

Staff costs
Purchase of goods and services
Depreciation and impairment charges
Provision expense
Other operating expenditure

The notes on pages 125 to 160 form part of this statement.
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Statement of Financial Position as at 31 March 2020

31 March 2020

31 March 2019

£000

£000

Note

Non-Current Assets:
Property, plant and equipment

250

323

8

Intangible assets

109

74

9

-

-

10

359

397

12,380

10,982

10

88

99

11

Total Current Assets

12,468

11,081

Total Assets

12,827

11,478

(51,122)

(37,701)

12

(106)

-

13

Total Current Liabilities

(51,228)

(37,701)

Non-Current Assets plus/less Net Current
Assets/Liabilities

(38,401)

(26,223)

-

-

12

(14)

-

13

-

-

(38,415)

(26,223)

(38,415)

(26,223)

Trade and other receivables
Total Non-Current Assets
Current Assets:
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables
Provisions

Non-Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables
Provisions
Total Non-Current Liabilities
Assets less Liabilities
Financed by Taxpayers’ Equity
General fund

-

Revaluation reserve
Total Taxpayers' Equity

(38,415)

(26,223)

The notes on pages 125 to160 form part of this statement.
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The financial statements on pages 119 to 124 were approved by the Audit & Governance
Committee on 16 June 2020 under authority delegated by the Governing Body and signed
on its behalf by:

Mr Paul Maubach
Accountable Officer
16 June 2020
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Statement of Changes in Taxpayers Equity for the Year Ended 31 March 2020

General
fund

Revaluation
reserve

Other
reserves

Total
reserves

£000

£000

£000

£000

(26,223)

-

-

(26,223)

Net operating expenditure for the financial year

(470,022)

-

-

(470,022)

Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group
Expenditure for the Financial Year

(496,245)

(496,245)

Net funding

457,830

457,830

Balance at 31 March 2020

(38,415)

(38,415)

Change in Taxpayers’ Equity for 2019-20
Balance at 1 April 2019

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group
Taxpayers’ Equity for 2019-20

General
fund

Revaluation
reserve

Other
reserves

Total
reserves

£000

£000

£000

£000

(23,057)

-

-

(23,057)

Net operating expenditure for the financial year

(438,985)

-

-

(438,985)

Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group
Expenditure for the Financial Year

(462,042)

(462,042)

Net funding

435,819

435,819

Balance at 31 March 2019

(26,223)

(26,223)

Change in Taxpayers’ Equity for 2018-19
Balance at 1 April 2018

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group
Taxpayers’ Equity for 2018-19

The notes on pages 125 to 160 form part of this statement.
CCGs typically run with a high level of trade and other payables. This is mainly as a result of
the delays in being charged for items such as prescribing costs (typically eight weeks in
arrears) and over performance on healthcare contracts.
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The CCG receives a maximum cash drawdown limit each year (adjusted for forecasts of end
of year payables and receivables balances) which is used to cover their net outgoings.
The deficit above of £38.4m reflects the difference between the CCG’s cash funding in the
year and the net expenditure, and is covered by the net current liabilities as shown in the
Statement of Financial Position.
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Statement of Cash Flows for the Year Ended 31 March 2020

2019-20

2018-19

£000

£000

(470,022)

(438,985)

109

71

5

-

-

5

(Increase)/decrease in trade & other receivables

(1,398)

(497)

10

Increase/(decrease) in trade & other payables

13,408

4,015

12

0

-

13

120

-

13

(457,783)

(435,396)

-

(321)

(Payments) for intangible assets

(58)

(51)

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Investing Activities

(58)

(372)

(457,841)

(435,768)

Parliamentary funding received

457,830

435,819

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Financing Activities

457,830

435,819

(11)

51

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Financial Year

99

48

Cash & Cash Equivalents (inc Bank Overdrafts) at the End of the Financial Year

88

99

Note

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net operating expenditure for the financial year
Depreciation and amortisation
Impairments and reversals

Provisions utilised
Increase/(decrease) in provisions
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Operating Activities
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
(Payments) for property, plant and equipment

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) before Financing
Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents

11

The notes on page 125 to 160 form part of this statement.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
1

Accounting Policies

NHS England has directed that the financial statements of CCGs shall meet the accounting
requirements of the Group Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health.
Consequently, the following financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the
Group Accounting Manual 2019-20 issued by the Department of Health and Social Care.
The accounting policies contained in the Group Accounting Manual follow International
Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to
Clinical Commissioning Groups, as determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the
Financial Reporting Advisory Board. Where the Group Accounting Manual permits a choice
of accounting policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the
particular circumstances of the CCG for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been
selected. The particular policies adopted by the CCG are described below. They have been
applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the accounts.
1.1

Going Concern

These accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis.
Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the
provision of a service in the future is anticipated, as evidenced by inclusion of financial
provision for that service in published documents.
Where a CCG ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to be
provided (using the same assets, by another public sector entity) in determining whether to
use the concept of going concern for the final set of financial statements. If services will
continue to be provided the financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis.
1.2

Accounting Convention

These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to
account for the revaluation of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, inventories
and certain financial assets and financial liabilities.
1.3

Movement of Assets within the Department of Health and Social Care Group

As Public Sector Bodies are deemed to operate under common control, business
reconfigurations within the Department of Health and Social Care Group are outside the
scope of IFRS 3 Business Combinations. Where functions transfer between two public
sector bodies, the Department of Health and Social Care GAM requires the application of
absorption accounting.
Absorption accounting requires that entities account for their transactions in the period in
which they took place, with no restatement of performance required when functions transfer
within the public sector. Where assets and liabilities transfer, the gain or loss resulting is
recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure, and is disclosed separately
from operating costs.
Other transfers of assets and liabilities within the Department of Health and Social Care
Group are accounted for in line with IAS 20 and similarly give rise to income and expenditure
entries.
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1.4

Joint Arrangements

Arrangements over which the CCG has joint control with one or more other entities are
classified as joint arrangements. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of
an arrangement. A joint arrangement is either a joint operation or a joint venture.
A joint operation exists where the parties that have joint control have rights to the assets and
obligations for the liabilities relating to the arrangement. Where the CCG is a joint operator, it
recognises its share of assets, liabilities, income and expenses in its own accounts.
1.5

Pooled Budgets

The CCG has a Section 75 pooled budget arrangement with Walsall Council relating to the
commissioning of health and social care services under the Better Care Fund (BCF). This
fund was established by the Government with the requirement that the CCG and the council
establishes a pooled fund for this purpose.
The fund is hosted by Walsall Council and the partners each commission services for
individual schemes on behalf of each other.
The CCG review Section 75 agreements to determine which party has control over the
services being delivered, in accordance with IFRS 11 and the accounting policy at 1.4 for
joint operations.
1.6

Operating Segments

Income and expenditure are analysed in the Operating Segments note 17 and are reported
in line with management information used within the CCG.
1.7

Revenue

In the application of IFRS 15 a number of practical expedients offered in the Standard have
been employed. These are as follows;


As per paragraph 121 of the Standard, the CCG will not disclose information
regarding performance obligations part of a contract that has an original expected
duration of one year or less,



The CCG is to similarly not disclose information where revenue is recognised in line
with the practical expedient offered in paragraph B16 of the Standard where the right
to consideration corresponds directly with value of the performance completed to
date.



The FReM has mandated the exercise of the practical expedient offered in C7(a) of
the Standard that requires the CCG to reflect the aggregate effect of all contracts
modified before the date of initial application.

The main source of funding for the CCG is from NHS England. This is drawn down and
credited to the general fund. Funding is recognised in the period in which it is received.
Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when (or as) performance obligations
are satisfied by transferring promised services to the customer, and is measured at the
amount of the transaction price allocated to that performance obligation.
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Where income is received for a specific performance obligation that is to be satisfied in the
following year, that income is deferred.
Payment terms are standard reflecting cross government principles.
The value of the benefit received when the CCG accesses funds from the Government’s
apprenticeship service are recognised as income in accordance with IAS 20, Accounting for
Government Grants. Where these funds are paid directly to an accredited training provider,
non-cash income and a corresponding non-cash training expense are recognised, both
equal to the cost of the training funded.
1.8

Employee Benefits

1.8.1

Short-term Employee Benefits

Salaries, wages and employment-related payments, including payments arising from the
apprenticeship levy, are recognised in the period in which the service is received from
employees, including bonuses earned but not yet taken.
The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised
in the financial statements to the extent that employees are permitted to carry forward leave
into the following period.
1.8.2

Retirement Benefit Costs

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Schemes.
These schemes are unfunded, defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, General
Practices and other bodies allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State in England
and Wales. The schemes are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies
to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities.
Therefore, the schemes are accounted for as though they were defined contribution
schemes: the cost to the CCG of participating in a scheme is taken as equal to the
contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.
For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are
not funded by the scheme. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged
to expenditure at the time the Clinical Commissioning Group commits itself to the retirement,
regardless of the method of payment.
The schemes are subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years and an accounting
valuation every year.
1.9

Other Expenses

Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or
services have been received. They are measured at the fair value of the consideration
payable.
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1.10

Property, Plant & Equipment

1.10.1 Recognition
Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if:
·

It is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes;

·

It is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential will be
supplied to the CCG;

·

It is expected to be used for more than one financial year;

·

The cost of the item can be measured reliably; and,

·

The item has a cost of at least £5,000; or,

·

Collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a
cost of more than £250, where the assets are functionally interdependent, they had
broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to have simultaneous disposal
dates and are under single managerial control; or,

·

Items form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward or
unit, irrespective of their individual or collective cost.

Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with
significantly different asset lives, the components are treated as separate assets and
depreciated over their own useful economic lives.
1.10.2 Measurement
All property, plant and equipment is measured initially at cost, representing the cost directly
attributable to acquiring or constructing the asset and bringing it to the location and condition
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.
Assets that are held for their service potential and are in use are measured subsequently at
their current value in existing use. Assets that were most recently held for their service
potential but are surplus are measured at fair value where there are no restrictions
preventing access to the market at the reporting date.
Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that carrying amounts are not
materially different from those that would be determined at the end of the reporting period.
Current values in existing use are determined as follows:
·

Land and non-specialised buildings – market value for existing use; and,

·

Specialised buildings – depreciated replacement cost.
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Properties in the course of construction for service or administration purposes are carried at
cost, less any impairment loss. Cost includes professional fees but not borrowing costs,
which are recognised as expenses immediately, as allowed by IAS 23 for assets held at fair
value. Assets are re-valued and depreciation commences when they are brought into use.
IT equipment, transport equipment, furniture and fittings, and plant and machinery that are
held for operational use are valued at depreciated historic cost where these assets have
short useful economic lives or low values or both, as this is not considered to be materially
different from current value in existing use.
An increase arising on revaluation is taken to the revaluation reserve except when it
reverses an impairment for the same asset previously recognised in expenditure, in which
case it is credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged there. A
revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service potential
is recognised as an impairment charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is
a balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment losses
that arise from a clear consumption of economic benefit are taken to expenditure. Gains and
losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported as other comprehensive income in
the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure.
1.10.3 Subsequent Expenditure
Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond its original specification, the
directly attributable cost is capitalised. Where subsequent expenditure restores the asset to
its original specification, the expenditure is capitalised and any existing carrying value of the
item replaced is written-out and charged to operating expenses.
1.11

Intangible Assets

1.11.1 Recognition
Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance, which are capable of
sale separately from the rest of the CCG’s business or which arise from contractual or other
legal rights. They are recognised only:
·

When it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be
provided to, the CCG;

·

Where the cost of the asset can be measured reliably; and,

·

Where the cost is at least £5,000.

Software that is integral to the operating of hardware, for example an operating system, is
capitalised as part of the relevant item of property, plant and equipment. Software that is not
integral to the operation of hardware, for example application software, is capitalised as an
intangible asset. Expenditure on research is not capitalised but is recognised as an
operating expense in the period in which it is incurred. Internally-generated assets are
recognised if, and only if, all of the following have been demonstrated:
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.

The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will available for
use;

.

The intention to complete the intangible asset and use it;

·

The ability to sell or use the intangible asset;
How the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits or service
potential;

·

The availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the
intangible asset and sell or use it; and,

.

The ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset
during its development.

1.11.2 Measurement
Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised at cost. The amount initially
recognised for internally-generated intangible assets is the sum of the expenditure incurred
from the date when the criteria above are initially met. Where no internally-generated
intangible asset can be recognised, the expenditure is recognised in the period in which it is
incurred.
Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at current value in existing use by
reference to an active market, or, where no active market exists, at the lower of amortised
replacement cost or the value in use where the asset is income generating. Internallydeveloped software is held at historic cost to reflect the opposing effects of increases in
development costs and technological advances. Revaluations and impairments are treated
in the same manner as for property, plant and equipment.
1.11.3 Depreciation, Amortisation & Impairments
Freehold land, properties under construction, and assets held for sale are not depreciated.
Otherwise, depreciation and amortisation are charged to write off the costs or valuation of
property, plant and equipment and intangible non-current assets, less any residual value,
over their estimated useful lives, in a manner that reflects the consumption of economic
benefits or service potential of the assets. The estimated useful life of an asset is the period
over which the CCG expects to obtain economic benefits or service potential from the asset.
This is specific to the CCG and may be shorter than the physical life of the asset itself.
Estimated useful lives and residual values are reviewed each year end, with the effect of any
changes recognised on a prospective basis. Assets held under finance leases are
depreciated over their estimated useful lives.
At each reporting period end, the CCG checks whether there is any indication that any of its
property, plant and equipment assets or intangible non-current assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If there is indication of an impairment loss, the recoverable amount of the
asset is estimated to determine whether there has been a loss and, if so, its amount.
Intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment annually.
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A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service
potential is recognised as an impairment charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent
that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure.
Impairment losses that arise from a clear consumption of economic benefit are taken to
expenditure.
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is
increased to the revised estimate of the recoverable amount but capped at the amount that
would have been determined had there been no initial impairment loss. The reversal of the
impairment loss is credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged
there and thereafter to the revaluation reserve.
1.12

Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership are transferred to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.
1.12.1 The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessee
Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases are initially recognised, at the
inception of the lease, at fair value or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease
payments, with a matching liability for the lease obligation to the lessor. Lease payments are
apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve
a constant rate on interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are
recognised in calculating the CCG’s surplus/deficit.
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the
lease term. Lease incentives are recognised initially as a liability and subsequently as a
reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and building components are separated
and individually assessed as to whether they are operating or finance leases.
1.13

Cash & Cash Equivalents

Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on
notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are investments that mature in 3 months
or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of
cash with insignificant risk of change in value.
In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank
overdrafts that are repayable on demand and that form an integral part of the CCG’s cash
management.
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1.14

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the CCG has a present legal or constructive obligation as a
result of a past event, it is probable that the CCG will be required to settle the obligation, and
a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as
a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the end
of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties. Where a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the obligation, its carrying amount is the
present value of those cash flows using HM Treasury’s discount rate as follows:
Early retirement provisions are discounted using HM Treasury’s pension discount rate of
negative 0.50% (2018-19: positive 0.29%) in real terms. All general provisions are subject to
four separate discount rates according to the expected timing of cashflows from the
Statement of Financial Position date:


A nominal short-term rate of 0.51% (2018-19: 0.76%) for inflation adjusted expected
cash flows up to and including 5 years from Statement of Financial Position date.



A nominal medium-term rate of 0.55% (2018-19:1.14%) for inflation adjusted
expected cash flows over 5 years up to and including 10 years from the Statement of
Financial Position date.



A nominal long-term rate of 1.99% (2018-19: 1.99%) for inflation adjusted expected
cash flows over 10 years and up to and including 40 years from the Statement of
Financial Position date.



A nominal very long-term rate of 1.99% (2018-19: 1.99%) for inflation adjusted
expected cash flows exceeding 40 years from the Statement of Financial Position
date.

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be
recovered from a third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain
that reimbursements will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured
reliably.
A restructuring provision is recognised when the CCG has developed a detailed formal plan
for the restructuring and has raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out
the restructuring by starting to implement the plan or announcing its main features to those
affected by it. The measurement of a restructuring provision includes only the direct
expenditures arising from the restructuring, which are those amounts that are both
necessarily entailed by the restructuring and not associated with on-going activities of the
entity.
1.15

Clinical Negligence Costs

NHS Resolution operates a risk pooling scheme under which the CCG pays an annual
contribution to NHS Resolution, which in return settles all clinical negligence claims. The
contribution is charged to expenditure. Although NHS Resolution is administratively
responsible for all clinical negligence cases, the legal liability remains with CCG.
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1.16

Non-clinical Risk Pooling

The CCG participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties
Scheme. Both are risk pooling schemes under which the CCG pays an annual contribution
to the NHS Resolution and, in return, receives assistance with the costs of claims arising.
The annual membership contributions, and any excesses payable in respect of particular
claims are charged to operating expenses as and when they become due.
1.17

Financial Assets

Financial assets are recognised when the CCG becomes party to the financial instrument
contract or, in the case of trade receivables, when the goods or services have been
delivered. Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights have expired or the
asset has been transferred. Financial assets are classified into the following categories:
·

Financial assets at amortised cost;

·

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income and;

·

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss.

The classification is determined by the cash flow and business model characteristics of the
financial assets, as set out in IFRS 9, and is determined at the time of initial recognition.
1.17.1 Financial Assets at Amortised Cost
Financial assets measured at amortised cost are those held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by collecting contractual cash flows and where the cash flows are
solely payments of principal and interest. This includes most trade receivables and other
simple debt instruments. After initial recognition these financial assets are measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method less any impairment. The effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the life of the
financial asset to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset.
1.17.2 Financial Assets at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income
Financial assets held at fair value through other comprehensive income are those held within
a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and
selling financial assets and where the cash flows are solely payments of principal and
interest.
1.17.3 Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit and Loss
Financial assets measure at fair value through profit and loss are those that are not
otherwise measured at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income.
This includes derivatives and financial assets acquired principally for the purpose of selling
in the short term.
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1.17.4 Impairment
For all financial assets measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other
comprehensive income (except equity instruments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income), lease receivables and contract assets, the CCG recognises a loss
allowance representing the expected credit losses on the financial asset.
The CCG adopts the simplified approach to impairment in accordance with IFRS 9, and
measures the loss allowance for trade receivables, lease receivables and contract assets at
an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses. For other financial assets, the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses if the credit risk
on the financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition (stage 2) and
otherwise at an amount equal to 12 month expected credit losses (stage 1).
HM Treasury has ruled that central government bodies may not recognise stage 1 or stage 2
impairments against other government departments, their executive agencies, the Bank of
England, Exchequer Funds and Exchequer Funds assets where repayment is ensured by
primary legislation. The CCG therefore does not recognise loss allowances for stage 1 or
stage 2 impairments against these bodies. Additionally, DHSC provides a guarantee of last
resort against the debts of its arm's lengths bodies and NHS bodies and the CCG does not
recognise allowances for stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against these bodies.
For financial assets that have become credit impaired since initial recognition (stage 3),
expected credit losses at the reporting date are measured as the difference between the
asset's gross carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows
discounted at the financial asset's original effective interest rate. Any adjustment is
recognised in profit or loss as an impairment gain or loss.
1.18

Financial Liabilities

Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the CCG
becomes party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument or, in the case of
trade payables, when the goods or services have been received. Financial liabilities are derecognised when the liability has been discharged, that is, the liability has been paid or has
expired.
1.18.1 Financial Guarantee Contract Liabilities
Financial guarantee contract liabilities are subsequently measured at the higher of:
.

The premium received (or imputed) for entering into the guarantee less cumulative
amortisation; and

.

The amount of the obligation under the contract, as determined in accordance with
IAS 37: Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets.
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1.18.2 Financial Liabilities at Fair Value through Profit and Loss
Embedded derivatives that have different risks and characteristics to their host contracts,
and contracts with embedded derivatives whose separate value cannot be ascertained, are
treated as financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss. They are held at fair value,
with any resultant gain or loss recognised in the CCG’s surplus/deficit. The net gain or loss
incorporates any interest payable on the financial liability.
1.18.3 Other Financial Liabilities
After initial recognition, all other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, except for loans from Department of Health and Social Care,
which are carried at historic cost. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash payments through the life of the asset, to the net carrying amount of
the financial liability. Interest is recognised using the effective interest method.
1.19

Value Added Tax

Most of the activities of the CCG are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax
does not apply and input tax on purchases is not recoverable.
Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the
capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is
recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.
1.20

Foreign Currencies

The CCG’s functional currency and presentational currency is pounds sterling and amounts
are presented in thousands of pounds unless expressly stated otherwise. Transactions
denominated in a foreign currency are translated into sterling at the exchange rate ruling on
the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the spot exchange rate on 31 March.
Resulting exchange gains and losses for either of these are recognised in the CCG’s
surplus/deficit in the period in which they arise.
1.21

Third Party Assets

Assets belonging to third parties (such as money held on behalf of patients) are not
recognised in the accounts since the clinical commissioning group has no beneficial interest
in them.
1.22

Critical Accounting Judgements and Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

In the application of the CCG’s accounting policies, management is required to make various
judgements, estimates and assumptions. These are regularly reviewed.
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1.22.1 Critical Accounting Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies
The following are the judgements, apart from those involving estimations, that management
has made in the process of applying the CCG’s accounting policies and that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.
Better Care Fund
The CCG’s management has made a critical judgement in relation to applying accounting
policies to the Better Care Fund (BCF). This relates to the arrangements described in the
section 75 agreement it has with Walsall Council. The substance of each programme that
forms part of the BCF Pooled Budget has been assessed as to whether it meets the
principles within IFRS 11: ‘Joint Arrangements’. Specific programmes have been assessed
as either:
(1) Joint commissioning arrangements under which each pool partner accounts for their
share of expenditure and balances with the end provider;
(2) Lead commissioning arrangements under which the lead commissioner accounts for
expenditure with the end provider and other partners report transactions and balances with
the lead commissioner; or
(3) Sole control arrangements under which the provisions of IFRS 11 do not apply.
1.22.2 Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
The following are assumptions about the future and other major sources of estimation
uncertainty that have a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.
Healthcare accruals - A significant degree of estimation is required for healthcare accruals in
the latter part of the year where the activity data has not been received before closure of the
accounting period.
Provisions - It is recognised that a degree of estimation is required when making provisions,
including those relating to staff restructuring.
1.23

Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But Have Not Yet Been Adopted

The DHSC GAM does not require the following IFRS Standards and Interpretations to be
applied in 2019-20. These Standards are still subject to HM Treasury FReM adoption, with
IFRS 16 being for deferred for implementation in 2021-22, and the government
implementation date for IFRS 17 still subject to HM Treasury consideration.
●

IFRS 16 Leases – The Standard is effective 1 April 2021 as adapted and interpreted
by the FReM.
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The CCG have completed an impact assessment as to the likely effect that IFRS 16
will have on the financial statements. The impact will be immaterial in terms of
leases coming onto the balance sheet, the main one being the CCG headquarters at
a net book value at the 1st April 2021 of £217k
●

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts – Application required for accounting periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2021, but not yet adopted by the FReM: early adoption is not
therefore permitted.
The impact of this new standard on the CCG’s financial statements has not yet been
assessed but it’s unlikely to be material.
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2

Financial Performance Targets

NHS CCGs have a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as
amended). NHS Walsall CCG’s performance against those duties was as follows:
2019-20

2019-20

Target

2018-19

2018-19

Performance

Duty
Achieved

Target

Performance

474,753

474,747

YES

444,070 *

440,063 *

YES

Capital resource use does not
exceed the amount specified in
Directions

72

71

YES

117

114

YES

Revenue resource use does not
exceed the amount specified in
Directions

470,027

470,022

YES

438,989

438,985

YES

Capital resource use on specified
matter(s) does not exceed the
amount specified in Directions

-

-

N/A

-

-

N/A

Revenue resource use on specified
matter(s) does not exceed the
amount specified in Directions

-

-

N/A

-

-

N/A

6,275

5,985

YES

6,107

5,816

YES

Duty

Expenditure not to exceed income

Revenue administration resource
use does not exceed the amount
specified in Directions

Duty
Achieved

* 18-19 figures revised

3

Other Operating Revenue
2019-20

2018-19

Total

Total

£000

£000

Education, training and research

-

-

Non-patient care services to other bodies

-

-

Income from Sale of Goods and Services (Contracts)

Total Income from Sale of Goods and Services

-

Other Operating Income
Charitable and other contributions to revenue expenditure: non-NHS

27

238

Non-cash apprenticeship training grants revenue

7

1

Other non-contract revenue

4,620

725

Total Other Operating Income

4,654

964

Total Operating Income

4,654

964
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Revenue in this note does not include cash received from NHS England, which is drawn
down directly into the bank account of the CCG and credited to the General Fund.

4

Employee Benefits and Staff Numbers

4.1.1 Employee Benefits
2019-20

Total

Permanent
Employees

Other

£000

£000

£000

Salaries and wages

4,249

3,930

319

Social security costs

405

388

17

Employer contributions to NHS pension scheme

737

733

4

Apprenticeship levy

5

5

-

Termination benefits

152

152

-

5,548

5,208

340

-

-

-

5,548

5,208

340

-

-

-

5,548

5,208

340

Employee Benefits

Gross Employee Benefits Expenditure
Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits
Total – Net Admin Employee Benefits including Capitalised Costs
Less employee costs capitalised
Net Employee Benefits excluding Capitalised Costs

Termination benefits include the CCG’s share of the costs incurred in making one of the
Accountable Officers of one of the Black Country & West Birmingham CCG’s redundant as
part of the implementation of a joint Black Country management structure.
2018-19

Total

Permanent
Employees

Other

£000

£000

£000

Salaries and wages

4,234

3,827

407

Social security costs

418

388

30

Employer contributions to NHS pension scheme

494

471

23

6

6

-

5,152

4,692

460

-

-

-

5,152

4,692

460

-

-

-

5,152

4,692

460

Employee Benefits

Apprenticeship levy
Gross Employee Benefits Expenditure
Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits
Total – Net Admin Employee Benefits including Capitalised Costs
Less employee costs capitalised
Net Employee Benefits excluding Capitalised Costs
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4.2

Average Number of People Employed

Total

2019-20

2019-20

2019-20

2018-19

2018-19

2018-19

Total

Other

Total
Number

Permanently
Employed
Number

Other

Number

Permanently
Employed
Number

84.02

68.17

15.85

86.05

73.96

12.09

-

-

Of the above:
Number of whole time equivalent
people engaged on capital
projects

-

-

A more detailed breakdown of staff numbers can be found in the Staff Report section of the
CCG’s Annual Report.

4.3

Exit Packages Agreed in the Financial Year
2019-20

2019-20

Compulsory
Redundancies

Other Agreed
Departures

2019-20 Total

Number

£

Number

£

Number

£

Less than £10,000

-

-

-

-

-

-

£10,001 to £25,000

-

-

1

17,011

1

17,011

£25,001 to £50,000

1

32,640

-

-

1

32,640

£50,001 to £100,000

-

-

-

-

-

-

£100,001 to £150,000

-

-

-

-

-

-

£150,001 to £200,000

-

-

-

-

-

-

Over £200,001

-

-

-

-

-

-

Total

1

32,640

1

17,011

2

49,651

2018-19

2018-19

Compulsory
Redundancies

Other Agreed
Departures

2018-19 Total

Number

£

Number

£

Number

£

Less than £10,000

-

-

-

-

-

-

£10,001 to £25,000

-

-

-

-

-

-

£25,001 to £50,000

-

-

-

-

-

-

£50,001 to £100,000

-

-

-

-

-

-

£100,001 to £150,000

-

-

-

-

-

-

£150,001 to £200,000

-

-

-

-

-

-

Over £200,001

-

-

-

-

-

-

Total

-

-

-

-

-

-
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2019-20

2018-19

Departures where special
payments have been made

Departures where special
payments have been made

Number

£

Number

£

Less than £10,000

-

-

-

-

£10,001 to £25,000

-

-

-

-

£25,001 to £50,000

-

-

-

-

£50,001 to £100,000

-

-

-

-

£100,001 to £150,000

-

-

-

-

£150,001 to £200,000

-

-

-

-

Over £200,001

-

-

-

-

Total

-

-

-

-

Analysis of Other Agreed Departures

Voluntary redundancies including early retirement
contractual costs

2019-20

2018-19

Other agreed departures

Other agreed departures

Number

£

Number

£

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Mutually agreed resignations (MARS) contractual
costs

-

Early retirements in the efficiency of the service
contractual costs

-

Contractual payments in lieu of notice

1

Exit payments following Employment Tribunals or
court orders

-

Non-contractual payments requiring HMT approval

-

-

-

-

Total

1

17,011

-

-

-

17,011
-

Redundancy costs have been paid in accordance with the provisions of the NHS Terms and
Conditions of Service Handbook. This relates to the CCG’s share of the costs incurred from
making one of the Black Country and West Birmingham CCG’s Accountable Officers
redundant as part of the implementation of a joint management structure.
The Remuneration Report includes the disclosure of exit payments made under other
agreed departures and which were payable to individuals named in that Report.
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4.4 Pension Costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension
Schemes. Details of the benefits payable and rules of the Schemes can be found on the
NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. Both are unfunded defined benefit
schemes that cover NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the
direction of the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care in England and Wales. They
are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of
the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, each scheme is accounted for as if it
were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the NHS body of participating in each
scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to that scheme for the accounting
period.
In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not
differ materially from those that would be determined at the reporting date by a formal
actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the period between formal valuations shall be
four years, with approximate assessments in intervening years”. An outline of these follows:

4.4.1 Accounting Valuation
A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary (currently the
Government Actuary’s Department) as at the end of the reporting period. This utilises an
actuarial assessment for the previous accounting period in conjunction with updated
membership and financial data for the current reporting period, and is accepted as providing
suitably robust figures for financial reporting purposes. The valuation of the scheme liability
as at 31 March 2020, is based on valuation data as 31 March 2019, updated to 31 March
2020 with summary global member and accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial
assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FReM interpretations, and the
discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also been used.
The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the report of the
scheme actuary, which forms part of the annual NHS Pension Scheme Accounts. These
accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website and are published annually. Copies
can also be obtained from The Stationery Office.

4.4.2 Full Actuarial (Funding) Valuation
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due
under the schemes (taking into account recent demographic experience), and to recommend
contribution rates payable by employees and employers.
The latest actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed as at
31 March 2016. The results of this valuation set the employer contribution rate payable from
April 2019 to 20.6%, and the Scheme Regulations were amended accordingly.
The 2016 funding valuation was also expected to test the cost of the Scheme relative to the
employer cost cap set following the 2012 valuation. Following a judgment from the Court of
Appeal in December 2018 Government announced a pause to that part of the valuation
process pending conclusion of the continuing legal process.
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5

Operating Expenses
2019-20

2018-19

Total

Total

£000

£000

Services from other CCGs and NHS England

1,841

1,597

Services from foundation trusts

38,335

34,755

Services from other NHS trusts

260,236

239,359

1

2

Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies

63,035

58,821

Purchase of social care

1,114

739

Prescribing costs

50,029

48,263

General ophthalmic services

1,085

518

GPMS/APMS and PCTMS

43,904

42,735

Supplies and services – clinical

61

89

Supplies and services – general

1,283

791

458

285

1,645

1,235

Transport

162

111

Premises

4,691

4,455

Audit fees

57

56

Other professional fees

130

85

Legal fees

124

49

Education, training and conferences

341

211

7

1

468,539

434,157

Depreciation

86

65

Amortisation

23

6

Total Depreciation and Impairment Charges

109

71

Provisions

-

-

Total Provision Expense

-

-

459

509

Purchase of goods and services

Services from other WGA bodies

Consultancy services
Establishment

Non cash apprenticeship training grants
Total Purchase of Goods and Services
Depreciation and Impairment Charges

Provision Expense

Other Operating Expenditure
Chair and non-executive members
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Expected credit loss on receivables
Other expenditure
Total Other Operating Expenditure
Total Operating Expenditure

2019-20

2018-19

Total

Total

£000

£000

21

60

-

-

480

569

469,128

434,797

The liability in respect of partially completed spells is included within the Statement of
Financial position with the movement each year being shown within operating costs above.
The movement in 2019/20 is £426k and this is included within Services from Foundation
Trusts and other NHS Trusts.
The prepayment in respect of maternity services is included within the Statement of
Financial position with the movement each year shown within operating costs above. The
movement of £6k in 2019/20 is included within Services from Foundation Trusts and other
NHS Trusts.
Under IFRS 9, there is a presumption that all receivables will be subject to an expected
credit loss from day one – the expected credit loss for 2019/20 is shown under other
operating expenditure.
In accordance with SI 2008 no.489, The Companies (Disclosure of Auditor Remuneration
and Liability Limitation Agreements) Regulations 2008, the Clinical Commissioning Group
must disclose the principal terms of the limitation of the auditor’s liability. This is detailed as
follows:
For all defaults resulting in direct loss or damage to the property of the other party - £2m
limit.
In respect of all other defaults, claims, losses or damages arising from breach of contract,
misrepresentation, tort, breach of statutory duty or otherwise – not exceed the greater of the
sum of £2m or a sum equivalent to 125% of the contract charge paid or payable to the
supplier in the relevant year of the contract.
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6

Better Payment Practice Code
2019-20

2019-20

2018-19

2018-19

Number

£000

Number

£000

Total non-NHS trade invoices paid in the
year

15,865

121,096

13,677

116,656

Total non-NHS trade invoices paid within
target

15,692

118,500

13,542

114,746

Percentage of non-NHS trade invoices
paid within target

98.91%

97.86%

99.01%

98.37%

Total NHS trade invoices paid in the year

2,948

297,071

2,903

278,666

Total NHS trade invoices paid within target

2,827

296,065

2,824

277,527

Percentage of NHS trade invoices paid
within target

95.90%

99.66%

97.28%

99.59%

Measure of Compliance
Non-NHS Payables

NHS Payables

The Better Payment Practice Code requires the CCG to aim to pay all valid invoices by the
due date or within 30 days of receipt of a valid invoice, whichever is later.
The CCG is a signatory to the Prompt Payment Code which sets standards for payment
practices and is administered by the Chartered Institute of Credit Management.

6.1

The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998

The Clinical Commissioning Group made no payments in respect of late payments in 201920 (2018-19 nil).

7

Operating Leases

7.1

As Lessee

7.1.1 Payments Recognised as an Expense
2019-20
Land
£000

Building
s £000

Other

2018-19
Land

Total
£000

£000

Buildings
£000

Other
Total
£000

£000

£000

Payments Recognised
as an Expense
Minimum lease
payments

-

4,656

-

-

-

4,435

-

-

Total

-

4,656

-

-

-

4,435

-

-
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The CCG occupies property owned and managed by Community Health Partnerships
Limited and NHS Property Services Limited. The property costs have been invoiced at
market rents and include charges for void space and subsidies allocated to commissioners
responsible for specific buildings. The costs also include management overheads for the
property companies. This is reflected in Note 7.1.1.
While our arrangements with Community Health Partnerships Ltd and NHS Property
Services Ltd fall within the definition of operating leases, the rental charge for future years
has not yet been agreed. Consequently, this note does not include future minimum lease
payments for these arrangements.

7.1.2

Future Minimum Lease Payments
2018-19
Land
£000

Buildings
£000

Other

2018-19
Land

Total
£000

£000

Buildings
£000

Other
Total
£000

£000

£000

Payable
No later than one year

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Between one and five
years

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

After five years

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Total

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

7.2

As Lessor

The CCG is not a lessor and therefore does not receive any rental revenue.
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8

Property, Plant and Equipment
Land

2019-20

Buildings
exc
Dwellings

£000

Dwellings
£000

£000

Assets under
Construction Plant &
Transport Information Furniture
Total
& Payments Machinery Equipment Technology & Fittings
on Account
£000
£000
£000
£000
£000
£000

Cost/Valuation at 01 April
2019 b/fwd

-

-

-

-

-

-

388

-

388

Additions purchased

-

-

-

-

-

-

13

-

13

Cost/Valuation at 31 March
2020

-

-

-

-

-

-

401

-

401

Depreciation 01 April 2019
b/fwd

-

-

-

-

-

-

65

-

65

Charged during the year

-

-

-

-

-

-

86

-

86

Deprecation at 31 March
2020

-

-

-

-

-

-

151

-

151

-

-

-

-

-

250

-

250
250

Net Book Value at 31 March
2020
Purchased

-

-

-

-

-

-

250

-

Total at 31 March 2020

-

-

-

-

-

-

250

-

Owned

-

-

-

-

-

-

250

-

250

Total at 31 March 2020

-

-

-

-

-

-

250

-

250

250

Asset Financing:

Revaluation Reserve Balance for Property, Plant & Equipment
The CCG has not revalued any property, plant or equipment and therefore does not have a
revaluation reserve.

8.1

Economic Lives
Minimum Life
(years)

Maximum Life
(Years)

Buildings excluding dwellings

0

0

Dwellings

0

0

Plant & machinery

0

0

Transport equipment

0

0

Information technology

3

4

Furniture & fittings

0

0
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9

Intangible Non-Current Assets
Computer
Software:
2019-20

Purchased
£000

Computer
Software:
Internally
Generated

Licences &
Trademarks
£000

Patents
£000

Development
Expenditure
(internally
generate|)

Total
£000

£000

£000

Cost/Valuation at 01 April 2019 b/fwd

80

-

-

-

-

80

Additions purchased

58

-

-

-

-

58

Cost/Valuation at 31 March 2020

138

-

-

-

-

138

Amortisation 01 April 2019

6

-

-

-

-

6

Charged during the year

23

-

-

-

-

23

Amortisation at 31 March 2020

29

-

-

-

-

29

Net Book Value at 31 March 2020

109

-

-

-

-

109

Purchased

109

-

-

-

-

109

Total at 31 March 2020

109

-

-

-

-

109

Revaluation Reserve Balance for Intangible Assets
The CCG has not revalued any intangible assets and therefore does not have a revaluation
reserve.

9.1

Economic Lives
Minimum Life
(years)

Maximum Life
(Years)

Computer Software: Purchased

2

3

Computer Software: Internally Generated

0

0

Licences and Trademarks

0

0

Patents

0

0

Development Expenditure (Internally Generated)

0

0
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10

Trade and Other Receivables
Current

NonCurrent

Current

NonCurrent

2019-20

2019-20

2018-19

2018-19

£000

£000

£000

£000

-

-

NHS receivables: revenue
1,469

-

1,463

-

964

-

1,548

-

3,851

-

3,638

-

-

-

-

-

Non-NHS and other WGA prepayments

490

-

166

-

Non NHS and other WGA accrued income

134

-

9

-

5,538

-

4,191

-

(81)

-

(60)

-

15

-

27

-

Total Trade and Other Receivables

12,380

-

10,982

-

Total Current and Non-Current

12,380

-

10,982

-

-

-

-

-

NHS prepayments
NHS accrued income
NHS non contract trade receivables (ie pass through funding)
Non-NHS and other WGA receivables: revenue

Non NHS and other WGA non contract trade receivables (ie
pass through funding)
Expected credit loss allowance – receivables
VAT

Included above:
Prepaid pensions contributions

The majority of trade is within the NHS England group. As NHS England is funded by
Government to provide funding to CCGs to commission services, no credit scoring of them is
considered necessary.
NHS prepayments consist of tariff payments for maternity services relating to activity
primarily with Walsall Healthcare NHS Trust. As this reflects an advance payment for
services that will be delivered, there is no risk to the CCG.
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10.1

Receivables Past their Due Date but not Impaired
2019-20

2019-20

2018-19

2018-19

DHSC
Group
Bodies
£’000

Non DHSC
Group
Bodies
£’000

DHSC
Group
Bodies
£’000

Non DHSC
Group
Bodies
£’000

By up to three months

489

1,850

308

-

By three to six months

-

64

-

-

By more than six months

1,941

2,741

2,008

-

Total

2,430

4,655

2,316

-

10.2

Loss Allowance on Assets Classes
2019-20

2019-20

Trade & Other
Receivables –
Non DHSC
Group Bodies

Other
Financial
Assets

2019-20
Total
£’000

£’000

£’000
Balance at 1st April 2019

(60)

Lifetime expected credit losses on trade & other receivables –
Stage 2

(21)

Total

(81)

11

(60)

-

(21)

-

(81)

Cash and Cash Equivalents
2019-20
£000
99

2018-19
£000
48

(11)

51

88

99

88

99

-

-

Cash and Cash Equivalents as in Statement of Financial
Position

88

99

Balance at 31 March 2020

88

99

-

-

Balance at 1 April 2019
Net change in year
Balance at 31 March 2020
Made up of:
Cash with the Government Banking Service
Cash in hand

Patients’ money held by the Clinical Commissioning Group, not
included above
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Trade and Other Payables
Current

Non-Current

Current

Non-Current

2019-20

2019-20

2018-19

2018-19

£000

£000

£000

£000

NHS payables: revenue

8,272

-

5,787

-

NHS accruals

7,043

-

2,924

-

NHS deferred income
Non-NHS and other WGA payables: revenue
Non-NHS and other WGA payables: capital
Non-NHS and other WGA accruals

63

55

5,331

-

4,051

-

25

-

12

-

29,787

-

24,154

-

Non NHS and other WGA deferred income

27
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Social security costs

58

-

64

-

Tax

47

-

53

-

Other payables and accruals

499

-

451

-

Total Trade and Other Payables

51,122

-

37,701

-

Total Current and Non-Current

51,122

-

37,701

-

NHS accruals includes £2,212k in respect of partially completed patient spells – of this
amount, £1,656k is attributable to Walsall Healthcare NHS Trust.
Other payables include £233k outstanding pension contributions at 31 March 2020 (of this
amount £163k relates to GP’s outstanding contributions under delegated commissioning).
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13

Provisions
Current

Non-Current

Current

Non-Current

2019-20

2019-20

2018-19

2018-19

£000

£000

£000

£000

Pensions relating to former directors

-

-

-

-

Pensions relating to other staff

-

-

-

-

Restructuring

-

-

-

-

Redundancy

106

14

-

-

Agenda for change

-

-

-

-

Equal pay

-

-

-

-

Legal claims

-

-

-

-

Continuing care

-

-

-

-

Other

-

-

-

-

Total

106

14

-

-

Total Current and Non-Current

120

-

Pensions Pensions
Agenda
Relating to Relating
Equal Legal
Restructuring Redundancy for
Former to Other
Pay Claims
£000
£000
Change
Directors
Staff
£000 £000
£000
£000
£000

Cont
Care
£000

Other Total
£000 £000

Balance at 01
April 2019

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Arising during
the year

-

-

-

120

-

-

-

-

-

120

Utilised during
the year

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Reversed
unused

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Unwinding of
discount

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Change in
discount rate

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Transfer (to)
from other
public sector
body

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-
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Pensions Pensions
Agenda
Relating to Relating
Equal Legal
Restructuring Redundancy for
Former to Other
Pay Claims
£000
£000
Change
Directors
Staff
£000 £000
£000
£000
£000

Cont
Care
£000

Other Total
£000 £000

Transfer (to)
from other
public sector
body under
absorption

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Balance at 31
March 2020

-

-

-

120

-

-

-

-

-

120

Expected
timing of cash
flows:

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Within one
year

-

-

-

106

-

-

-

-

-

106

Between one
and five years

-

-

-

14

-

-

-

-

-

14

After five years

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Balance at 31
March 2020

-

-

-

120

-

-

-

-

-

120

The redundancy provision is in respect of senior management redundancies following the
implementation of a new Black Country & West Birmingham management structure. The
costs have been shared between the Black Country & West Birmingham CCGs based on
running cost allocation – Walsall CCG’s share is 20.35%.

14

Contingencies

The CCG have no contingencies that require disclosure at the end of March 2020.

15

Commitments

15.1

Capital Commitments

The CCG had no capital commitments at the end of March 2020 (2018-19 nil).

15.2

Other financial commitments

The CCG had no non-cancellable contracts (which were not leases, private finance initiative
contracts or other service concession arrangements) as at 31 March 2020 (2018-19 nil).
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16

Financial Instruments

16.1.1 Financial Risk Management
Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments
have had during the period in creating or changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its
activities.
Since NHS CCGs are financed through Parliamentary funding, they are not exposed to the
degree of financial risk faced by business entities. Also, financial instruments play a much
more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be typical of listed companies, to
which the financial reporting standards mainly apply. The CCG has limited powers to borrow
or invest surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day
operational activities rather than being held to change the risks facing the CCG in
undertaking its activities.
Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within
parameters defined formally within the NHS CCG’s Standing Financial Instructions and
policies agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury activity is subject to review by the NHS
CCG and internal auditors.

16.1.2 Currency Risk
The CCG is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions,
assets and liabilities being in the UK and sterling based. The CCG has no overseas
operations. The CCG therefore has low exposure to currency rate fluctuations.

16.1.3 Interest Rate Risk
The CCG borrows from government for capital expenditure, subject to affordability as
confirmed by NHS England. The borrowings are for 1 to 25 years, in line with the life of the
associated assets, and interest is charged at the National Loans Fund rate, fixed for the life
of the loan. The CCG therefore has low exposure to interest rate fluctuations.

16.1.4 Credit Risk
Since the majority of the CCG’s revenue comes from Parliamentary funding, CCGs have low
exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposures as at the end of the financial year are in
receivables from customers, as disclosed in the trade and other receivables note.

16.1.5 Liquidity Risk
NHS CCGs are required to operate within revenue and capital resource limits, which are
financed from resources voted annually by Parliament. The CCG draws down cash to cover
expenditure, as the need arises. The CCG is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity
risks.
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16.1.6 Financial Instruments
As the cash requirements of NHS England are met through the Estimate process, financial
instruments play a more limited role in creating and managing risk than would apply to a
non-public sector body. The majority of financial instruments relate to contracts to buy nonfinancial items in line with NHS England’s expected purchase and usage requirements and
NHS England is therefore exposed to little credit, liquidity or market risk.

16.2

Financial Assets
Financial Assets
measured at
Amortised Cost

Equity
Instruments
designated at
FVOCI

Total

2019-20

2019-20

2019-20

£000

£’000

£000

Trade and other receivables with NHSE bodies

1,907

-

1,907

Trade and other receivables with other DHSC group bodies

2,908

-

2,908

Trade and other receivables with external bodies

5,671

-

5,671

88

-

88

10,574

-

10,574

Financial
Liabilities
measured at
Amortised Cost

Other

Total

2019-20

2019-20

2019-20

£000

£’000

£000

224

-

224

Trade and other payables with other DHSC group bodies

29,124

-

29,124

Trade and other payables with external bodies

21,111

-

21,111

Other financial liabilities

265

-

265

Total at 31 March 2020

50,724

-

50,724

Cash and cash equivalents
Total at 31 March 2020

16.3

Financial Liabilities

Trade and other payables with NHSE bodies
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17

Operating Segments

The CCG considers that it has only one segment: commissioning of healthcare services.
Gross
expenditure
£'000

Income
£'000

Net
expenditure
£'000

Total
assets
£'000

Total
liabilities
£'000

Net
assets
£'000

Commissioner

474,676

(4,654)

470,022

12,827

(51,242)

(38,415)

Total

474,676

(4,654)

470,022

12,827

(51,242)

(38,415)

18

Interests in Joint Arrangements

Name of
Arrangement

Parties to the
Arrangement

Pooled
Budget
Arrangement

Walsall CCG
Walsall
Council

Description of
Principal
Activities

Assets

Liabilities

Income

Exp

Assets

Liabilities

Income

Exp

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

-

-

-

10,196

-

-

-

9,684

The
commissioning
of health and
social care
services under
the Better
Care Fund

The fund is hosted by Walsall Council. The partners’ contribution to the fund is outlined
below. The share of any over/(under) spend is allocated according to the Section 75
agreement.

2019-20 Budget

2019-20 CCG
Spend

Workstream

£’000

£’000

2019-20
WMBC
Spend
£’000

A - Community Integration

4,786

1,031

3,761

B – Transitional Care Pathways – Non Bed Based

2,013

-

1,636

C – Transitional Care Pathways – Bed Based

10,533

6,308

4,234

D – Assistive Technology

1,281

467

847

238

60

179

1,236

1,184

-

470

-

470

H - Contingency

1,147

1,146

-

Sub Total Revenue Funding

21,704

10,196

11,126

-

-

-

21,704

10,196

11,126

NHS Walsall Clinical Commissioning Group

21,704

10,196

11,126

Total

21,704

10,196

11,126

E – Dementia
F – Mental Health
G – Support to Carers

Capital Funding
Total Better Care Fund 2019-20
Funding
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Related Party Transactions

During the year, certain members of the Governing Body or key members of staff declared
interests with other organisations that have undertaken material transactions with the CCG.
Details of the related parties and those transactions are as follows:
Executive Governing Body Members
Mr P Maubach is also Accountable Officer for Dudley, Wolverhampton and Sandwell & West
Birmingham CCG’s (from Nov ’19) *1
Mr M Hartland is also Deputy Accountable Officer for Dudley, Wolverhampton and Sandwell
& West Birmingham CCG’s (from Dec ’19) and also worked part time as Chief Finance
Officer in NHS Wolverhampton CCG in ‘18-’19 *1
Ms R Ellis is also Deputy Accountable Officer for Dudley, Wolverhampton and Sandwell &
West Birmingham CCG’s (from Dec ’19) *1
Ms A McGee is also HR Director for Dudley, Wolverhampton and Sandwell & West
Birmingham CCG’s (from Feb ’20) *1
Dr P De is a Secondary Care Consultant at Sandwell & West Birmingham NHS Trust (to Aug
’19) *2
GP Governing Body Members
Dr Kaul – Shareholder in Acepay Ltd (family are Directors of the nursing home) *3
Dr Asghar – Shareholder in Walsall Alliance – GP Federation *4
Dr Vitarana – Shareholder in Walsall Alliance – GP Federation (to Jul ’19) *4
Dr Kaul – Shareholder in Walsall Alliance – GP Federation *4
Dr J Teoh – Macmillan GP Facilitator role *5
Dr N Asghar – Shareholder in OurNet Health Services Ltd *6
Dr S Kaul – Shareholder and Company Director – OurNet Health Services Ltd *6
Dr Rischie – Member of the Royal College of GPs *7
Governing Body Lay Members
Mr M Abel – Partner works part-time for Dudley & Walsall Mental Health Partnership NHS
Trust (from Apr ’19) *8
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2018-19
2019-20
Receipts
from
Related
Party

Amounts
owed to
Related
Party

Amounts
due from
Related
Party

Receipts
from
Related
Party

Amounts
owed to
Related
Party

Amounts
due from
Related
Party

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

300

23

20

-

484

32

57

-

1,696

298

119

247

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

93

213

188

57

105

1,013

78

173

5,125

-

543

-

4,895

-

44

-

Acepay Ltd *3

333

-

9

-

406

-

12

-

Walsall Alliance – GP Federation *4

111

-

-

-

117

17

-

-

Macmillan *5

35

-

-

-

24

-

-

-

OurNet Health Services Ltd *6

146

-

-

-

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

-

-

-

-

72

-

-

-

30,808

-

967

-

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

Governing Body Members

Payments
to Related
Party
£000

Payments
to Related
Party
£000

Executive Governing Body Members
NHS Dudley CCG *1
NHS Sandwell & West Birmingham
CCG *1
NHS Wolverhampton CCG *1
Sandwell & West Birmingham NHS
Trust *2
GP Governing Body Members

Royal College of GP’s *7
Governing Body Lay Members
Dudley Walsall Mental Health NHS
Trust *8

All GP members of the Governing Body are either a partner or an employee of a GP practice
in Walsall. Transactions with GPs are mostly for enhanced services, which are processed
through NHS England. These payments are made to the practices as a whole and do not
specifically relate to individuals within a practice. The majority of these transactions are in
accordance with nationally agreed contracts and are processed centrally under a contract
held by NHS England. Walsall CCG has delegated authority for primary care commissioning.
Details of the related party transactions with GP practices are as follows:
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2018-19
2019-20
Receipts
from
Related
Party

Amounts
owed to
Related
Party

Amounts
due from
Related
Party

Receipts
from
Related
Party

Amounts
owed to
Related
Party

Amounts
due from
Related
Party

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

1,104

-

107

-

863

-

73

-

Dr A Rischie – Clinical Chair of
Governing Body (New Invention Clinic)

718

-

114

-

667

-

89

-

Dr N Asghar – Locality Lead North (All
Saints Surgery)

1,352

-

172

-

1,057

-

90

-

Dr H Vitarana – Clinical Executive –
Finance and IT (Moxley Medical Centre)

144

-

-

-

407

-

37

-

Dr R Mohan – Clinical Executive –
Medical Director (Sina Health Centre)

279

-

-

-

773

-

219

-

Dr J Teoh – Locality Lead South East
(St Peters Surgery)

1,154

-

99

-

1,100

-

111

-

Dr S Kaul – Locality Lead Trans
(Harden Health Centre)

371

-

22

-

350

-

26

-

Dr S Kaul – Locality Lead Trans (New
Road Medical Centre)

353

-

20

-

202

-

20

-

Dr H Baggri – Clinical Executive,
Commissioning, Transformation &
Performance (Berkley Health Centre)

1,241

-

75

-

988

-

82

-

Dr R Sandhu – Locality Lead West
(Kingfisher Health Centre)

1.241

-

75

-

998

-

82

-

Dr A Khera – Locality Lead South East
(Broadway Medical Centre)

323

-

38

-

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

Dr H Lodhi – Clinical Executive –
Primary Care (Lower Farm Health
Centre)
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-

24

-

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

Dr H Lodhi – Clinical Executive –
Primary Care (Ambar Medical Centre)
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-

22

-

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

Governing Body Members

Payments
to Related
Party
£000

Dr A Rischie – Clinical Chair of
Governing Body (Pleck Heath Centre)

Payments
to Related
Party
£000

The Department of Health & Social Care is regarded as a related party. During the year the
CCG has had a significant number of material transactions with entities for which the
Department is regarded as the parent Department. For example:


NHS England










Dudley and Walsall Mental Health Partnership NHS Trust
The Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust
Sandwell & West Birmingham NHS FT
NHS Sandwell & West Birmingham CCG
Walsall Healthcare NHS Trust
Birmingham Women’s & Children's Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust
University Hospitals of Derby & Burton NHS Foundation Trust
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The Royal Orthopaedic Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
The Dudley Group NHS Foundation Trust
University Hospitals Birmingham NHS Foundation Trust
West Midlands Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust




NHS Property Services Limited
Community Health Partnerships Limited

In addition, the CCG has had a number of material transactions with other government
departments and other central and local government bodies. Most of these transactions
have been with Walsall Council in respect of joint enterprises.
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Events after the End of the Reporting Period

The Clinical Commissioning Group has one post balance sheet event to disclose.
On April 20th 2020, the Department of Health and Social Care announced a revision to the
Funded Nursing Care (FNC) rate 2019/20 of 9%. This requires the backdating of payments
made during 2019/20 which has been estimated at a cost of £290k. It was also announced that
NHS England and NHS Improvement have made a national provision for the additional charge
relating to 2019/20 and that CCG’s should make no adjustment to their accounts.
The CCG is therefore disclosing this event after the reporting period as a non-adjusting post
balance sheet event.

21

Losses and Special Payments

The CCG had no losses and special payments during 2019/20 (2018-19 nil).
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Independent auditor's report to the members of the Governing Body of NHS
Walsall Clinical Commissioning Group
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of NHS Walsall Clinical Commissioning Group (the ‘CCG’) for the year
ended 31 March 2020, which comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure, the Statement of
Financial Position, the Statement of Changes in Taxpayers Equity, the Statement of Cash Flows and notes to the
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework
that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union, and as interpreted and adapted by the Department of Health and
Social Care Group Accounting Manual 2019 to 2020.
In our opinion, the financial statements:
give a true and fair view of the financial position of the CCG as at 31 March 2020 and of its expenditure and
income for the year then ended; and
have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted
by the European Union, as interpreted and adapted by the Department of Health and Social Care Group
Accounting Manual 2019 to 2020; and
have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Health and Social Care Act 2012.
Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable
law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the ‘Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit
of the financial statements’ section of our report. We are independent of the CCG in accordance with the ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical
Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The impact of macro-economic uncertainties on our audit
Our audit of the financial statements requires us to obtain an understanding of all relevant uncertainties, including
those arising as a consequence of the effects of macro-economic uncertainties such as Covid-19 and Brexit. All
audits assess and challenge the reasonableness of estimates made by the Accountable Officer and the related
disclosures and the appropriateness of the going concern basis of preparation of the financial statements. All of
these depend on assessments of the future economic environment and the CCG’s future operational
arrangements.
Covid-19 and Brexit are amongst the most significant economic events currently faced by the UK, and at the date
of this report their effects are subject to unprecedented levels of uncertainty, with the full range of possible
outcomes and their impacts unknown. We applied a standardised firm-wide approach in response to these
uncertainties when assessing the CCG’s future operational arrangements. However, no audit should be expected
to predict the unknowable factors or all possible future implications for an entity associated with these particular
events.
Conclusions relating to going concern
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us to
report to you where:
the Accountable Officer’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial
statements is not appropriate; or
the Accountable Officer has not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that
may cast significant doubt about the CCG’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting
for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue.
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In our evaluation of the Accountable Officer’s conclusions, and in accordance with the expectation set out within
the Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual 2019 to 2020 that the CCG’s financial
statements shall be prepared on a going concern basis, we considered the risks associated with the CCG’s
operating activities, including effects arising from macro-economic uncertainties such as Covid-19 and Brexit. We
analysed how those risks might affect the CCG’s financial resources or ability to continue operations over the
period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue. In
accordance with the above, we have nothing to report in these respects.
However, as we cannot predict all future events or conditions and as subsequent events may result in outcomes
that are inconsistent with judgements that were reasonable at the time they were made, the absence of reference
to a material uncertainty in this auditor's report is not a guarantee that the CCG will continue in operation.
Other information
The Accountable Officer is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion
on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly
stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material
inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material
misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of the other information, we are
required to report that fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.
Other information we are required to report on by exception under the Code of Audit Practice
Under the Code of Audit Practice published by the National Audit Office in April 2015 on behalf of the Comptroller
and Auditor General (the Code of Audit Practice) we are required to consider whether the Governance Statement
does not comply with the guidance issued by the NHS Commissioning Board or is misleading or inconsistent with
the information of which we are aware from our audit. We are not required to consider whether the Governance
Statement addresses all risks and controls or that risks are satisfactorily addressed by internal controls.
We have nothing to report in this regard.
Opinion on other matters required by the Code of Audit Practice
In our opinion:
the parts of the Remuneration and Staff Report to be audited have been properly prepared in accordance with
IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, as interpreted and adapted by the Department of Health and
Social Care Group Accounting Manual 2019 to 2020 and the requirements of the Health and Social Care Act
2012; and
based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit of the financial statements and our knowledge of the
CCG gained through our work in relation to the CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in its use of resources, the other information published together with the financial statements in
the Annual Report for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the
financial statements.
Opinion on regularity required by the Code of Audit Practice
In our opinion, in all material respects the expenditure and income recorded in the financial statements have
been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions in the financial statements
conform to the authorities which govern them.
Matters on which we are required to report by exception
Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are required to report to you if:
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we issue a report in the public interest under Section 24 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 in the
course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or
we refer a matter to the Secretary of State under Section 30 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014
because we have reason to believe that the CCG, or an officer of the CCG, is about to make, or has made, a
decision which involves or would involve the body incurring unlawful expenditure, or is about to take, or has
begun to take a course of action which, if followed to its conclusion, would be unlawful and likely to cause a
loss or deficiency; or
we make a written recommendation to the CCG under Section 24 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014
in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit.
We have nothing to report in respect of the above matters.
Responsibilities of the Accountable Officer and Those Charged with Governance for the financial
statements
As explained more fully in the Statement of Accountable Officer's responsibilities set out on pages 64 to 66, the
Accountable Officer is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in the form and on the basis set
out in the Accounts Directions, for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control
as the Accountable Officer determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is responsible for assessing the CCG’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless they have been informed by the relevant national body of the intention to
dissolve the CCG without the transfer of its services to another public sector entity.
The Accountable Officer is responsible for ensuring the regularity of expenditure and income in the financial
statements.
The Audit and Governance Committee is Those Charged with Governance. Those Charged with Governance are
responsible for overseeing the CCG’s financial reporting process.
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial
Reporting Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our
auditor’s report.
We are also responsible for giving an opinion on the regularity of expenditure and income in the financial
statements in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements – Conclusion on the CCG’s
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of
resources
Matter on which we are required to report by exception - CCG’s arrangements for securing economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources
Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are required to report to you if, in our opinion we have not been able to
satisfy ourselves that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2020.
We have nothing to report in respect of the above matter.
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Responsibilities of the Accountable Officer
As explained in the Governance Statement, the Accountable Officer is responsible for putting in place proper
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of the CCG's resources.
Auditor’s responsibilities for the review of the CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in its use of resources
We are required under Section 21(1)(c) and Schedule 13 paragraph 10(a) of the Local Audit and Accountability
Act 2014 to be satisfied that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in its use of resources and to report where we have not been able to satisfy ourselves that it has
done so. We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the CCG's
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources are operating effectively.
We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard to the guidance on
the specified criterion issued by the Comptroller and Auditor General in April 2020, as to whether in all significant
respects, the CCG had proper arrangements to ensure it took properly informed decisions and deployed
resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people. The Comptroller and
Auditor General determined this criterion as that necessary for us to consider under the Code of Audit Practice in
satisfying ourselves whether the CCG put in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2020, and to report by exception where we are
not satisfied.
We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice. Based on our risk assessment, we
undertook such work as we considered necessary to be satisfied that the CCG has put in place proper
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements – Certificate
We certify that we have completed the audit of the financial statements of NHS Walsall Clinical Commissioning
Group in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and the Code of Audit
Practice.
Use of our report
This report is made solely to the members of the Governing Body of the CCG, as a body, in accordance with Part
5 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to
the members of the Governing Body of the CCG those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s
report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility
to anyone other than the CCG and the members of the Governing Body of the CCG, as a body, for our audit
work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

J Gregory
John Gregory, Key Audit Partner
for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP, Local Auditor

Birmingham
24 June 2020
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5. Glossary of terms
Acronym

Meaning

A&E

Accident & Emergency

AI

Artificial Intelligence

AO

Accountable Officer

BAF

Board Assurance Framework

BC

Black Country

BCF

Better Care Fund

BCTCP

Black Country Transforming Care Partnership

BCWB

Black Country and West Birmingham

CCG

Clinical Commissioning Group

CETV

Cash Equivalent Transfer Value

CPA

Care Programme Approach

CQC

Care Quality Commission

CQRM

Clinical Quality Review Meeting

CYP

Children and Young People

CYPMH

Children and Young People's Mental Health

DES

Directed Enhanced Service

DHSC

Department of Health and Social Care

DToC

Delayed Transfers of Care

DWMH

Dudley and Walsall Mental Health Trust

EAP

Employee Assistance Programme

EMIS

Egton Medical Information Systems

EPRR

Emergency, Preparedness, Resilience, Response

ESR

Electronic Staff Record

EU

European Union

FReM -

Financial Reporting Manual

GP

General Practitioner

GPNs

General Practice Nurses

HCAI

Healthcare Associated Infections

HOIA

Head of Internal Audit

HR

Human Resources
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Acronym

Meaning

IAC

Integrated Assurance Committee

IAF

Improvement & Assessment Framework

IAOG

Integrated Assurance Operational Group

IAPT

Improving Access to Psychological Treatments

IAS

International Accounting Standards

ICP

Integrated Care Partnership

ICS

Integrated Care System
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5.1 Accessibility Information
Walsall CCG understands the importance of making sure that people can
understand the information they are given about their health and care. This means
ensuring that people get information in different formats if they need it, for example in
large print, braille, easy-read or in a different language. We aim to follow the
guidelines set out in NHS England's Information Standard.
This document is available in different formats and languages on request.
If you would like more information or would like this document in another format, then
please email: walsallccg.ccgcomms@nhs.net or call 01922 618388.
Punjabi
ਜੇ ਤੁ ਸ ੀਂ ਵਧੇਰੇ ਜਾਣਕਾਰ ਚਾਹੁੁੰਦੇ ਹੋ ਜਾੀਂ ਇਸ ਦਸਤਾਵੇਜ਼ ਨੁੰ ਕਕਸੇ ਹੋਰ ਫਾਰਮੈਟ ਕਵਚ ਚਾਹੁਦ
ੁੰ ੇ ਹੋ, ਤਾੀਂ ਕਕਰਪਾ ਕਰ
ਕੇ walsallccg.ccgcomms@nhs.net ਤੇ ਈਮੇਲ ਕਰੋ ਜਾੀਂ 01922 618388 ਤੇ ਕਾਲ ਕਰੋ
Bengali
আপনি যনি আরও তথ্য চাি বা এই িস্তাববজটি অিয ফর্মযাবি
্
চাি, িযা কবর walsallccg.cc
gcomms@nhs.net ইবর্মল করুি বা 01922 618388 কল করুি
Gujarati
જો તમને વધારે માહિતી જોઈતી િોય અથવા આ દસ્તાવેજ બીજા ફોમેટમાાં ગમતો િોય, તો કૃ પા ક
રીને walsallccg.ccgcomms@nhs.net ને ઇમેઇલ કરો અથવા 01922 618388 પર ક callલ કરો
Polish
Jeśli chcesz uzyskać więcej informacji lub dokument w innym formacie, wyślij
wiadomość e-mail na adres walsallccg.ccgcomms@nhs.net lub zadzwoń pod numer
01922 618388
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